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BCLA EXECUTIVE Votes Reg # Sub-Totals
President 1
Past President 1
VP Operations 1
VP Performance Programs 1
VP Development 1
VP  Administration and Finance 1
VP Technical Programs 1
Secretary 1
Director at Large 1
TOTAL EXECUTIVE 9
BCLCG Votes Reg # Sub-Totals
Chair 1
Vice Chair - Minor 1
Vice Chair - Senior 1
Vice Chair - Field 1
Vice Chair - Women's Field 1
Secretary 1
Zone 1 Rep 1
Zone 2 Rep 1
Zone 3 Rep 1
Zone 4 Rep 1
Zone 5 Rep 1
Zone 6 Rep 1
Zone 7 Rep 1
Zone 8 Rep 1
TOTAL COACHES 14
BCLOG Votes Reg # Sub-Totals
Chair 1
Director at Large 1
Vice Chair - Minor 1
Vice Chair - Senior 1
Vice Chair - Field 1
Vice Chair - Women's Field 1
Secretary 1
Zone 1 Minor 1
Zone 2 Minor 1
Zone 3 Minor 1
Zone 4 Minor 1
Zone 5 Minor 1
Zone 6 Minor 1
Zone 7 Minor 1
Zone 8 Minor 1
Lower Mainland Senior 2
Island Senior 1
South Interior Senior 1
North Interior Senior 1
Island Field 1
Lower Mainland Field 1
TOTAL OFFICIALS 22
VOLUNTEER LEADERSHIP Votes Reg # Sub-Totals
Chair 1
Vice Chairs 4
Secretary 1
TOTAL VOLUNTEER LEADERSHIP 6
SENIOR BOX LACROSSE Votes Reg # Sub-Totals
SENIOR DIRECTORATE
Chair 1
Vice Chair 1
Secretary 1

2022 BC Lacrosse Association Voting List



SENIOR BOX LACROSSE Votes Reg # Sub-Totals
BOX LEAGUES
Western Lacrosse Association 1
West Coast Senior B 1
Prince George Senior C 1
West Central Senior C 1
Okanagan Senior C 1
Vancouver Island Senior C 1
BC Junior A 1
BC Junior B T1 1
Thompson-Okanagan Junior B T1 1
West Coast Junior B T2 1
Pacific Northwest Junior B T2 1
SENIOR BOX LACROSSE TEAMS Votes Reg # Sub-Totals
TEAMS - SENIOR A
Burnaby Lakers 1
Coquitlam Adanacs 1
Langley Thunder 1
Maple Ridge Burrards 1
Nanaimo Timbermen 1
New West Salmonbellies 1
Victoria Shamrocks 1
TEAMS - SENIOR B
West Coast 
Ladner Pioneers 1
Langley 1
Nanaimo Timbermen 1
Port Coquitlam 1
New Westminster Salmonbellies 1
Victoria 1
TEAMS - SENIOR C
West Central 
Burnaby 1
Ladner 1
Maple Ridge Attack 1
Mission 1
North Shore 1
Poco Hitmen 1
Port Moody 1
Queensboro 1
Richmond 1
Tri City Eclipse LC 1
Vancouver Island
Cowichan Rats 1
Saanich Express 1
Victoria Blazers 1
Victoria Jokers 1
Westshore Aces 1
Wsanec Arrows 1
Prince George (Northern BC)
Bandits 1
Assault 1
Devils 1
Lumberjax 1
Crossfire 1
Okanagan
Armstrong 1
Kamloops 1
Kelowna Raiders 1
Princeton 1
Vernon 1



TEAMS - JUNIOR A Votes Reg # Sub-Totals
Burnaby Lakers 1
Coquitlam Adanacs 1
Delta Islanders 1
Langley Thunder 1
Nanaimo Timbermen 1
New Westminster Salmonbellies 1
Pt. Coquitlam Saints 1
Victoria Shamrocks 1
TEAMS - BC JUNIOR B TIER 1
Burnaby Lakers 1
Coquitlam Adanacs 1
Delta Islanders 1
Langley Thunder 1
Maple Ridge 1
Nanaimo Timbermen 1
New Westminster Salmonbellies 1
Pt. Coquitlam Saints 1
Richmond 1
Victoria Shamrocks 1
TEAMS - THOMPSON-OKANAGAN JUNIOR B TIER 1
Armstrong Shamrocks 1
Kamloops Venom 1
Kelowna Kodiaks 1
South Okanagan 1
Vernon 1
TEAMS - JUNIOR B TIER 2
West Coast 
Burnaby 0
Coquitlam 1
Delta 1
Langley 1
Maple Ridge 0
New Westminster 0
North Shore 1
Pt. Coquitlam 1
Pt. Moody 1
Surrey 1
Valley 1
Pacific Northwest
Campbell River 1
Nanaimo 1
Oceanside 1
Saanich 1
West Shore 1
Central Interior
Cranbrook 1
West Kootenay 1
TOTAL SENIOR VOTES 91
FIELD LACROSSE Votes Reg # Sub-Totals
FIELD DIRECTORATE
Chair 1
Past Chair 1
Vice Chair - Youth 1
Vice Chair - Senior 1
Vice Chair - Women's Field 1
Registrar (Non-Voting) x
Secretary 1



LEAGUES - SENIOR MEN'S FIELD
Canada West 1
SENIOR MEN'S FIELD TEAMS Votes Reg # Sub-Totals
Abbotsford 1
Adanacs 1
Coquitlam Beerhunters 1
Ladner Pioneers 1
New Westminster 1
UBC 1
Vancouver

Whalley 1
WOMEN'S FIELD LACROSSE
Adanacs 2 111
Burnaby 1 42
Chilliwack 1 5
Juan de Fuca 1 64
Langley 1 29
Mission 1 29
New Westminster 1 60
Penticton 1 8
Port Coquitlam 1 32
Ridge Meadows 1 80
Surrey 1 68
SrWomFld - Vancouver 1
YOUTH FIELD  
LEAGUES - YOUTH FIELD
Interior Youth 1
Island Youth 1
Pacific Coast 1
YOUTH FIELD ASSOCIATIONS
Adanacs 3 220
Burnaby 2 113
Chilliwack 2 139
Delta 2 147
Juan de Fuca 2 164
Kamloops 1 86
Kelowna 2 106
Langley 2 174
Mid Island 1 8
Mission 2 128
Nanaimo 1 78
New Westminster 2 101
North Island 1 17
North Shore 1 37
Oceanside 1 23
Pacific Rim 2 107
Penticton 1 19
Pt Coquitlam 2 120
Richmond 1 34
Ridge Meadows 3 230
Surrey 1 75
Valley 1 41
Vancouver 1 65
TOTAL FIELD VOTES 67



MINOR BOX LACROSSE Votes Reg # Sub-Totals
MINOR DIRECTORATE
Chair 1
Vice Chair 1
Secretary 1
Zone 1 Director 1
Zone 2 Director 1
Zone 3 Director 1
Zone 4 Director 1
Zone 5 Director 1
Zone 6 Director 1
Zone 7 Director 1
Zone 8 Director 1
Female Box Chair 1
BOX COMMISSIONS
Great White North 1
Lower Mainland 1
Thompson/Okanagan 1
Vancouver Island 1
MINOR BOX ASSOCIATIONS Votes Reg # Sub-Totals
Abbotsford 1 83
Alberni Valley 1 74
Burnaby 3 267
Campbell River 1 66
Chilliwack 2 161
Comox 1 55
Coquitlam 6 548
Cowichan Valley 2 103
Cranbrook 2 148
Delta 3 286
Fort St. John 1 86
Juan de Fuca 4 305
Kamloops 2 146
Kelowna 2 142
Langley 4 339
Logan Lake 1 43
Mackenzie 1 56
Mission 3 237
Nanaimo 4 320
New Westminster 4 358
Nicola Valley 1 5
North Okanagan 2 137
North Shore 2 130
Oceanside 1 41
Peninsula 2 128
Penticton 2 153
Port Coquitlam 4 374
Port Moody 3 255
Prince George 2 155
Princeton 1 24
Quesnel 1 78
Richmond 1 73
Ridge Meadows 6 556
Saanich 2 197
Semiahmoo 2 132
Shuswap 1 38
Sunshine Coast 1 47
Surrey 2 200
Vancouver 2 162
Victoria-Esquimalt 1 62
West Kootenay 1 87
Williams Lake 1 45
TOTAL MINOR BOX VOTES 105

TOTAL NUMBER OF VOTES 314



 

2022 BCLA Annual General Meeting 
Elections -- Executive Positions 

BCLA EXECUTIVE DUTIES 
 
 
The President        2 Year Term 
Shall preside at all general meetings and Executive meetings of the Association. 
The President shall generally supervise all the affairs of the Association and shall 
be primarily responsible for the development and maintenance of the program of 
the Association.  If the President is unable to carry out the duties, the President 
shall appoint a Vice President to do so. 
 
The Vice President - Development     2 Year Term 
Responsible for Development Committee and responsible for athlete and 
regional development, human resource development and education. 
 
The Vice President – Technical Programs    2 Year Term 
Responsible for the oversight of the BC Lacrosse Coaches and Officials 
Technical Support Groups and development of those programs including 
certification, human resources and education. 
 

The Vice President – Administration and Finance   2 Year Term 
Responsible for overseeing office, membership services, maintaining Operating 
Policy and Constitution, and short and long term planning.  Also responsible for 
providing oversight and counsel for all of the financial practices of the 
organization; to ensure that the financial records of the Association are audited 
by an auditor appointed by the Executive; and to ensure that a report, which 
includes a budget for the coming year, is provided at every Annual Meeting of the 
Association. 
 
The Vice President – Operations         1-Year remaining on 2 Year Term 
Responsible for Operations Committee and functions pertaining to inter-
Directorate and inter-provincial operational matters; jurisdiction, appeals, 
discipline, et cetera, and main communication link between planning/policy and 
operations. 
 
The Vice President - Performance Programs  1-Year remaining on 2 Year Term 
Working collaboratively with the respective BCLA Executive Members, 
Committees, Directorates and Technical Support Groups, and BCLA Staff, 
responsible to oversee the BCLA’s performance programs including the Team 
BC – Box and Field Programs, the Volunteer Leadership Program, and any other 
performance programs as designated by the BCLA Executive. 
 



 
 

 
 
 
 
 

General Session 
 
 

 
 

Annual General Meeting 
   October 15, 2022 – Zoom 



 
 

GENERAL SESSION AGENDA 

Saturday, October 15, 2022 – 10:30 AM – via Zoom 

 
1. Acknowledgement/Welcome/Call to Order 

2. Approval of Minutes of the October 16, 2021 BCLA Annual General Meeting. 

3. Business Arising from Previous Minutes 

4. Executive Reports – All reports contained in the 2022 BCLA Annual Report 

a)  President:  Gerry Van Beek 

b)  Vice President – Administration and Finance:  Angie Schwan 

**Motion to accept the 2022 Financial Report as presented 
c)  Secretary:  Nichola Manning 

d)  Vice President – Operations:  Russ Sheppard 

e)  Vice President – Performance Programs:  Gord Kask 

f)  Vice President – Development:  Terry Mosdell 

g)  Vice President - Technical Programs:  Dennis Quigley 

h)  Director at Large:  David Jenkins 

i)  Executive Director:  Jeff Gombar 

* Motion to accept all reports as circulated. 

 

5. Directorate/Technical Support Group Reports 
a)  Senior Directorate (Dave Wilkie) 

b)  Minor Directorate (Gordon McIntosh) 

c)  Field Directorate (Beth McLucas) 

d)  BC Lacrosse Coaches Group (Russ Sheppard) 

e)  BC Lacrosse Officials Group (Andy Watson) 

f)  BC Lacrosse Volunteer Technical Support Group 

 

6. Credentials Report (Nichola Manning) 

 

7. Proposed Amendments 
a)  BCLA Constitution and By-Laws 

b)  BCLA General Operating Policy 

 

8.   Election of Officers 

a)  Slate of Officers presented by Nominations Committee 

b)  Election by Position: 

1.  Vice President – Administration and Finance (2-Year Term) 

2. Vice President – Operations (1-Year remaining on 2-Year Term) 

3. Vice President – Development (2-Year Term) 

4.  Vice President – Technical Programs (2-Year Term) 

5. Vice President – Performance Programs (1-Year remaining on 2-Year 

Term) 

6. President (2-Year Term) 

9. New Business 

a) Next AGM – Saturday, October 14, 2023 

 

10. Adjournment 
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MINUTES of the  

2021 BC Annual General Meeting 

Saturday October 16, 2021 

Zoom Meeting  

 

 

 

 

1. Acknowledgement/Welcome/Call to Order  
The meeting was called to order at 10:37 AM by BCLA President Gerry Van Beek presiding.   

 

Gerry welcomed  all members to the 2021 BCLA AGM General Session, being hosted via Zoom, and 

he acknowledged that the meeting was being hosted at his location, in the unceded territory of the 

Katzie, Kwantlen, Stó:lō, Coast Salish, and Stz’uminus First Nations Peoples.  

 

Gerry acknowledged the professionalism of the BCLA staff in their running of large-scale Zoom 

meetings.  Thank you to the staff for all their hard work over the past challenging year. 

 

Gerry explained voting and meeting procedures to all attendees.  Participants were to use their “yes” 

and “no” buttons when voting and the “raise hand” button if they want to speak.  The “chat” function 

was asked to keep at a minimum as it was not being formally monitored.   

 

Gerry stated that the AGM provides the opportunity for members to say their part and give direction to 

the BCLA. 

 

Gerry advised all members that the meeting was being recorded for purposes of accuracy for the 

recording of these minutes.  

 

2. Approval of Minutes of the October 17, 2020 BCLA Annual General Meeting 

It was moved by Dave Wilkie seconded by Angie Schwan, that the Minutes of the 2020 BC Lacrosse 

Association Annual General Meeting be adopted as circulated.  CARRIED.  

 

3. Business Arising from Previous Minutes (2020 BCLA AGM) 

a) Deferred Motion - Regulation 8. Jurisdiction 

Motion withdrawn by Greg Toll. 

 

4. Executive Reports  
All reports contained in the 2021 BCLA Annual Report 

 

a) President: Gerry Van Beek  

 Nothing to add, no questions. 

 

b) Secretary - Nichola Manning 

 Nothing to add, no questions.  

 

c) Vice President – Operations: Greg Toll  

 Gerry thanked Greg for his tremendous service over the past multiple years.  No questions. 

 

d) Vice President – Performance Programs: Gord Kask 

Gerry noted that the performance programs were a leader in returning to lacrosse for both field and 

box. No questions. 
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e) Vice President – Development: Terry Mosdell   

Nothing to add.  No questions.  

 

f) Vice President – Technical Programs: Dennis Quigley 

Dennis expressed his thanks to Lee Brien for 8-years of service as Chair of Officials and thanked 

Russ Sheppard for stepping into the role of Chair of Coaches.  He also thanked the BCLA staff for 

their work over the past year.  No questions. 

 

g) Director at Large: David Jenkins 

Dave sent regrets.  No questions.  

 

h) Executive Director: Jeff Gombar 

Jeff acknowledged that there are plenty of “thank-you’s” to go around to all volunteers who made 

this year work under such difficult pandemic circumstances.  Thank you to everyone for “keeping 

the ball rolling.”  No questions.   

 

i) Vice President – Administration and Finance: Angie Schwan 

BCLA Financial Statements were included in the pre-reading materials.  Angie thanked the BCLA 

staff for going above and beyond during this difficult year.  There were many extra hours of work 

which are much appreciated.  Angie noted that at last year’s AGM there was a reduction in minor 

registration fees, effective for a single year.  Minor registration fees have now returned to normal 

levels, as per 2020.  No questions. 

 

It was moved by Angie Schwan seconded by Greg Toll, that the BCLA’s 2021 Financial Report, 

including the budget, be approved as presented in the Annual Report.  CARRIED. 

 

It was moved by Gord McIntosh seconded by Dylan Taylor, that the Executive Reports be accepted 

as circulated in the Annual Report.  CARRIED.  

 

5. Directorate/Technical Support Group Reports 

a) Senior Directorate (Dave Wilkie) 

Dave thanked Lindsay Wilkie  for her time as secretary to the Senior Directorate.  The SD is 

currently looking for a new secretary, and Dave is willing to speak to anyone who may be interested 

in this position.  Dave expressed his thanks to the leagues who were able to get in some games over 

the past year, as well, he thanked the BCLA staff for the constant updates and information.  

 

b) Minor Directorate (Gordon McIntosh) 

Gord reported that the Minor Directorate held its AGM on October 21, 2021 and welcomed back 

Pam Mason as Vice Chair.  Gord thanked outgoing Female Chair Linda Cretney for her time and 

welcomed in the new Female Chair, John Hamilton.  

  

c) Field Directorate (Beth McLucas) 

Beth reported that the Field Directorate held its Special Session on April 10 whereby she was 

confirmed as Chair, Trish Keizer as Vice Chair, and Dylan Taylor as Secretary.  Beth thanked those 

who previously held these positions.  Beth indicated that Langley will be hosting U13/15/18 Youth 

Field Provincials but the FD is still looking for a host for U11 and Women’s Provincials.  

 

d) BC Lacrosse Coaches Group (Russ Sheppard) 

Russ Sheppard sent regrets 
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e) BC Lacrosse Officials Group (Lee Brien) 

Andy Watson conducted the report out and thanked Lee for his role as Chair.  Andy welcomed 

Angie Reid into her new role as Vice Chair and thanked returning executive members, as well as 

the BCLA staff.  Andy reported that there are still games being cancelled due to lack of officials 

and that significant efforts are being made to try and bend the curve to prevent official abuse and 

make the game more respectful.   

 

6. Credentials Report (Nichola Manning) 

Nichola Manning, BCLA Secretary, provided the Credentials Report.  Out of a possible 319 votes, there 

were 209 registered votes and 171 actual voting delegates in attendance at the BCLA AGM General 

Session.  The breakdown as follows: 

 

Executive  8 out of a possible 9 

Minor Box  95 out of a possible 104 

Senior Box   42 out of a possible 93  

Field   44 out of a possible 71  

Vol Tech  0 out of a possible 6 

Officials   15 out of a possible 22   

Coaches  5 out of a possible 14    

TOTAL  209 out of a possible 319 Voting Delegates  

      

7. Proposed Amendments  

 

a) BCLA Constitution and Bylaws 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

It was moved by Angie Schwan seconded by Beth McLucas, to add NEW BYLAW NUMBER VI: 

OFFICERS, point 6 to read as follows: 

 

BYLAW NUMBER VI: OFFICERS, point 6 
6.  Board members of the BC Lacrosse Association shall not receive remuneration for their 

services as Board Members.  

 

CARRIED. 

 

 

It was moved by Mike Newton and seconded by Angie Schwan, to amend BYLAW NUMBER XI:  

DIRECTORATES/TECHNICAL SUPPORT GROUPS The British Columba Lacrosse 

Association Lacrosse Coaches Technical Support Group (BCLCTSG, point (b) that would read: 

 

(b) The Executive of the BCLCTSG will be elected at a Special Session.  The BCLCTSG 

Chairperson, Vice chairperson for Minor Box Lacrosse and Vice Chairperson for 

Women’s Field Lacrosse shall be elected by secret ballot at the Special Session for a two-

year term in even numbered years.  The BCLCTSG Secretary, Vice Chairperson for Senior 

Box Lacrosse and Vice Chairperson for Men’s Field Lacrosse positions shall be elected by 

secret ballot at the Special Session for two-year terms in odd numbered years.  In the event 

that there is but a single nominee for an office, the Secretary shall cast one vote for such a 

nominee.  The eight Zone Co-ordinators, Master Learning Facilitator and Head 

Facilitator shall be appointed by the Chairperson annually.  Should any position not be 

filled at the Special Session, it will be the duty of the BCLCTSG Chairperson to recruit and 

appoint a member to the open position(s). 
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Add NEW BYLAW XI:  DIRECTORATES/TECHNICAL SUPPORT GROUPS, The British 

Columbia Lacrosse Coaches Technical Support Group (BCLCTSG), point c that would read: 

 

(c) The delegates for the BCLCTSG representation at the Association’s Annual General 

meeting will be the Chair, four Vice Chairs (representing the Minor Directorate, Senior 

Directorate, Men’s Field and Women’s Field), and eight Zone Co-ordinators. 

 

CARRIED. 

 

 

It was moved by Mike Newton seconded by Wuilbert Jaramillo, to add NEW BYLAW NUMBER 

XI:  DIRECTORATES/TECHNICAL SUPPORT GROUPS, The British Columbia Lacrosse 

Coaches Technical Support Group (BCLCTSG), point (b) that would read: 

 

(b) The BCLCTSG Immediate Past Chairperson, upon election of a new Chairperson, shall be 

appointed for a terms of (2) years. 

 

CARRIED. 

 

 

It was moved by Mike Newton seconded by Jeff MacAulay, to amend BYLAW NUMBER XI:  

DIRECTORATES/TECHNICAL SUPPORT GROUPS, The British Columbia Lacrosse 

Coaches Technical Support Group (BCLCTSG), point (c) that would read: 

 

(c) The Chair of the BCLCTSG shall preside at all meetings of the BCLCTSG.  The 

responsibility of the BCLCTSG, in conjunction with the Vice President Development, will 

be to provide competent coaches for all lacrosse in the Province of British Columbia.  To 

this end, the BCLCTSG is charged with implementing and administering effective 

recruiting, education, discipline and evaluation programs throughout the province, and 

ensuring that the philosophy of the Association is adhered to.   

 

CARRIED. 

 

 

 

b) BCLA General Operating Policy 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

It was moved by Angie Reid seconded by Susan dos Santos to amend APPENDIX B: 2020-

2021FEE SCHEDULE, Women’s Field Umpire Payment/Game that would read: 

 

  Women’s Field Umpire Payment/Game 

  U12  $35 

  U15  $45 

  U19  $55 

  Senior   $65 

  

  CARRIED. 

   ______________________________________________________________________________ 
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It was moved by Rod Wood seconded by Dave Wilkie to amend APPENDIX D:  CONDUCT OF 

HEARINGS/APPEALS BEFORE VARIOUS LACROSSE TRIBUNALS that would read: 

 

There are twelve specific rules which ought to be adhered to.  They are as follow: 

1. Read over the rules which apply to the particular case before you. You may think you know these 

rules without reference.  You are wrong.  Bring the rule book with you.  Also bring paper and a pen 

or pencil. 

2. Before the hearing/appeal begins, read all the material which has been filed.  Video evidence may 

be submitted.  Tribunal meeting attendees presiding are not required to review the video but may 

consider or reject it.  Note particular questions you may have in the margins.   

 

CARRIED. 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

8. Election of Officers 

Gerry Van Beek explained the voting procedures and pointed out that the duties of each position were 

outlined in the PowerPoint circulated at the meeting.  Gerry asked Greg Toll to conduct election 

procedures.   

 

a) Slate of Officers presented by Nominations Committee  

The following names were put forward by the Nominations Committee: 

Vice President – Operations: Russ Sheppard 

Vice President – Performance Programs: no nomination 

Secretary: Nichola Manning 

Director at Large: Dave Jenkins 

 

b) Election by Position: 

a. Vice President – Operations (2-Year Term) 

Russ Sheppard nominated by committee - 1 ballot cast for Russ Sheppard. 

 

b. Vice President – Performance Programs (2-Year Term) 

No nominations were received for the position of Vice President – Performance Programs 

from the Nominations Committee.  

 

Mitch Cavallarin was nominated from the floor by Jeff Fisher.  There was no confirmation 

of acceptance for the position. 

 

The nominations process for the position of Vice President – Performance Programs was 

deemed closed.  The Board will start the process in attempts to find a candidate who will 

act in the position until the next AGM whereby a formal election process will occur.  

 

c. Secretary (2-Year Term) 

Nichola Manning nominated by committee - 1 ballot cast for Nichola Manning. 

 

d. Director at Large (2-Year Term) 

Dave Jenkins nominated by committee – 1 ballot cast for Dave Jenkins. 

 Gerry Van Beek extended thanks to Greg Toll for conducting the election procedures and noted that 

the Volunteer Technical Support Group will be having a session before the end of the calendar year. 

  

  It was moved by Angie Schwan, seconded by Dave Wilkie to destroy the ballots.  CARRIED. 
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9. New Business 

a) Next AGM – Saturday October 15, 2022 

b) Thanks to the BCLA staff for hosting the second virtual AGM 

c) Spirit Champion Award Winners – members were encouraged to stay after the AGM to watch a 

slideshow presentation highlighting all the Spirit Champion Award Winners.  All Spirt Champion 

recipients have gone above and beyond to ensure the game of lacrosse continued during the 

pandemic.  It is a hard working group of volunteers who have done an amazing job in the name of 

lacrosse.  There efforts have not gone unnoticed and the BCLA thanks them for their dedication to 

the game.   

 

10. Adjournment 

It was moved by Dave Wilkie, seconded by Kelly Ohlmann that the meeting be adjourned.  The meeting 

adjourned at 11:34 AM. 

  



 
 

BCLA AGM October 16, 2021   7 | P a g e  
 

IN ATTENDANCE: 
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Executive/Staff Reports 
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BC Lacrosse Association 
2022 Annual General Meeting 

October 15, 2022 
BCLA President’s Report:  Gerry Van Beek 

 
HUGE THANK YOU to all the volunteers for their continued dedication to lacrosse during the 
events precipitated by the CoVID-19 Pandemic.  Through the winter we began closer to full 
participation and thing are moving to no significant restrictions to the member’s complete 
participation. 
 
THANK YOU to the full time BC Lacrosse Association (BCLA) Staff (Jeff, Debbie, Dave, & 
Matt).  The BCLA is fortunate having such dedicated employees.  Thank you also to the Team 
BC technical program staffers Darcy & Mitch have helped guide BCLA High-Performance 
programs to new heights in the lacrosse world. 
 
THANK YOU to the BCLA Board members for their guidance and dedication to the lacrosse 
during the past year. 
 
I am saddened that we are not meeting in person.  I am further saddened that we do not have a 
celebration of the BCLA Member Volunteers.  I look forward to return of these in person events 
in the future. 
 
This report recaps and reports events since last AGM.  Many items are covered in other 
member’s reports. 
 
Field Lacrosse proceeded with minimal restrictions including provincials. 
 
Box Lacrosse leagues had some restrictions in the beginning of their start-ups and were able to 
provide full seasons to the BCLA Members. 
 
With everything starting up, there was some scheduling conflicts with Team BC Travel, 
Tournaments, BC Games, Canada Games, and other events all restarting in the Spring & 
Summer of 2022.  The extra competitions were a complication, that is better than the alternative 
of limiting activities during the previous two (2) years. 
 
BCLA teams performed phenomenally on the National stages. A Big Thank you to Alex 
Vanichuk, Langley Minor Lacrosse, and other BCLA Volunteer for presenting a fantastic event. 
 
Lacrosse Canada (LC) continues to offer more regional events relating to Team Canada Men’s 
and Women’s Teams throughout the country.  Watch releases and social media for details of 
upcoming events. 
 
Lacrosse Canada (LC) held an in person Semi-Annual Meeting of the Members in Charlottetown 
PEI.  These meetings dealt with some changes for future National Championships and rule 
changes for box lacrosse.  Most important was the ability to meet in person and discuss updates 
that lacrosse programming needs for vibrancy in the future.  BCLA is hosting the 2023 Semi-
Annual Meeting hopefully in Victoria Area of BC late next spring. 
 



Other LC notes are… 
 The Long-Term Athlete Development (LTAD) committee’s reports for Box, Women’s 

Field, and Men’s Field Lacrosse were presented and published. 
 Lacrosse 6s.  Lacrosse Canada decided to create a sector for this discipline.  More 

Lacrosse Canada information is forthcoming. 
o Until certification of coaches and officials is complete, Box and Field 

certifications qualify coaches and officials.  It is recommended that participants 
use it as modified of their present discipline until more information is provided.  
Players must be registered within a BCLA discipline and treat the events as 
training.  Saying that… the 6s discipline of lacrosse cannot be ignored and treated 
as a side sport of Box, Women’s Field, or Men’s Field Lacrosse.  How BCLA will 
set it up is not decided.  We plan engagement with interested parties to find the 
best solution.  Learning from Rugby 7s, 3v3 Basketball, 2v2 Beach Volleyball, 
5v5 Soccer etc. tells us that if we treat it as a training tool only, BC (& Canada) 
will lose our dominance in this version of the sport.  Repeating from last year’s 
report 
 Canadian athletes, coaches, & officials have and will continue testing 

Lacrosse 6s version of lacrosse at several international exhibition events.  
Local lacrosse participants (Box, MF, WF) are encouraged to try, test, 
evaluate, etc. this version and provide feedback. 

 Lacrosse Canada plans significant fee increases in two years ($6.00 per participant & 
$10-$15 per coach/official increase).  Lacrosse Canada has been running deficits for the 
past several years and there is an ambitious plan to earn these increases. 

 
I am letting my name stand for re-election and I continue looking forward for …. 

 Continuing increase of lacrosse activities in all forms. 
 Allowing recreational stream of lacrosse. 
 Reinvigoration the BC Lacrosse Volunteer Leadership Technical Support Group 

(BCLVTSG).  The BCLVTSG is charged with implementing and administering effective 
recruiting, education, discipline, and evaluation programs throughout the province.  This 
Support Group was approved several years ago and is vital our community.  A special 
session of this group was to be called before the end of 2021.  This did not happen, and it 
should happen ASAP. 

 A new Strategic plan.  Meetings are planned for Early November 2022. 
 The BCLA financial responses to the CoVID-19 emergency measures has kept the BCLA 

operational.  Those responses are covered in other reports.  Thanks to members, viaSport 
and various governing body programs that sustained the financial viability of the BCLA.  
I’m proud that the BCLA continues to be financially viable while minimizing negative 
financial burdens on its members.  We prepared for the worst, fortunately the worst didn’t 
happen. 

 
Thanks for the BCLA member support this past year.  I encourage communication, whether 
agreeable or not.  I believe in accountability and communication.  Here’s to a better 2023. 
 
 
Yours in Lacrosse, 
 
Gerry Van Beek 



BC Lacrosse Association 
2022 Annual General Meeting 

October 15, 2022 
BCLA Vice President – Administration/Finance Report:  Angie Schwan 

 
I am pleased to provide the following report for the 2022 AGM.  
 
As we brought on a new staff member this year, Matt Doherty helped bring our office staff back 
to a level that provided each of our members with a good level of support from the office.  Dave 
Showers, Deb Heard and Jeff Gombar were able to better organize combined efforts and we 
work to continue to offer excellent services from the office.  I would like to thank all four of our 
office staff for their continued diligence during this past year. 
 
A list of Appeal Committee members was put together this year with the additional information 
to determine which members could attend virtual meetings.  I would like the thank all volunteer 
members for their willingness to sit on the BCLA Appeals Committee, and a big thank you to 
those members that actually did sit on an Appeal. 
 
Overall, we appear to be in solid financial position; our audited financial statements are not yet 
available as of the date of writing this report but will be available to the members at the AGM.  It 
is important to note that we continue to save funds when we host virtual meetings, but I do 
wonder if this is something the membership wishes to see return; knowing of course that some 
committee meetings are more easily held in person, it is something that I believe we should 
consider, even if only for a limited number of meetings.  Of note for upcoming consideration is 
the proposed CLA fees which if passed would take effect in the 2023/2024 calendar year.  The 
proposal (as of the date of writing this report) would change fees from $4 per player to $10 per 
player.  While a significant increase, there are a number of proposed changes this would bring, 
and while welcome changes, these funds would need to be recouped from membership fees of 
our own clubs. 
 
As we move closer to the end of 2024 when our current strategic plan will need to be renewed, I 
trust that as in the past the BCLA membership and Executive will execute the chosen plans like 
no other sport in the Province of BC does. 

The 2021-22 season was the second year of a two-year term as the BCLA VP Administration, 
and I would like to thank all members of the BCLA for entrusting me in this important role.  I 
would like to also thank the BCLA Executive for their support during this past year.  I will not be 
returning for another term and wish all members of the BC Lacrosse Association the best of luck 
in the future.   
 
Be well my friends! 
With respect, 
 
Angie Schwan 
BCLA Vice President – Administration/Finance 



BC Lacrosse Association 
2022 Annual General Meeting 

October 15, 2022 
BCLA Secretary Report:  Nichola Manning 

 
I would like to thank the membership for allowing me to volunteer for this role over the past two 
years.  I have appreciated the insight from all our Board members as well as guidance from Jeff 
Gombar and the BCLA staff.   
 
Throughout the 2021/22 season, the BCLA Board met monthly via Zoom, with the exception of 
February, April and July (but twice in August).  There were also a few extraordinary meetings 
called by the Chair when important issues arose.  Minutes from all board meetings have been 
posted to each sector’s page on BCLA’s online COP. 
 
It was a pleasure to observe “back-to-normal” lacrosse with full seasons able to unfold and 
provincial championships occurring.  I want to express my gratitude to all the BCLA association 
volunteers who enabled our members to participate in full-scale box and field lacrosse activity, 
while continuing to keep everyone safe.  It truly demonstrates the resilience of our sport after all 
the restrictions imposed by the pandemic.   
 
Finally, I would like to thank both outgoing board members, Angie Schwan and Russ Sheppard, 
for their thoughtful perspectives and contributions to the BCLA board.  While I’m sure you both 
will not stray far from a lacrosse box or field, you will be missed.     
 
Yours in Lacrosse,  
 
Nichola Manning 
BCLA Secretary 



BC Lacrosse Association 
2022 Annual General Meeting 

October 15, 2022 
BCLA Vice President – Performance Programs:  Gord Kask 

 
We continue to make plans for the following: 
 
TRAINING and DEVELOPMENT 
 

 PLAYERS  
 COACHES 

o Female Head Coach 
o Level 2 and 3  

 TRYOUT CAMPS 
o BOX 
o FIELD 

 
TEAM BC BOX 

 FEMALE 
 MALE 
 DEVELOPMENT 

 
TEAM BC FIELD 

 FEMALE 
 MALE 
 DEVELOPMENT 
 update 

 
NATIONAL CHAMPIONSHIPS 
 
FUTURE PERFORMANCE PROGRAM GOALS AND OBJECTIVES 

 Team BC Lacrosse - Centre of Excellence 
 
Executive Director – Jeff Gombar 
 

 2022 BC Summer Games.  July 21-24, 2022 - BC Summer Games (Prince George).  A huge 
thank you to Greg Toll and Jane Boutilier, PG Sport Chairs John Stevens (Field) and Tammy 
Brown (Box), Bryan Baxter, Dave Showers, Deb Heard, BCLA Zone representatives, coaches, 
officials, players, parents and local volunteers.  Your efforts made this Games special for so many 
participants.  8 Box and 6 Field teams competed over the 3-day event.  Congratulations to all that 
competed – we hope you had an incredible Games experience.  In the 2022 Games, we again had 
an All-Indigenous Box Team (which the BCLA piloted in 2018).  This has been a template for 
other sports and we envision this project to continue in 2024.  The BCLA is currently going 
through the core sport review for the 2024 Games.  For scores and results, see the BCLA BC 
Summer Games page. 
 

 Medal Results: 
 Box – GOLD Zone 6; SILVER Zone 3; BRONZE Zone 4 
 Field – GOLD Zone 3; SILVER Zone 6; BRONZE Zone 4 

 
 Canada Summer Games – Niagara, Ontario. The 2022 Canada Summer Games (CSG) took 

place August 6-21, 2022 in Ontario’s Niagara Region.  Congratulations to the 17U Female and 
Male teams that competed at the Games.  Our girls brought home silver (2-1 loss to ON) while 
the boys won gold (7-6 win vs ON).  Thank you to BCLA VP Performance, Gord Kask, Team 
BC Box Coordinator, Darcy Rhodes, coaches and team managers Katrina McCurrach and Randy 
Clough for your incredible work with your teams.  All responses from our Team BC team and 



Chef de Mission were very positive and you all represented BC proudly!  A big thanks to the BC 
Games Society, Jarrett Poitras (Team BC Program Co-ordinator); Adam Powell (Chef de 
Mission); and to Rick Brant & Lara Mussell (ISPARC) for your guidance and support.  Let’s 
hope Lacrosse is invited back in 2025.  
 

o 17U Female staff: Ashley Bull (HC), Naomi Walser (AC), Darcy Rhodes (AC) and 
Katrina McCurrach (AC and Team Manager) 

o 17U Male staff: Gerry Van Beek (HC), Grant Hamilton (AC), Darcy Rhodes (AC), Ryan 
Williams (AACP) and Randy Clough (Team Manager) 

o View CSG Box Games here.  See 2022 CSG website here.  
 

 Team BC High Performance Programs.  All high-performance programs were permitted to 
continue through Covid restrictions.  We were able to engage numerous athletes and keep them 
active through a restrictive period.  Thank you to the entire BCLA Team BC staff under the 
guidance of Gord Kask, VP Performance Programs, and the leadership Team BC Coordinators 
Mitch Cavallarin (Field) and Darcy Rhodes (Box) for shaping our high-performance 
programming.  A big thanks to Rita Stroup for managing the 5 Women’s Field teams along with 
an entire team of parent assistants.  All involved with Team BC must be applauded for their 
commitment.  I apologize if I missed someone in our thanks! 
 

 Team BC BOX- Congratulations to Team BC Box head coaches Chris MacKay (12U Boys), 
Rob Williams (14U Boys) and Bianca Santucci (14U Girls) and their coaching staffs for 
representing BC well at Box Nationals.  Thank you team managers (Tara Miletich, Gina/Jason 
Goller & Tim Oosterhof/Ken Hoff) for their hard work coordinating their teams and offering an 
incredible Nationals experience.  Everyone made new friends, teammates and everlasting 
memories.  Great job! 

 
 Box Nationals Results:  

o 14U Girls: Silver (5-2 loss to Ontario) 
o 14U Boys: Silver (5-4 loss to Ontario) 
o 12U Boys: Silver (8-5 loss to Ontario) 

 
 Team BC FIELD. Congratulations to all Team BC head coaches Ashley Bull, Harlowe Steele, 

Tyler MacLeod, Danita Stroup, Sydney Hara, Debbie Phillips, Matthew Black, Richard Cambrey, 
Ty Yanko, Matt Sobey, Ian Radonich, John Hofseth and their coaching staffs for representing BC 
well at tournaments and Nationals.  After a 2-year hiatus, Women’s and Men’s Field Nationals 
were back in Sherwood Park and Fredericton respectively.  Our U19 Women team won bronze at 
the Jenny Kyle Cup Nationals.  This team decided to assist Team Quebec and mixed teams in 
their final game to help this up and coming program build skills.  Our U18 & U15 teams were 
model programs and competed incredibly well winning double golds!!  This was the first time 
Team BC has swept Field Nationals.  A huge thanks to Mitch Cavallarin and all team managers 
Rita Stroup, Jenn McKinnon, Dawnell Schumacher, Nicole Schenato, Sherri Borg, Alex 
Vanichuk, Kara Eastgate, Karen Smith, for your commitment to excellence.  Thank you to Dave, 
Deb and Matt for all the work behind the scenes. 

 
 Field Nationals Results: 

o U19 Women’s Field: Bronze (friendly versus Quebec) 
o U18 Men’s Field: Gold (16-5 win over Ontario) 
o U15 Men’s Field: Gold (13-5 win over Ontario) 

 
 
 
 



2022 Special Session Report – Team BC Box Lacrosse Program - Darcy Rhodes  
 
It was a busy summer with Nationals, BC Summer Games and Canada Summer Games. There were a lot 
of hours put in by many individuals. Below I would like to highlight and thank the Coaches and Mangers 
for each team.  
 
Team BC Female 17U CSG – Head Coach: Ashley Bull Assistant Coaches: Naomi Walser, Katrina 
McCurrach, Darcy Rhodes 
 
Team BC Female 14U – Head Coach: Bianca Santucci Assistant Coaches: Debbie Phillips, Marc Downey 
Manager: Tara Militech 
 
Team BC 12U- Head Coach: Chris McKay Assistant Coaches: Curt Malawsky, Rich Catton Manager: 
Tim Oosterhoff, Tim Hoff 
 
Team BC 14U- Head Coach: Rob Williams Assistant Coaches: Brian Smith, Conor Abrams, Rick 
Williams, Jason Goller Manager: Gina Goller 
 
Team BC 17U CSG – Head Coach: Gerry Van Beek Assistant Coaches: Grant Hamilton, Darcy Rhodes, 
Ryan Williams Coach/Manager Randy Clough 
 
A special thank you to the coaches and evaluators that stepped up to take part in the 2022 District and 
Provincial Camps. I would like to thank Ryan Williams who has taken a bigger role in the program with 
helping in recruitment of coaches, evaluators and players. His knowledge of the game and history of the 
sport enhances the program. These passionate individuals should be commended for their tireless work 
scouting, recruiting and preparing for the Team BC training camps.  
 
Other key people that need to be recognized are the BCLA staff members Matt Doherty, Jeff Gombar, 
Deb Heard and Dave Showers for their work in pre-planning for registration, camp coordination, social 
media etc. Thank you to the Team BC Committee, with direction from Gordon Kask VP of Performance 
Programs, Russ Shepard Chair (BCLCTSG), Rob Arden Vice Chair Minor (BCLCTSG) and Gord 
McIntosh (Minor Directorate Chair). Your tireless work and effort was appreciated throughout the 
process. 
 
I would like to thank local volunteers with managing and coordinating these camps. 
 
Fraser Valley & Vancouver – Alex Vanichuk – Langley  
Vancouver Island – Shane Mellish – Vancouver Island 
Interior/North – Travis Mann – North Okanagan 
Provincial Training Camps – Matt Doherty, Alex Vanichuk and Darcy Rhodes. 
 
2022 Minor Box Lacrosse National Championship and CSG Results: 
 
Female 14U – Silver  
Female 17U CSG - Silver 
 
12U – Silver 
14U – Silver 
17U CSG – Gold 
 
 
Thank you, 
 
Darcy Rhodes 



2022 Team BC Field Lacrosse Report – Mitch Cavallarin 
 
The goal for Team BC in the 2021-2022 Season was to re-establish our High Performance 
Program following a season where we were only able to train locally.  
 
We had over 400 athletes participate in our Men’s and Women’s Provincial Try Out Camp in July 2021.  
 
4 Men’s Teams (U14 / U15 / U16 / U18) and 5 Women’s Teams (Middle School / Freshmen / 
Sophomore / Junior / Senior) were selected to train and compete at elite events across the 
United States.  
 
Our teams safely traveled in November to Arizona, California, Delaware, and 
Texas.  
 
Unfortunately, our Fall/Winter Season was cut short due to the Omicron variant and our 
teams were not able to travel in January to Palm Springs, California. 
 
The Annual NCAA National Letter of Intent Signing Event that normally occurs at the BCLA 
office was not able to occur in person again this year due to COVID-19 restrictions.  
 
We celebrated our athletes (12 females - 9 males) virtually as they received their official scholarship 
offers to attend a variety of Colleges and Universities in the United States.  
 
Team BC Field Lacrosse Program currently has over 100 Female and Male athletes actively competing at 
the collegiate level. 
 
Following our Fall/Winter season, we started our tryouts for the 2022-2023 Season and have 
selected athletes for 5 Men’s Teams (U13 / U14 / U15 / U16 / U18) and 5 Women’s Teams 
(Middle School / Freshmen / Sophomore / Junior Senior).  
 
Our Men’s U15 and U16 teams traveled to Delaware in June to compete, our Women’s Middle School 
and Freshmen teams traveled to North Carolina in June to compete, and our Women’s Sophomore, 
Junior, and Senior teams traveled to Maryland in June to compete. We are very pleased with how well our 
teams 
showed at these elite events. 
 
I am very pleased with the growth and development of both our Female and Male Lacrosse 
Coaches and Athletes! The Women’s U19 Nationals and the Men’s U18/U15 Nationals are 
scheduled to take place this summer. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Mitch Cavallarin 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



VP Performance Programs – Gordon Kask 
 
I would like to thank all the coaches and staff for the hard work and dedication over the past 3 years 
during Covid. There were some difficult moments throughout the pandemic, and they kept working hard 
to provide the best training possible to our athletes. 
 
Through these difficult times, Mitch Cavallarin and Darcy Rhodes with all their support staff were able to 
keep the Field and Box programs moving in a positive direction.  
 
Particularly rewarding was to see a transition of experience and leadership in our women’s programs. Led 
by Ashley Bull, we are seeing what women’s lacrosse will look like moving forward for Team BC.  
 
Ashley coached the Canada Summer Games Team and the U19 Women’s Teams this summer. In an 
unprecedented act of leadership Ashley and the coaching staff helped Team Quebec with skill 
development and game play advice to their players and coaches.  
 
A special thanks to: 
 

 Ashley Bull 
 Bianca Santucci 
 Sydney Hara 
 Harlowe Steel 
 Danita Stroup 
 Naomi Walser 
 Katrina McCurrach 
 Debbie Phillips 
 Rita Stroup 

 
Great to see Female Head Coaches at the National Level. 
 
After 30 years of coaching, managing and executive roles I am stepping away from lacrosse. I have 
appreciated all the people that I have worked with over the years, way too many to mention. Those that 
are in my heart you know who you are.  
 
Thanks again, 
 
Gordon Kask 



BC Lacrosse Association 

2022 Annual General Meeting 

October 15, 2022 

BCLA Vice President-Development Report:  Terry Mosdell 

 

This year started out with a lot promise with a couple of new possible Associations looking to 

have teams play within BC in the upcoming 2022 Box Season.  Princeton. through Jamie 

Graham, was able to start up a recreation league comprised mainly of Minor Lacrosse players, 

however, there were a few Seniors that also joined in on the fun.  They were able to set up a 

drop-in schedule for the months of May and June.  Hopefully we will see them start a full team 

in the Okanagan League this up coming season.  Still in discussion with Mike Carlson of Logan 

Lake to set up a U6 and U8 team all comprised of brand-new players to the sport of Box 

Lacrosse.  We were discussion with the association, talking about what would be required for 

equipment, what type facilities they had, when we could possibly hold a general introduction to 

the sport, coaching clinics and possibly referee clinics.  Hopefully we can move this forward and 

get the association moving forward now the Covid restrictions have been somewhat relaxed.  I 

was also in contact with a possible new program/team starting up in Master’s Field Lacrosse in 

the Vernon area.  Hopefully things start to improve in the March 2023 time frame, and we will 

be able to bring the interest back to these new programs and we can get things moving forward. 

 

The Masters Box Tournament, which is held on the first long weekend in July was cancelled 

again due to Covid issues and lack of facilities.  Will be pushing this forward for the 2023 season 

as many Masters are very keen on participating in this tournament.  We saw several independent 

tournaments show up in 2022 such as the North Shore Tournament in July. 

 

The Masters Field Program held in Port Coquitlam at Gates Park was able to have a full season 

this year under modified rules. The season started in June and finished up in early October.   

There were 8 teams participating in the season with roughly 18 players per team.  The teams 

played every weekend from the start of June right through to its completion in October.  

Congratulations to all players who participated and especially to the Master’s Field Executive 

who were able to put together a full season.   The executive made the decision to continue with 

the Covid-19 modified rules of play as it sped up the game to the level that the Masters were able 

to compete at. 

 

The Masters Box Season had a very successful season.  The League started in October 2021 and 

ran through to February 2022.  The League was again held at the LEC Fieldhouse as they were 

able to secure floor time for the full season.  A couple of games had to be played on odd nights, 

but a great season was had by all participants.  The league expects to have 6 teams again for the 

upcoming season and they welcome all interested players over the age of 35 to apply.  No 

previous Box Lacrosse experience is required to play. 

 

This year I spent a tremendous amount of time and focus on getting the Canada Games Coaching 

staff certified to the Canada Games criteria.  BC was the only province that met all requirements 

for coaching.  Congratulations go out to all the coaching staff as we were able to bring home the 

Boys Gold Medal and the Girls Silver Medal. 

 

It was much better year for everyone involved in the sport of Lacrosse in 2022 and with the great 

determination and perseverance of all the great people, volunteers and Associations that we have 



in Lacrosse the sport rebounded to full league play in all disciplines.  I am confident that we will 

be back on the floor and/or field with no restrictions again in the 2023 season. 

 

In closing, I would like to thank our Executive Director, Jeff Gombar, for all his dedication and 

help through these very trying times.   Jeff has done outstanding job and has stepped up to all the 

challenges that this season has brought forward.  I would also like to thank Deb, Dave, and Matt 

for their continued help in supporting me in the many aspects of getting the game of Lacrosse 

promoted and supported throughout the province of BC. 

 

Thank you, 

 

Terry Mosdell 

BCLA VP Development 



BC Lacrosse Association 

2022 Annual General Meeting 

October 15, 2022 

BCLA Vice President – Technical Programs Report:  Dennis Quigley 
 

Despite the last two years of Covid, the Field and Box Lacrosse seasons of play have been 

successful.  Coaching courses returned to the classroom and skills were taught in gyms.  Classes 

were well attended for the most part but there are still associations that have coaches that don’t 

attend to get the certification levels to coach.  This is problematic because coaches need 

certification to be on the bench at any game.  Discussions will need to be had with the Head 

Coaches of the offending associations to remedy this unacceptable situation.  This problem is 

most acute in dealing with coaches in the Minor Directorate.  Associations will need participate 

in dealing with the delinquent coaches. 

 

The number of lacrosse officials is down and there is work needed in dealing with the attracting 

and retention of young officials.  Games have been cancelled because of “no refs”. 

 

This year in our two Senior Divisions, the Junior A League and the Senior A League 

experimented with adopting some of the rules used in the NLL.  The intent of the rule adoptions 

was to see if this would speed up the game.  The Chair of Officials, Andy Watson also employed 

a 3-man referee system with much success.  Obviously attracting more referees is the issue if we 

want to see the 3-man system evolve. 

 

The other area of concern is the verbal abuse of officials by the coaches, players, and fans.  At 

the Officials Special Sessions, it was brought up as a constant concern that needs to be dealt with 

more seriously. Adult coaches must act like adults in stressful situations when dealing with the 

referees.  We are asking all the associations to take on the responsibility for the behaviour of 

their coaching staff at all times.  Everyone must “step up” to stop the abusive behaviour.  If we 

do not take action we will lose more referees and more games will be cancelled.  Field lacrosse 

has started so let’s get on board and start the movement to clean up our game and bring respect 

back to our interaction with the officials. 

 

 

Thank you, 

 

Dennis Quigley 

VP Technical Programs 
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BC Lacrosse Association 
2022 Annual General Meeting 

October 15, 2022 
BCLA Director at Large Report:  David E.M. Jenkins 

 
 
2021/2022 has been challenging in terms of re-introducing our membership to what only can be 
called the “post Covid” experience. 
 
We managed to lose some players due to our inability to “stage the season” like we had in the 
past but all of that appears to be behind us now. 
 
Your executive has met regularly by “Zoom” throughout the pandemic and we continue to do so 
now. 
 
Our B.C.L.A. office is staffed by industrious individuals who care about our game and without 
them we would be directionless. 
 
I have seen a lot of our own board members “come and go” and although many have been hard 
to replace we have always come up with more than competent replacements. 
 
I, for one, miss the AGM being held at Whistler but I am sure we will all be able to gather there 
again in the near future. 
 
 
  
 
David E.M. Jenkins 
BCLA Director at Large 



BC Lacrosse Association 
2022 Annual General Meeting 

October 15, 2022 
BCLA Executive Director Report:  Jeff Gombar 

“Some of us will do our jobs well and some will not, but we will all be judged on one 
thing: the result.” - Vince Lombardi  

Our Lacrosse community has passed the test navigating Covid – I hope the worst is behind us.  We’ve been 
challenged, we’ve adapted and we’ve collectively worked harder than ever to offer Lacrosse activities for our 
members.  Our Lacrosse volunteers are special for keeping our sport relevant in a time of crisis.  You are the 
champions!  Now we must continue to engage more people to volunteer and offer their precious time to help 
sustain and develop our great game for the long-term. 
 
We successfully worked through the dark days of Covid and safely returned to sport. The Fall 2021-22 Field 
Lacrosse season was on, off, then opened up for good mid-February 2022.  We offered safe activities, came 
back even stronger in the spring and held our first BCLA Field Provincials in over 2 years. Parents once 
again watched their children play the Creators Game.  Box season took shape with few Covid-related issues.  
Associations hosted numerous tournaments -- playoffs and Provincials ran successfully province-wide.  
Lacrosse was back to normal like we once experienced.  Our community made Lacrosse a safe place to play 
in order to live a healthy, active lifestyle. We have weathered the storm and it is you, the volunteers we 
commend for your resilience. 
 
Development and school programs got sticks in kid’s hands once again with our hard-working member 
associations with clubs taking the lead.  The BCLA stick loan programs in schools/recreation centres started 
up and more youngsters were introduced to Lacrosse.  We were successful offering an abbreviated 
Indigenous development SPIRIT Program and we look to revamp our BC Wheelchair Lacrosse 
programming.  Whatever level of lacrosse you participated in, with your commitment and passion, we have 
been able to do our bit of good to support each other and to further our goals and objectives as a passionate, 
creative, and dynamic organization. 
 
The BCLA Board.  Thank you for your continued support.  We have managed to work through this and 
your direction helped keep us all safe.  Thank you Board members – Gerry Van Beek, Angie Schwan, 
Nichola Manning, Gord Kask, Terry Mosdell, Dennis Quigley and David Jenkins.  Your leadership and 
sound advice is always appreciated.  Thanks to Russ Sheppard (VP Operations) for joining the Board at a 
time your time was valuable.  A hearty thank you to Gord Kask for his leadership staying on an additional 
year as VP Performance.  I couldn’t have managed without you! 
 
BCLA Provincial Leadership Group.  Field and Box Provincials were back!  Leaders of all Directorates 
and Technical Support Groups were thrust into action and leaned on to coordinate these events and returned 
to experience these memorable competitions.  Thank you all for being ready with contingency plans!  Thank 
you for your encouragement and stewardship of the game of Lacrosse! 
 
And thank you to all who served on Commissions and Leagues, as you oversee the governance, 
organization and opportunities for athletes at the various levels of Senior and Minor Box, and Men’s and 
Women’s Field Lacrosse in BC. All returned and experienced regular seasons.  After 2 years of no Lacrosse, 
our volunteers were organized and ready to return.  We came back strong and we’ll need everyone’s 
collective commitment to come back even stronger in 2022-23. 
 
The Vancouver Warriors.  The 2022 season marked a return to Rogers Arena.  The BCLA and Warriors 
rekindled our partnership -- we coordinated in-game display promotions promoting all lacrosse activities and 
Wheelchair Lacrosse, engaged our members through social media, especially on jersey night!  The Warriors 
offered a portion of their 2021-22 game 50-50 sales to the Warriors-BCLA Lacrosse on the Move Travel 



Fund.  The grant assisted teams traveling to Box and Field Provincials. Be sure buy your 50-50 tickets and 
know partial proceeds will support our athletes.  Thanks to the Warriors for their support.  Let’s get out and 
support our pros and cheer them on this year! 
 
I-SPARC – Indigenous Sport, Physical Activity and Recreation Council.  We partnered with I-SPARC 
and their respective Regional Councils in 2021-22 for a 5 month program.  We started in November and 
offered activities through various Covid restrictions. Our goal is to return and deliver our SPIRIT 
LACROSSE program, improve on our successes and grow our program. Thank you to Rick Brant, Lara 
Mussell, Michelle Webster and Joel Henry for continuing our partnership.  Through the work of the Council, 
and in particular on the BCLA side, we looked to Dave Showers, Bryan Baxter and developers to return to 
the communities and teach lacrosse to our youth. BCLA and I-SPARC are planning to continue with our 
development of our current Hub communities in 2022-2023: 
 
Year 6  Year 5  Year 4  Year 3  Year 2  Year 1 
Chilliwack  Burns Lake Alberni Valley Cranbrook Quesnel Hazelton 
Cowichan  Kamloops Fort St. John     Kitimat 
   Merritt  Nanaimo     Lillooet 
   Victoria Nisga’a      Prince Rupert 
     Prince George     Vancouver 
     Williams Lake 
 
Our plans will be to continue to focus our efforts on further promoting and developing the SPIRIT 
LACROSSE Programs to strengthen the Indigenous lacrosse program presence in our Hub communities.  
The goal is to develop on-going lacrosse programs within these communities and create opportunities to 
build relationships between the Indigenous communities and the local community Lacrosse associations. 
 
BC Sport Participation Program (BCSPP) – BC Wheelchair Lacrosse Program.  We were unable to 
offer the BC Wheelchair Lacrosse Program last year.  BCSPP wheelchair program is a bi-lateral funding 
agreement between the Government of Canada, the Province of BC and the BCLA, and was administered 
through viaSport BC.  We will restart our program slowly with Dave Showers taking the lead.  He has done 
an incredible job over the years and we hope to return to those levels of activity. We have 12 sport 
wheelchairs and a trailer to move the chairs for introductory sessions for future programs in various 
communities around BC. 
 
Canuck Autism Network.  The Canucks Autism Network’s Annual Sports Day Camp was held at BC Place 
on Sunday, June 12, 2022.  Over 3,000 individuals participated in the various sporting activities. The BCLA 
and Vancouver Warriors teamed up to help teach lacrosse to those athletes with various levels of Autism, 
along with their parents.  Thank you Dave Showers for your leadership and to Surrey’s Sean Reid, Lance 
Herok and the Bantam girls from New West/Surrey for their help teaching lacrosse skills.  Pro sport clubs 
participated and the BCLA teamed up with the Warriors with lacrosse stations for activities. We look 
forward to a return to the CAN programs next year. 
 
Sport BC/KidSport.  Many thanks to Sport BC’s Rob Newman and their team for their leadership and 
advocacy for sport.  I attend regular Sport BC Meet-ups with other PSOs learning and sharing advice.  Gerry 
and Russ attended the 2022 AGM.  The Athlete of the Year Awards and celebrations will return March 2023.  
All sports can, and should, support KidSport BC with an online donation here. 
https://kidsportcanada.ca/british-columbia/  KidSport’s IMPACT = $1.3M to 4,164 kids in 150 BC 
communities to play 46 different sports.  Annually, Lacrosse participants accesses KidSport funding for 
athlete registrations.  The impact KidSport has had for the BCLA over the past year is immense.  These totals 
include $24,085 distributed to help 90 kids participate in Lacrosse, which was the 8th most-funded sport 
through KidSport in 2021.  Please offer your support in volunteering or by donation. 
 
Sports with Balls. Thank you to our unique network of 9 PSO leaders who connect regularly and have been 
sounding boards for each other, especially navigating Covid.  Your guidance is appreciated. 



 
BC Gaming Policy & Enforcement Branch.   The BCLA received slightly more funding from the 2022 
Community Grant Program. We appreciate the funding that the BC Gaming Policy & Enforcement Branch 
provides to our many members.  It’s important our members thank your local politicians (MLAs) for their 
support. 
 
viaSport BC.  viaSport continues to be the distributor of core funding from the Province of BC for the 
various funding pots and we appreciate their continued support.  Our core funding stayed consistent for the 
2021-22 Government fiscal period.  Thank you to viaSport for the leadership in guiding the sport sector 
through Covid.  You helped us navigate the challenges to keep all participants safe while continuing an 
active lifestyle.  Thank you to CEO Charlene Krepiakevich, Jared Kope and the viaSport team for your 
continued support. 
 
BC Hosting Grants.  viaSport BC permitted the BCLA to apply the 2020 BC Hosting Grants awarded for 
supporting the 2022 Minor Box Provincials (Vernon) and Minor Box Nationals (Langley). 
 
School Sport Credits.  We will continue to administer the School Sport Credit program for athletes, coaches 
and officials.  Our members appreciate this opportunity for additional credits for high school.  Click here for 
more school sport credit information.  
 
2022 Scholarships/Bursary.  With the passing of Gene Regier, the Regier family created a new BCLA 
scholarship in memory of longtime volunteer, Gene Regier. We had excellent candidates for the various 
Scholarships and Bursary Awards again this year.  Congratulations to the following: 
Ted Fridge Scholarship Winner – Rowan Birrell (North Vancouver) 
Dorothy Robertson Bursary Winner – Keira Martin (Nanaimo) 
Wayne Goss Scholarship Winner – Amy Ralph (Langley) 
Gene Regier Scholarship Winner – Reece Whitehead (Robson) 
Joel McCready Family Scholarship Winner - Amelia Procyk (Coquitlam) 
 
Congratulations to the 2022 BCLA Zone Players of the Year & scholarship recipients!  All athletes received 
a custom jacket and a $500 bursary.  Overall winner, Kara Goertz, received a $1000 bursary. 
Zone 2: Caleb Whiting (Kelowna) 
Zone 4: Kara Goertz (Port Coquitlam) 
Zone 5: Rylan Weisbrod (Delta) 
Zone 6: James Hall (Saanich) 
 
2022 BC Summer Games.  July 21-24, 2022 - BC Summer Games (Prince George).  A huge thank you to 
Greg Toll and Jane Boutilier, PG Sport Chairs John Stevens (Field) and Tammy Brown (Box), Bryan Baxter, 
Dave Showers, Deb Heard, BCLA Zone representatives, coaches, officials, players, parents and local 
volunteers.  Your efforts made this Games special for so many participants.  8 Box and 6 Field teams 
competed over the 3-day event.  Congratulations to all that competed – we hope you had an incredible 
Games experience.  In the 2022 Games, we again had an All-Indigenous Box Team (which the BCLA 
piloted in 2018).  This has been a template for other sports and we envision this project to continue in 2024.  
The BCLA is currently going through the core sport review for the 2024 Games.  For scores and results, see 
the BCLA BC Summer Games page. 
 
Medal Results: 
Box – GOLD Zone 6; SILVER Zone 3; BRONZE Zone 4 
Field – GOLD Zone 3; SILVER Zone 6; BRONZE Zone 4 
 
Canada Summer Games – Niagara, Ontario. The 2022 Canada Summer Games (CSG) took place August 
6-21, 2022 in Ontario’s Niagara Region.  Congratulations to the 17U Female and Male teams that competed 
at the Games.  Our girls brought home silver (2-1 loss to ON) while the boys won gold (7-6 win vs ON).  
Thank you to BCLA VP Performance, Gord Kask, Team BC Box Coordinator, Darcy Rhodes, coaches and 



team managers Katrina McCurrach and Randy Clough for your incredible work with your teams.  All 
responses from our Team BC team and Chef de Mission were very positive and you all represented BC 
proudly!  A big thanks to the BC Games Society, Jarrett Poitras (Team BC Program Co-ordinator); Adam 
Powell (Chef de Mission); and to Rick Brant & Lara Mussell (ISPARC) for your guidance and support.  
Let’s hope Lacrosse is invited back in 2025.  
 
17U Female staff: Ashley Bull (HC), Naomi Walser (AC), Darcy Rhodes (AC) and Katrina McCurrach (AC 
and Team Manager) 
17U Male staff: Gerry Van Beek (HC), Grant Hamilton (AC), Darcy Rhodes (AC), Ryan Williams (AACP) 
and Randy Clough (Team Manager) 
View CSG Box Games here.  See 2022 CSG website here.  
 
2020-2024 BCLA Strategic Plan.  We are in year 3 of our Strategic Plan.  The 2020-24 document is our 
pathway for the next 2 years. Through the past 2+ years, Covid activities skewed some of the data and the 
effects reflected on groups not returning to Lacrosse. Nichola Manning and the Board confirmed Drew 
Mitchell (Sport 4 Life) will return to facilitate our next strategic plan and planning session. The first phase 
meeting will be planned for Nov. 2022. BCLA’s current plan runs through to 2024. Thank you Drew for 
continuing to guide us through the next 5 years of Lacrosse. 
 
Lacrosse Canada (LC).  BCLA delegates attended the in-person LC SAM May 2022 and represented BC 
well.   BC volunteers have stepped up to be part of LC Sectors/Committee/Boards – Dirk Rachfall (M-Field 
Sector) and Bryan Baxter (Director of Domestic Development/Nationals Committee).  Thank you to 
outgoing W-Field Sector Chair, Brad Hara for your support. As well, Andy Watson and Russ Sheppard 
served on their respective Officiating and Coaching Committees, and Gord McIntosh, Dave Wilkie, Beth 
McLucas, and Kellie Ohlmann all served as members of their respective Sectors (Directorates).  Gerry Van 
Beek has served as the BCLA Representative, sits on LC Membership Council, Nominations Committee and 
is a on the LC Board of Directors.  Thank you to all for volunteering and representing BC admirably at the 
National level. LC Member Association (MA) Executive Director’s group.  The LC Executive Directors 
have formed a group that meets monthly to share ideas and learn from each other.  Bridget Pottle (SLA) 
coordinates our meetings. 
 
Team BC High Performance Programs.  All high performance programs were permitted to continue 
through Covid restrictions.  We were able to engage numerous athletes and keep them active through a 
restrictive period.  Thank you to the entire BCLA Team BC staff under the guidance of Gord Kask, VP 
Performance Programs, and the leadership Team BC Coordinators Mitch Cavallarin (Field) and Darcy 
Rhodes (Box) for shaping our high performance programming.  A big thanks to Rita Stroup for managing the 
5 Women’s Field teams along with an entire team of parent assistants.  All involved with Team BC must be 
applauded for their commitment.  I apologize if I missed someone in our thanks! 
 
Team BC BOX- Congratulations to Team BC Box head coaches Chris MacKay (12U Boys), Rob Williams 
(14U Boys) and Bianca Santucci (14U Girls) and their coaching staffs for representing BC well at Box 
Nationals.  Thank you team managers (Tara Miletich, Gina/Jason Goller & Tim Oosterhof/Ken Hoff) for 
their hard work coordinating their teams and offering an incredible Nationals experience.  Everyone made 
new friends, teammates and everlasting memories.  Great job! 
Box Nationals Results:  
14U Girls: Silver (5-2 loss to Ontario) 
14U Boys: Silver (5-4 loss to Ontario) 
12U Boys: Silver (8-5 loss to Ontario) 
 
Team BC FIELD. Congratulations to all Team BC head coaches Ashley Bull, Harlowe Steele, Tyler 
MacLeod, Danita Stroup, Sydney Hara, Debbie Phillips, Matthew Black, Richard Cambrey, Ty Yanko, Matt 
Sobey, Ian Radonich, John Hofseth and their coaching staffs for representing BC well at tournaments and 
Nationals.  After a 2-year hiatus, Women’s and Men’s Field Nationals were back in Sherwood Park and 
Fredericton respectively.  Our U19 Women team won bronze at the Jenny Kyle Cup Nationals.  This team 



decided to assist Team Quebec and mixed teams in their final game to help this up and coming program 
build skills.  Our U18 & U15 teams were model programs and competed incredibly well winning double 
golds!!  This was the first time Team BC has swept Field Nationals.  A huge thanks to Mitch Cavallarin and 
all team managers Rita Stroup, Jenn McKinnon, Dawnell Schumacher, Nicole Schenato, Sherri Borg, Alex 
Vanichuk, Kara Eastgate, Karen Smith, for your commitment to excellence.  Gord Kask continued his 
leadership of our high performance programs.  Thank you to Dave, Deb and Matt for all the work behind the 
scenes. 
Field Nationals Results: 
U19 Women’s Field: Bronze (friendly versus Quebec) 
U18 Men’s Field: Gold (16-5 win over Ontario) 
U15 Men’s Field: Gold (13-5 win over Ontario) 
 
Canadian Lacrosse Hall of Fame 2022 Inductees.  The Canadian Lacrosse Hall of Fame announced the 
2022 class of inductees, including six Players, Rich Catton, Blane Harrison, Trish Nicholson, Josh 
Sanderson, Troyhann Santos and Kaleb Toth; and, three Builders Rey Comeault, Doug Luey and Joanne 
Stanga; and one Official, Bill Fox. A big congratulations to our BC inductees in Trish Nicholson, Reynold 
Comeault, Rich Catton and Kaleb Toth. The inductee dinner is November 12. 
 
To our BCLA Registrars – Field and Box registrations was mainly back to nominal this season with plenty 
of assistance to member associations through the registration process.  Corinne Perriman (Minor Box/Field 
Lacrosse) and Judy Regier (Senior Box) – thank you for all of your patience, your guidance and for the 
ongoing work that you do on behalf of our members! 
 
To our BCLA Staff – Thank you to the best team a sport can have in Debbie Heard (Administrative 
Assistant), Dave Showers (Technical Director) and new addition Matt Doherty (Marketing & 
Communications). These individuals are the glue and your dedication does not go unnoticed – without these 
three, we’d have nothing! We succeeded in keeping Lacrosse relevant through Covid; we adapted and were 
committed to our members to just find ways to get back and play Lacrosse; and most importantly, we found a 
way to keep the staff employed.  Thank you for your hard work, loyalty and commitment.  Our staff are 
gems. Thanks for being there when we needed you the most! 
 
We thank the many national and provincial partners who have helped us through the pandemic.  We look 
to rebuild our relationships with sponsors and advertisers to a level we once experienced pre-pandemic, but 
it will take some work. Thanks to Warrior, Xtreme Threads, New Balance and Mountain Edge Lacrosse for 
your support. We would like to especially acknowledge the following for their generous provincial support:  
The Province of BC, and in particular, the Ministry of Tourism, Arts, Culture and Sport, the Sport Branch, 
the BC Gaming Policy & Enforcement Branch, the Government of Canada, viaSport BC, the BC Games 
Society, Sport BC and KidSport, Lacrosse Canada, Heritage Canada, and the Canadian Lacrosse Foundation.  
Thanks to all of you for your ongoing support!! 
 
To our BCLA Members – Thank you BC Lacrosse Association Community for your passion keeping 
Lacrosse on the fields and floors across British Columbia in our new normal.  You keep our sport moving in 
the right direction.  Your hard work is admirable and much appreciated by many.  
 

“Success is based upon a spiritual quality, a power to inspire others.” 
- Vince Lombardi 

 

Thank you! 
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2022 – We are BACK!!!!!  Whether it was in Maple Ridge, Langley, Delta, Vernon, Coquitlam or Port Coquitlam for 
the Provincial Games or in local arenas and fields around the province, I would like to thank every volunteer, coach 
and official for working so hard to help get the athletes back into the arenas and onto the fields playing our sport. 
 
In this report, I have highlighted the successes and activities that the BC Lacrosse Officials’ Technical Support 
Group (BCLOTSG) and the BC Lacrosse Coaches’ Technical Support Group (BCLCTSG) had in the last year, 
along with our various programs and statistics. 
 
I have so many people to thank for their efforts, hard work and dedication to the sport of lacrosse.  Without these 
people and all our amazing volunteers, we would not be an Association.  They are listed in my Coaches and 
Officials Special Sessions write-ups. 
 
 
Officials Training Statistics: 
 
In this report I have gathered data from September 2021 to April 2022. My role with the BCLOTG includes the co-
ordination of the clinics and preparation of resource material. 

 
BOX Referee Clinics 
 
The BCLOTG offered 61 Box across BC in 2022, with a total of 677 overall participants being trained and re-trained 
(these totals differ from my Officials Special Session report, as the 3-5 official numbers just came in). 
 
Entry/Level 1 = 415 attended. 
Level 2 = 186 attended. 
Level 3 = 42 attended. 
Level 4 = 16 attended 
Level 5 = 18 attended 
 
 
FIELD Officials Clinics 
 
The BCLOTG offered 12 Field clinics in 2021/2022; with a total of 138 overall participants being trained and re-
trained.   
 
FL1 = 83 attended  
FL2 = 34 attended  
FL3-5 = 21 attended 
 
 
WOMEN’S FIELD Umpire Clinics 
 
The BCLOTG offered 5 Umpire Field online clinics across B.C. in 2021/2022; with a total of 58 participants being 
trained and re-trained.   
 
Total Number of Clinics 78 - Officials attending clinics: 873.   
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 



Coaching Training Statistics:  
 
Online Coaching Program- Going into the fourteenth year of the program, we have seen the number of 
registered Coaches in the program grow to 6,767 participants. For certification purposes this program allows 
coaches to login and complete their pre-clinic assessment, search and register for nearby coaching clinics.  If you 
are already a Coach, with training, you can still register for the online program and take advantage of the practice 
planners, videos, drill library etc.  All information can be found on the BCLA website. 

FIELD Coaching Clinics 
 

The BCLCTG offered 13 In-Person coaching clinics, 1 Zoom field coaching clinic and 2 On-Field sessions from 
August 2021 to December 2021. There were 11 FCMD clinics (Field Community Development – Level 1), 2 FCPI 
(Field Competitive Introduction – Level 2) and 1 WFCMD clinic (Women’s Field Community Development – Level 1).   
 

The total number of participants was 199: 
 FCMD – 117 attended (17 No Shows) 
 FCPI – 24 attended (1 No Show) 
 WFCMD – 28 attended 
 FCMD – Online – 9 attended  
 FCMD – On-Field Only – 21 attended (1 No Show) 

 
There are still a number of Coaches who still require the On-Field portion after attending a Zoom Classroom 
session over the past few seasons. 
 
BOX 
 
The BCLCTG offered 33 box coaching clinics from March 2022 – June 2022.  We ran 20 CMD Clinics (Community 
Development – Level 1), 13 CPI Clinics (Competitive Introduction – Level 2) and 3 On-Floor only sessions.  The 
total number of participants was 743, which is 57 more than last year: 
 

 CMD – 372 attended (73 No Shows). 
 CMD – Joined clinic for On-Floor portion only - 52 
 CMD – On-Floor Session - 26 
 CPI – 179 attended (19 No Shows) 

 
One CPI session in the Okanagan was cancelled due to the Facilitator testing positive for COVID. 
 
One other CPI session was planned, but cancelled due to lack of attendees. 

  
Our maximum clinic size in 30 for CMD and 25 for CPI, so we had to have waitlists for over half our clinics.  
Unfortunately we had 92 coaches’ sign up for clinics and not attend.  So those on the waitlist lost out.   
 
 
Provincial Championships – The Field Provincial Championships were held in Maple Ridge and Langley; the Box 
Provincial Championships were held in Coquitlam, Delta, Port Coquitlam and Vernon.  I was fortunate to be able to 
attend the majority of them and was amazed by the dedication, long hours and professionalism of all the volunteers 
I was able to work with.  From the hospitality, venues and overall organization, these provincials were top-notch.    
 
We had a few issues with our Medical Coverage, as there were a limited number of available practitioners available 
for field and major staff changes a week before the box Provincials.  Things were mixed up/lost in the process, but 
I’ve been promised that last year was a one-off and our coverage will be as consistent as it has been in the past.   
 

   
 



BC Summer Games – I was fortunate enough to be able to attend the BC Summer Games in Prince George and 
witness lacrosse at its best.  Top Zone players from around British Columbia battled for gold on the fields and in the 
boxes.  These athletes, coaches, officials and volunteers did an amazing job representing the BCLA and promoting 
the sport of lacrosse.  Thank you to all those Coaches and Officials who gave up their time to attend the event and 
take part in this overall experience (and to the coaches for sleeping on the floors in the schools).    
 
Once again, the BC Games Society gave us the opportunity to have an All-Indigenous team replace Zone 7 in the 
box lacrosse competition.  Coach Bernard (Buzz) Manual, Assistant Coach Lorne Sam and Assistant Coach Clinton 
Kaboni, with the help of Bryan Baxter, put together a team of athletes from all over British Columbia.  Before each 
game, both teams came together for a small ceremony, run by Coach Manual.   
Ex. https://www.facebook.com/BCLacrosseAssociation/videos/762338414891510 
 
A BIG THANK YOU to the BC Summer Games for streaming each game onto the BCGAMESTV page and to Jay 
Janower and Global News for running a great story on the All-Indigenous Team - 
https://globalnews.ca/video/9010481/bc-summer-games-all-indigenous-lacrosse-team/ 
 
 

     
 
    
Canucks Autism Network – The BCLA teamed up with the Vancouver Warriors to introduce our amazing sport at 
the Canucks Autism Network’s Day Camp at BC Place on Sunday, June 12th.  I, along with five Vancouver Warriors 
players were joined by Sean Reid, Lance Herok and seven New West/Surrey Rebels Female Bantam players.  
Four stations were set-up to help introduce the four main skills of lacrosse, with some fun games in-between.   
 

                        
 
 
 
SPIRIT of Lacrosse Program - Working in partnership with I-SPARC and the respective Regional Councils, the 
goal of this program is to develop on-going lacrosse programs within Indigenous communities and create 
opportunities to build relationships between the Indigenous communities and the local community lacrosse 
associations.  The program is open to all youth of Indigenous descent.  We offer 6-10 SPIRIT Lacrosse sessions 
designed for youth ages 5-12 at no cost to the participants. All equipment was provided for the use of the 
participants. Participants who completed the program received a SPIRIT of Lacrosse t-shirt.   
 

     
 
With a reduced SPIRIT schedule timeframe (4.5 months) we were able to successfully run the program in four 
Hubs: Chilliwack, Cowichan Valley, Lytton and Nanaimo.  In these four SPIRIT of Lacrosse Program locations, we 
were able to introduce the sport of lacrosse to 57 Indigenous athletes (23 girls and 34 boys). 
 
Social Media advertisements were posted for the SPIRIT Sessions and posts were added onto the SPIRIT 
Instagram and Facebook page from the Chilliwack Sessions.  These were then shared on the BCLA Instagram 
page.  Hoping to continue to increase our Social Media footprint moving forward.   

https://www.facebook.com/BCLacrosseAssociation/videos/762338414891510
https://globalnews.ca/video/9010481/bc-summer-games-all-indigenous-lacrosse-team/


 
School visits are conducted in conjunction with the SPIRIT Lacrosse program. Athletes for the program are 
recruited through these visits and we managed to visit 27 schools in various areas of the province.  Through the 
school program, 4,126 students (995 Indigenous students) picked up a lacrosse stick.  These visits are vital not 
only to the recruitment of athletes for the SPIRIT Lacrosse Program, but also for the education of the origin and 
cultural significance of the Creator’s game.  
 
We were able to videotape sessions at Bayview Elementary School for training purposes (with permission from the 
school).  We now have seven videos broken down for training purposes.  Videos cover History, Stick, Scooping, 
Cradling, Catching, Shooting and Additional Hand Positioning.  These videos will be available to any HUB 
Champions who needs assistance being trained to run classroom sessions.  Participants were blurred out for 
safety/protection reasons. Videos were uploaded to the SPIRIT of Lacrosse YouTube Page, but are unlisted. 
 
A BIG THANK YOU to Bryan Baxter for all his hard work and commitment to this program.  He has decided to step 
down from the SPIRIT Program, but thankfully will still be involved with helping run coaching clinics and other 
training sessions. 
 
 
 
 
BC Wheelchair Lacrosse – Hopefully 2023 will shine a bright light on us and allow us to once again offer this 
program.  I am saving and working on finding a vehicle that will be able to tow the wheelchair trailer (which mine 
went kaput).  I was fortunate enough to be invited to run a session at Fairview School in Nanaimo (May 25) as part 
of the WheelKids program.  I just needed to bring one chair, as WheelKids provided the others for the athletes.  I 
am hoping that there will be more opportunities of working with group like this in the future.  
 
The BC Wheelchair Lacrosse will continue to advertise on its three Social Media accounts including Instagram 
(bcwheelchairlacrosse), Facebook (@BCWheelchairLacrosse) and Twitter (@BCWheelchairLax).   
 

 
 
 
A final THANK YOU goes out to the BCLA Executive and great staff.  You make coming into work an enjoyable 
experience.   
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The 2022 BC Lacrosse Annual General Meeting marks the end of my first full lacrosse season with BC Lacrosse as 
Marketing & Communications Director and Team BC Director.  I’ve learned a lot and have thoroughly enjoyed this 
past field and box lacrosse season and look forward to many more seasons.   
 
In my report I will review: 

 BC Lacrosse Association Social Media 
 Team BC Lacrosse Social Media 
 BC Lacrosse Monthly Newsletter 
 2022 BC Lacrosse Events 
 2022 Lacrosse Canada Events 
 2022 Team BC Lacrosse Program – Camps & New Registration/Payment System 
 2022 BCLA Partnerships 

 
 

 
How the BCLA is supporting our membership on social media 

 
 In 2022 the BC Lacrosse Association has been regularly 
posting on our social media accounts to keep our members up‐
to‐date on new lacrosse information, to promote, market and 
grow the game of lacrosse and to interact with our members. 
 
 Early in 2022 we communicated to members to tag BC 
Lacrosse on Instagram @BC_Lacrosse_Association so that we 
could repost your content on our Instagram and Facebook 
stories. 
 
 

 The result for the clubs that tagged BC Lacrosse on Instagram was that their content was able to reach a much 
larger audience than if it was only posted on their social media accounts. 
 

 If you have any questions or any ideas of how we can better engage with clubs, associations and leagues on 
social media, we are here to help. The BCLA is here to promote, market and grow the game of lacrosse in the 
Province of British Columbia and if we work together, we can be much more effective. 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

BC Lacrosse Social Media Growth January 2022 to September 2022 
 

 Instagram:  101.1% Increase 
1316 Followers January 
2646 Followers September 
 

 Facebook:  15% Increase 
2040 Followers January 
2347 Followers September 
 

 Twitter:  9.4% Increase 
1617 Followers January 
1769 Followers September 
 

 
 

BC Lacrosse Association Social Media Accounts: 
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BC Lacrosse Social Media Page Visits January to September 2022 
 
 

 As you can see in the graph to the right with an 
increase in content posting in 2022 the BC Lacrosse 
Association’s social media pages had a significant 
increase in page visits. 
 

 March and July are the two months of the year in 
2022 that had the most page visits, which is related to 
the months of the 2022 BCLA Field Lacrosse 
Provincials and the 2022 BCLA Minor Box Lacrosse 
Provincials. 

 
 
 
 

 

BC Lacrosse Association Content Posted January 2022 to September 2022 
 

 As you can see in the graph to the right, BC Lacrosse 
posted content on social media in a variety of different 
sectors, events and categories. 
 

 It is a priority of BC Lacrosse to ensure that all of our 
membership is represented on our social media 
accounts. 

 
 If you have any great content ideas please do contact 

us throughout the season. 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Follow Team BC Lacrosse on Social Media 

 In May 2022 Team BC Lacrosse launched one singular 
social media account on Instagram and Facebook to 
promote all sectors of Team BC Lacrosse. 
 

 If you play for Team BC Lacrosse or are Team BC Lacrosse 
alumni and are regularly playing elsewhere and want to be 
featured on our Instagram story tag us 
@TeamBC_Lacrosse. 

 
 If you have any questions or any ideas of how we can 

better engage with our Team BC Lacrosse athletes and 
alumni on social media, we are here to listen.  

 
 
 

Team BC Lacrosse Social Media Accounts: 
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Team BC Lacrosse Social Media Growth May 2022 to September 2022 
 
 

 Instagram:    
0 Followers May 
1377 Followers September  
 

 Facebook: 
0 Followers May 
191 Followers September 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Team BC Lacrosse Content Posted May 2022 to September 2022 
 

 As you can see in the graph to the right, BC Lacrosse posted 
content on social media in a variety of different sectors, events 
and categories. 
 

 The majority of content posted on the Team BC Lacrosse social 
media accounts is roster announcements, athlete profiles with 
headshots and an athlete survey, team fundraisers, timely 
game score results, and photos and videos from competitions. 

 
 If you have great content ideas please do contact us 

throughout the season. 
 
 

Content Examples: 
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 In 2022 BC Lacrosse launched a new 
communications initiative: the BC Lacrosse Digital 
Newsletter that has been released monthly since 
February. 
 

 The monthly newsletter has been a great way of 
providing our membership with a monthly 
snapshot of what lacrosse news, competitions, 
events have happened and what is up‐coming. 

 
 This communication channel has provided the 

BCLA with another great way of keeping our 
membership informed and up‐to‐date on 
everything lacrosse related in the Province of BC, 
as well another channel for recognizing the 
successes of our members. 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 In 2022 BC Lacrosse hosted 
two Field Lacrosse Provincial 
Championship events.  Also 
hosted was the U11 Field 
Lacrosse provincial 
tournament. 
 

 New to these events was 
posting all provincial game 
scores on the BC Lacrosse 
social media accounts, in a 
time effective manner with 
action shots of each team. 
 

 Also posted was each medal 
winner score and team photo 
for each provincial 
championship.  

 

 

 

 

 

BC Lacrosse Monthly Newsletter: 

2022 BC Lacrosse Events:  Field Lacrosse Provincials 
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 In 2022 BC Lacrosse hosted 
four Box Lacrosse Provincial 
Championship events in two 
different weekends.   
 

 New to these events was 
posting all provincial game 
scores on the BC Lacrosse 
social media accounts, in a 
time effective manner with 
action shots of each team. 
 

 Also posted was each medal 
winner score and team 
photo for each provincial 
championship. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
2022 Canada Summer Games: 
 

 Box Lacrosse returned to the 
Canada Summer Games in 2022 
after originally being on the 
program in 1969 and 1985.   

 Female Box Lacrosse was 
introduced to the Canada 
Summer Games for the first 
time ever. 

 Throughout this event score 
updates, photos and videos and 
match‐ups were posted on the 
Team BC Lacrosse social media 
accounts.  

 View Team BC 17U Female Box 
Lacrosse Game Scores – CLICK HERE 

 View Team BC 17U Male Box 
Lacrosse Game Scores – CLICK HERE 

 

2022 Team BC 17U Female Box Lacrosse Team 
Silver Medalists – 2022 Canada Summer Games

2022 Team BC 17U Male Box Lacrosse Team 
Gold Medalists – 2022 Canada Summer Games

Lacrosse Canada Events: 

2022 BC Lacrosse Events:  Box Lacrosse Provincials 
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2022 Minor Box Lacrosse Nationals: 
 In 2022 the Minor 

Box Lacrosse 
Nationals were 
hosted in Langley at 
the Langley Events 
Centre by the 
Langley Minor 
Lacrosse 
Association. 

 Throughout this 
event score updates, photos and videos were posted on the Team BC Lacrosse social media accounts.  

 View Team BC Minor Box Lacrosse Nationals Game Scores – CLICK HERE 
 

 

2022 Field Lacrosse Nationals: 
 In the U19 Women’s Field 

Nationals Bronze medal game, 
Team Quebec conceded to Team 
BC and BC was recognized as the 
bronze medal winner.  In an 
incredible show of 
sportsmanship, the two teams 
decided to blend their players to 
create two new mixed teams 
and play an exhibition game.  
 

 In the U15 Men’s Field 
Lacrosse Nationals Alumni Cup 
our Team BC U15 Team went 
undefeated throughout the 
tournament to capture the Gold 
Medal against Team Ontario by a 
score of 13‐5. 

 View Team BC U15 Men’s Field 
Lacrosse Nationals Game Scores  
CLICK HERE 
 
 

 In the U18 Men’s Field 
Lacrosse Nationals First Nations 
Cup our Team BC U18 Team went 
undefeated throughout the 
tournament to capture the Gold 
Medal against Team Ontario by a 
score of 16‐5. 

 View Team BC U18 Men’s Field 
Lacrosse Nationals Game Scores 
CLICK HERE 

 
 

Jenny Kyle Cup – U19 Women’s Field – Team BC Bronze Medalists 

View U19 Women’s Field Lacrosse Nationals Game Scores CLICK HERE

Alumni Cup – U15 Men’s Field – Team BC Gold Medalists

First Nations Cup – U18 Men’s Field – Team BC Gold Medalists
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2022 Team BC District & Provincial Camps Tryout Attendance 

 
2022 Team BC Men’s Field District Camps 2022 Team BC Men’s Field Provincial Camps

o U13:  91 runners, 5 goalies
o U14:  55 runners, 4 goalies 
o U15:   43 runners, 4 goalies 
o U16:   57 runners, 4 goalies 
o U18:  61 runners, 5 goalies 

o U13: 74 runners, 4 goalies 
o U14:  39 runners, 4 goalies 
o U15:  34 runners, 4 goalies 
o U16:  41 runners, 4 goalies 
o U18:  47 runners, 4 goalies 

2022 Team BC Women’s Field Provincial Camps
Middle School: 25 runners, 3 goalies
Freshmen:  33 runners, 1 goalies 
Sophomore: 26 runners, 4 goalies 

Junior:  21 runners, 3 goalies 
Senior:  19 runners, 2 goalies 

2022 Team BC 14U Boys Box District Camps 2022 Team BC 14U Boys Box Provincial Camps
99 runners, 12 goalies  56 runners, 8 runners 

2022 Team BC 14U Boys Box District Camps 2022 Team BC 14U Boys Box Provincial Camps
73 runners, 10 goalies  58 runners, 6 goalies 

2022 Team BC 14U Girls Box Provincial Camps
48 runners, 9 goalies

 
 
 

 

 
League Apps Registration, Payment & Team Management Software 

 
 In 2022 Team BC Lacrosse utilized a new 

registration, payment and team 
management software called League Apps. 

 This implementation began with our Minor 
Box Nationals teams and our Canada 
Summer Games Box teams and has now 
begun with our Field teams with our U13 Men’s Field Team utilizing the software. 

 This software system has enabled Team BC Lacrosse to streamline our registration and payment system 
for our teams through payments using a credit card as well as the ability to setup optional automatic 
credit card payments for up‐coming athlete payments.   

 This system also allows Team BC Lacrosse to capture all of the information that we need from each of our 
athletes including, lacrosse data, health and medical information, contact information, apparel and gear 
sizing and more. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2022 Team BC Lacrosse Program: 
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Error! Hyperlink reference not valid. 

 
Vancouver Warriors 

 BC Lacrosse partnered with the Vancouver Warriors to generate BCLA general fundraising 
revenue from four regular season Vancouver Warriors games 50/50 proceeds, to promote BC 
Lacrosse during Vancouver Warriors Home Games and to provide the BCLA Membership with 
special member pricing for all Vancouver Warriors Home Games.  We look forward to 
continuing to work with you. 

 

Warrior Sports Canada 
 Warrior Sport Canada continued to support BC Lacrosse by sponsoring our Field and Box 

Provincials.  Warrior provided us with our game balls for all of our provincial games, as well 
as MVP packages (Stick heads, backpacks, hats, t‐shirts) and our fair play award hats.  We 
look forward to continuing to work with you. 

 

Silver Ridge Promotions 
  Silver Ridge Promotions Dean Whitson did an incredible job with being prepared for the 

task of creating and selling the official apparel for the 2022 BCLA Field and Box 
Provincials.  We look forward to continuing to work with you. 

 

Xtreme Threads 
 Xtreme Threads was the Provincial Game MVP sponsor for the 2022 BCLA Field Provincials and 

2022 BCLA Minor Box Provincials.  We look to continuing to work with you. 
 

Mountain Edge Lacrosse 
 Mountain Edge Lacrosse has been a great partner to BC Lacrosse providing us with 

our apparel and gear for our Team BC Lacrosse Program.  Thanks to Mike and 
Jaana for your hard work.  We look forward to continuing to work with you. 

 

Impact Canopies 
 BC Lacrosse recently partnered with Impact Canopies to provide us with new branded 

event marketing materials that will raise the profile of our events in 2023 and will provide 
our members with preferred partner pricing for all of your tenting, canopy and signage 
needs.  We look forward to working with you. 

 
 

 

Seeking New Partners & Sponsors 
 If you are interested in partnering with BC Lacrosse or sponsoring one of our events or program we would 

like to hear from you. 
 Contact me at matt@bclacrosse.com or by phone at 604‐421‐9755 ext. 4. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2022 BC Lacrosse Partnerships: 
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BC Lacrosse Staff & Board of Directors 
 A sincere thanks to my BCLA staff colleagues in welcoming me to the team in my first year with the 

organization.  You have been very helpful, knowledgeable and made coming to work everyday fun!  The 
BCLA staff is extremely hardworking and have significant passion for the work they do, which shows in the 
programs, services and events that we run. 
 

 Thanks to the BCLA Board of Directors for your leadership and guidance during what was an intense 
reopening of sports activities.  It is important to remember that the Board of Directors are volunteers and 
that they give up their time to develop and govern the sport of Lacrosse in BC. 

 
Team BC Lacrosse Coaches & Managers 

 Thanks to all of our 2022 Team BC Box & Field Lacrosse Coaches and Managers for the time that you give 
to the program.  Our athletes are very fortunate to have such passionate and caring Coaches and 
Managers to help them along their high performance journey. 

 
Club Volunteers & Coaches 

 Club volunteers and coaches are the heart and core of our sport in this province.  Without these 
volunteers we wouldn’t be able to operate.  A sincere thanks to the people who volunteer countless hours 
to their local club whether or be as a club executive, coach or parent volunteer.  Keep your passion for the 
sport of lacrosse going! 

 
Officials 

 Thank you to the Men and Woman who contribute to our sport by officiating.  Your passion for the game 
is clear in every game you officiate and I would like to thank you for your contributions.  
 

 

 

Thanks to All for a Great Lacrosse Season! 



BC Lacrosse Association 
2022 Annual General Meeting 

October 15, 2022 
BCLA Indigenous Provincial Coach/Regional Coach Report:  Bryan Baxter 

 
Mainstream Programming 
Lacrosse is slowly coming back into the forefront as we begin to leave the pandemic behind us. I 
want to thank everyone on the BCLA executive and the office for their tireless work in getting 
lacrosse back on track. 
  
During the course of the 2021 and 2022 lacrosse year I conducted 1 CMD Box coaching clinic in 
person with a total of 22 coaches trained in the classroom portion of the CMD clinic. During the 
on floor session of this clinic, 6 coaches who had previously attended an online clinic were also 
trained. 
 
I attended some of the VIMLC and the VIFLL meetings during the course of the year. During 
my attendance at these meetings I relay any pertinent information coming from the BCLA and 
CLA offices pertaining mainly to coaching, Team BC and Indigenous Development. 
 
Indigenous Development 
In partnership with the Indigenous Sport, Physical Activity and Recreation Council (I SPARC) 
we continued on a mandate of conducting Spirit Lacrosse Programs throughout BC.  The 
program is modeled after the Lacrosse Fits Program that was developed by Kylo Harris and 
Dave Little out of Winnipeg. The program uses lacrosse skills and Fundamental Movement 
Skills as the backbone of the program. 
 
There were several Spirit Lacrosse Programs conducted this year as well as school visits in 
Ashcroft, Lytton and Lillooet. 
 
Assisted with the Team Indigenous for the BC Summer Games. It has been a real honour and 
privilege to be able to put an all Indigenous team into these past 2 games. 
 
I have retired from the Indigenous Development role with BCLA and will continue to do 
coaching clinics as both an MCD and Coach Developer 
 
Personal Development 
I have completed all parts of the Competition Development coach training and now only require 
the evaluation process to complete.  
 
Attended the ISPARC Regional Engagement Meeting for Vancouver Island online. 
 
Respectfully submitted 
 
Bryan Baxter 
BCLA Indigenous Provincial Coach/Regional Coach 



BC Lacrosse Association 

2022 Senior Directorate Special Session Meeting 

October 1, 2022 

BCLA Senior Directorate Chair Report:  Dave Wilkie 
 

I would like to thank all the commissioners and leagues for getting lacrosse up running this year, 

it was great to see some games this year. 

It was a very busy year for hearings and appeals this year, I would like to thank all of who helped 

out in the many hearings, I hope next year there is not as many.  Abuse of officials is still very 

high and we need to fix that so we do not lose any of them. 

I would to thank the members of the Senior Directorate for all their hard work and commitment 

and Terry and everyone who helped at the different Provincials this year. 

A big thanks goes to the BCLA staff for keeping us posted and help myself and all the teams. 

I hope to see everyone at a lacrosse game next year. 

 

Dave Wilkie 

Chair Senior Directorate  



BC Lacrosse Association 
2022 Minor Directorate Special Session 

October 1, 2022 
BCLA Minor Directorate Chair Report:  Gord McIntosh 

 
It was a pleasure to see box lacrosse back up and running in 2022. I had naively hoped that with 
the 2 year absence, coaches and parents would come back a little more relaxed and appreciative. 
That wasn’t the case. It is disappointing to continue to see the embarrassing behaviour of some 
of the coaches and parents. While mostly directed at officials, it also disturbingly included 
individual players that were called out and harassed via social media. One of the consistent 
messages from all zones in BC is that registration was down, volunteers were hard to find and we 
continue to lose officials. We need to remove the coaches/families that continue to give your 
associations and lacrosse a bad name. Firm up your policy where you can to deal with these 
coaches and families.  
 
It was so good to see our provincial championships back. There were 4 provincial championships 
hosted on 2 consecutive weekends in July. They were a bit earlier than we would like due to it 
being a BC Summer Games year and having to get box lacrosse completed prior to the BC 
Summer Games. 2023 should allow us an extra week or 2 of games for the regular season. Our 
provincial championship hosts did a wonderful job of hosting and we thank them very much for 
stepping up and allowing us to put on the provincials. 
 
We are pushing hard for a return to an in-person AGM to be held in Whistler in 2023. We hear 
across the province of the challenge in getting and keeping volunteers. We hear from all zones 
how important it has been in the past and is as important now to recognize and reward our 
volunteers. Our annual AGM in Whistler is the best way to do this and we want it back. 
 
There are 19 people (17 now, as we have 2 zone rep vacancies) that make up the Minor 
Directorate and I thank each one of them for their time and dedication to lacrosse in BC. They 
have been a patient and supportive group to work with and always have a view to what is best for 
lacrosse in the province, not just their league, zone or commission. We have not met in person 
since January 2020 and we will be getting back to meeting in person for our November or 
January meeting. There are quite a few new members of our minor directorate that I haven’t met 
in person. This is not the best way for us to move forward and needs to change. 
 
 
Thank you to the BCLA staff of Jeff, Dave, Matt and Deb in helping me get through another box 
lacrosse season as minor directorate chair. You are a treat to work with and we appreciate your 
efforts.  
 
 
Regards, 
Gord McIntosh 
BCLA Minor Directorate Chair 



BC Lacrosse Association 
Field Directorate Special Session 

April 9, 2022 
BCLA Field Directorate Chair Report:  Beth McLucas 

 
Another year of the pandemic but at least some leagues were able to play some games. 
 
Island struggles with their female program, and maybe it is time to look at having PCFLL teams 
go over and play games to help them get up and running. Just like how box does. 
 
After the PHO order came out in January and we still could not have sporting events, the FD met 
and decided to look at another option to have provincials this year since they did not happen 
2021. The hosts were able to get Field times in March for Youth and U11, which we booked. We 
made this announcement and informed everyone giving the teams an option to back out without 
penalties and fines. We felt this was the best choose as the other option was cancelling 
provincials all together. 
 
We did have teams not re-apply and only 1 team at U13 tier 1 so we didn’t hold a U13 tier 1 
provincials, but we did have U18 T1,T2 U15 T1, T2, & U13 T2 Thank you to Langley for 
hosting the Youth provincials, they did a good job. Thank you to Mary and Dylan from the FD 
for stepping up and being the FD convenors for these provincials. We had no issues all weekend 
and not one game report.  
 
Thank you to Matt and Dave for being at all the provincials posting the scores and taking 
pictures,  Deb thank you for sending out all the information  to all the  teams and fixing up my 
schedules. 
 
Ridge hosted the women’s provincials and we kept them at the original weekend as planned, 
with the understanding if the PHO ordered didn’t change they would be cancelled, the PHO 
order was lifted too late for youth but the women’s went ahead. Thank you to Ridge for hosting 
as well as Thank you to Kellie for being the FD convenor. 
 
The U11 year-end tournament will be happening this weekend coming. Ridge is hosting this 
event we have Trish and Angie being the FD convenors for this event. 
 
Now the PHO orders have been lifted the FD will continue on hosting our meeting by zoom, as it 
will help with our Island and Interior reps from travelling for meetings especially with the gas 
prices. 
 
We hope that BCLA will go back to in person for the AGM and Special session for 2023 since 
we are not for 2022, as this is a great event to meet all reps from all over BC and have many 
discussions on how to grow our field lacrosse game. 
 
Thank you to all the players ,coaches, club reps, the FD members as well as everyone at the 
BCLA office for working through the pandemic and getting back to playing field lacrosse and 
having a provincial this year. 
 
Beth McLucas 
BCLA Field Directorate Chair 



BCLCTG Chair Report 
September 10, 2022 

 
The 2022 Lacrosse season has been very challenging in many ways.  With a return to play the 
focus should have been on development of our coaches, officials and recruitment of players.  I 
do not believe we hit the mark on these and instead our focus in general was a “return to 
normal play” approach.  The issue with this is that the coaching/officiating and player numbers 
were not the focus and as such led to a significant degradation of the overall lacrosse 
experience for many.  

1. Online coaching was something we had to implement in 2021 for COVID.  We have 
moved away from this model but it needs to be revisited.  We need to make the training 
more accessible, without watering this down.  Unfortunately the theme of the CLA 
office being unsupportive and non-existent at the grassroots in common in our sector.   
 

2. There was little initiative taken by our technical group in regards to provincial PD.  We 
were involve with Ontario during COVID but that subsided when they had staff turnover.  
We need to revisit this online seminar series for our province.   I will discuss during our 
meeting and try to develop a committee to work on this.    
 

3. Referee Issues: The referee abuse this year was intolerable.  I felt like we are on a 
positive trend 2 years ago and this year went sideways.  I believe that this has happened 
for a number of reasons: 
 

a. Over-worked officials- We had a significant decline in officials and as such 
overused the ones we had.   

b. Coach Training Deficiency- I don’t think our organization as a whole discussed 
the post-covid approach and instead clubs were left to flounder.  We did not 
recertify coaches or send out any direction.   

c. Commissioner Training - I also think commissioners need to be trained better 
and given more examples and instruction on dealing with things.   

d. Coaches not getting the message – I also think the local clubs are not conveying 
the “no tolerance” policy to their coaches.  I again believe a fine system on the 
club is a discussion item to put more onus on the club to train their coaches and 
pick them with more diligence.   

 

Challenges 

There are some significant challenges facing our coaches group still. I have noted some below: 



1. CLA Office and Lack of Direction:  This is an absolute key issue moving forward.  In 25 
years I have never worked with a more inefficient and misguided organization.  The CLA 
has no direction, no accountability and, in my opinion, does not care about the 
grassroots coach.  We feel as though this may be changing but it is a very inoperable 
group with not much trickling down to the MA and coaches.   
 

2. Clear Direction for BCLCTG:  There is no clear direction for this technical group.  For the 
past 5 years I have tried to spearhead new projects and movements and there is a lack 
of definition between our group, our local MA and the BCLA office.  Who is in charge of 
what?  What can we work on together? What support do the volunteers have?  What 
can we rely on?  This needs to be addressed in short order.  I am not criticizing the BCLA 
office at all, Dave has been amazing and was integral in the National Coaching Series.  I 
am however frustrated with the lack of direction or collaborative working between the 
groups noted.  I think we should prioritize this.  I think the BCLA executive needs to 
commit funds to building some coaching resources for our membership, once complete 
our membership can work financially to build it out.  
 

My personal life has changed dramatically in the past 18 months and specifically the past 12.  I 
have had some major changes personally, professionally I have opened my own law firm in a 
few locations and have recently added ownership and managing partner duties with the Albany 
NLL team to my portfolio.  This past season was a struggle timewise for me. My office was 300% 
busier then in previous years, my kids are busy and the Albany FireWolves require time.  I had 
two lawyers go on maternity leave which put much on my plate.  I do feel as though I am 
managing better and will keep my name forward unless there is another good candidate.    

 

Thanks 

Russ Sheppard 



 

BC Lacrosse Association 

2022 Officials Technical Support Group Special Session Meeting 

September 10, 2022 

BCLA Chair BC Lacrosse Officials Technical Support Group: Andy Watson 

 

Hello friends in lacrosse, 

In my first year as chair of officiating for the BC Lacrosse Officials Technical Support Group 

(BCLOTSG), I was overwhelmed by the sheer amount of work our leadership team puts in each and 

every year. I want to extend particular thanks to the past chair, Lee Brien, for his efforts over multiple 

terms in this role. I also want to extend my sincere thanks to Wilson Louie, the outgoing Vice-Chair, 

Minor Box, for his dedication and selfless support for officials in our province during his six years in his 

role. In addition, sincere thanks to Sean Lehman (Vice-Chair, Senior Box), Ryan Nose (Vice-Chair, 

Men’s Field), Angie Reid (Vice-Chair, Women’s Field), Doug Wright (Director-at-Large), and Andrew 

Corbould (Secretary-Treasurer) for their tireless work in their positions on the BCLOTSG executive. 

In our first year transitioning back to full play since the start of the COVID-19 pandemic, we were faced 

with challenges around staffing. A shortage of officials – particularly at the L2 and up level – created 

challenges for allocators, schedulers, RICs, and organizers from all facets of our game. I’m tremendously 

proud of the smaller-than-normal group of officials who stepped up to make sure most games were 

covered. Speaking with chairs in other bigger provinces, I can safely say we managed this challenge with 

innovation and creative thinking that led to fewer games being cancelled relative to what we saw in other 

provinces (notably Alberta, Ontario and Quebec). 

That said, we need a long-term solution for referee recruitment and retention. Abuse continues to plague 

our indoor game, and we also face a labour-market challenge in retaining officials who are lured away by 

jobs with higher pay, less abuse and more flexibility in hours. We will be proposing some long-term 

solutions focussed on pay, travel (gas prices were a major deterrent for travel for many officials this past 

box season), and accountability for abusive coaches at the upcoming AGM. 

Once again, we were faced with challenges around delivery of clinics with facilities limiting access for 

outside parties – working with the office staff we were able to offer hybrid learning opportunities. It is our 

belief in B.C. that we need to look to a year-round learning opportunities moving forward. We also ran 

into issues of people not wanting to return due to the uncertainty of the pandemic and because of 

newfound hobbies discovered during two relatively quieter lacrosse seasons. 

I’m proud of our representation of officials at the national level. I’d like to publicly acknowledge our 

officials for national, international and major events since September of 2021: 

 BOX LACROSSE: Mann Cup – TBD (not published at time of submitting this report);Cameron 

Anderson and Nick Thomas; Minto Cup – Riley Lo; Presidents Cup – Braden Wilkins and Jacoby 

Krassman (Sean Lehman RIC); Founders Cup – Jarrett Smith; Canada Summer Games (Male) – 

Tyler Boyer, Vince Burelle, Jason Syrotuck and Ryan White (Andy Watson RIC); Canada 

Summer Games (Female) – Josh Beauregard and Corey Lister; BC Summer Games – Cameron 

Anderson (RIC), Josh Beauregard, Julia Diemand, Austin Goertz, Bill Hudyma, Jaysen MacLean, 

Gino Pagliericci, Spencer Pollock; Minor Box Lacrosse Nationals in Langley – Adam Donald, 

Angie Reid, Jaysen MacLean, Spencer Pollock, Kody George, Arjan Singh, Josh Beauregard; 

EUROPEAN INDOOR CHAMPIONSHIPS: Keith Gagne. 

 FIELD LACROSSE: U21 World Men’s – Ryan Nose, Lee Brien, Cam McCullough; 

SeniorU15/U18 Men’s Nationals – Lee Brien, Cam McCullough, Ryan Nose, Nico Beaudoin, 



Rob Cook, Wes Tyre Joe Smith; BC Summer Games – Rob Cook (RIC), Ryan Nose, Ted 

Baranyai, Ryder Bremner, Joe Smith, Wes Tyre. 

 SIXES: World Games, Birmingham – Ryan Nose. 

As we shift into the next season with field clinics now scheduled, we will be focusing on five areas as an 

executive team: 

 Retention of officials: pay, travel and recognition will be focal points; we have developed a 

recruitment and retention plan to support this for minor clubs. 

 Recruitment of new officials: in particular, how do we recruit adults; per above, we have 

developed a recruitment and retention plan that will help to support this work. 

 Year-round education: focus on influencing at the national level on training, educational and 

information resources; enhancing our clinic for L3-5 referees in indoor/outdoor lacrosse. 

 Professional development opportunities: looking for year-round engagement of officials. 

 Recognition and Communication: in support of the four points above, how do we meaningfully 

recognize the efforts of our officials and volunteers; enhance the use of communications channels 

(digital and traditional) to promote the officiating sector; ensure the transparency of opportunities 

for officials to grow and develop in all sectors. 

A special thanks to Deb, Dave, Matt and Jeff at the BCLA Office – without the support and coordination 

from our PSO team, we’d be lost. Deb and Dave, in particular, thanks for your patience with me as I 

learned the ropes over the past 12 months. 

I’m looking forward to seeing some new ideas and momentum come to fruition for the 2022-23 lacrosse 

season and working with the various sectors to help grow our game, address gaps, and find solutions to 

the challenges we have faced in recent years. 

Yours in lacrosse, 

 

Andy Watson 

Chair, BC Lacrosse Officials Technical Support Group 
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17th floor, 1030 West Georgia St., Vancouver, BC, Canada V6E 2Y3

Tel:  604. 714. 3600   Fax:  604. 714. 3669   Web: manningelliott.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Members of British Columbia Lacrosse Association

Report on the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of British Columbia Lacrosse Association (the "Association"),
which comprise the statement of financial position as at August 31, 2022, and the statements of changes
in fund balances, operations and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Association as at August 31, 2022, and the results of its operations and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Association in accordance
with ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information, comprising of Schedules 1 and 2, other than the
financial statements and our audit engagement report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance opinion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Association's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Association or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
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17th floor, 1030 West Georgia St., Vancouver, BC, Canada V6E 2Y3

Tel:  604. 714. 3600   Fax:  604. 714. 3669   Web: manningelliott.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Association's financial reporting
process.

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Association’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Association’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors'
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors' report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Association to cease to
continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

As required by the British Columbia Societies Act, we report that, in our opinion, the accounting policies
applied in preparing and presenting the financial statements in accordance with Canadian accounting
standards for not-for-profit organizations have been applied on a basis consistent with that of the
preceding year.

Chartered Professional Accountants

Vancouver, British Columbia

October 7, 2022  
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BRITISH COLUMBIA LACROSSE ASSOCIATION

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT AUGUST 31, 2022

2022 2021

ASSETS

CURRENT
Cash - operating $ 939,027 $ 671,662
Accounts receivable (Note 4) 97,822 18,928
Inventory 139,622 92,250
Prepaid expenses and deposits 31,554 6,994

1,208,025 789,834
RESTRICTED CASH AND TERM DEPOSITS:
     GAMING FUND (Note 3) 195,322 1,376
     WAYNE GOSS SCHOLARSHIP FUND 5,409 7,463
     TED FRIDGE SCHOLARSHIP FUND 6,990 7,527
     DOROTHY ROBERTSON BURSARY FUND 17,615 18,169
     GENE REGIER SCHOLARSHIP FUND 814 2,966
     J MCCREADY FAMILY SCHOLARSHIP FUND 889 -
CAPITAL ASSETS (Note 5) 4,633 7,722

  
$ 1,439,697 $ 835,057

LIABILITIES

CURRENT
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 25,497 $ 11,025
Refundable bond hosts 500 500
Deferred revenue (Note 6) 208,141 131,532

234,138 143,057

DEFERRED CONTRIBUTIONS RELATED TO CAPITAL
ASSETS (Note 7) 4,633 7,722

238,771 150,779

FUND BALANCES
Unrestricted Operating Fund 973,887 646,777
Gaming Fund 195,322 1,376
Wayne Goss Scholarship Fund 5,409 7,463
Ted Fridge Scholarship Fund 6,990 7,527
Dorothy Robertson Bursary Fund 17,615 18,169
Gene Regier Scholarship Fund 814 2,966
J McCready Family Scholarship Fund 889 -

1,200,926 684,278

$ 1,439,697 $ 835,057

COMMITMENTS (Note 8)   

Approved by the Board

_____________________________ Director     
 

See notes to financial statements
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BRITISH COLUMBIA LACROSSE ASSOCIATION

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

Unrestricted
Operating Gaming

Wayne Goss
Scholarship

Ted Fridge
Scholarship

Dorothy
Robertson

Bursary
Gene Regier
Scholarship

J McCready
Family

Scholarship 2022 2021
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Total Total

FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING
OF YEAR $ 646,777 $ 1,376 $ 7,463 $ 7,527 $ 18,169 $ 2,966 $ - $ 684,278 $ 493,153

 
Excess (deficiency) of revenue
over expenses for the year 327,110 193,946 (2,054) (537) (554) (2,152) 889 516,648 191,125                  

FUND BALANCES - END OF
YEAR

    
$ 973,887 $ 195,322

   
$ 5,409

   
$ 6,990

    
$ 17,615

    
$ 814

    
$ 889

    
$ 1,200,926

  
$ 684,278

 

 
See notes to financial statements
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BRITISH COLUMBIA LACROSSE ASSOCIATION

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

2022 2021

REVENUE
Team BC program $ 1,448,320 $ 147,021
Minor registration 336,509 249,701
Community gaming grant (Note 3) 184,000 -
Provincial government grant 169,691 169,691
Senior registration 148,201 25,055
Field registration 145,727 75,660
Clinics 121,190 41,357
Championships 112,493 100
Other grants 34,500 -
Indigenous Lacrosse program grant 27,000 -
Coaches registration 20,523 15,690
Officials registration 8,760 4,800
Miscellaneous 2,150 3,153
Amortization of deferred contributions related to capital

assets (Note 7) 3,089 3,089
Fundraising and donations 2,100 760

2,764,253 736,077

EXPENSES
Programs (Schedule 1) 1,849,440 166,441
Services (Schedule 1) 145,957 88,052
Administration and program support (Schedule 2) 484,756 368,453
Meetings and related expenses (Schedule 2) 15,256 3,686

2,495,409 626,632

EXCESS OF REVENUE OVER EXPENSES FROM OPERATIONS 268,844 109,445

OTHER INCOME  
Lacrosse Canada COVID-19 funding 195,104 -
Canadian Heritage Emergency grant 52,700 -
Canada Emergency Business Account loan

forgivable portion - 10,000
Canada Emergency Rent Subsidy - 2,805
Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy - 68,875

247,804 81,680

EXCESS OF REVENUE OVER EXPENSES
FOR THE YEAR $ 516,648 $ 191,125

 

 
See notes to financial statements
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BRITISH COLUMBIA LACROSSE ASSOCIATION

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

2022 2021

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
 Excess of revenue over expenses for the year $ 516,648 $ 191,125
 Items not affecting cash:

 Amortization of capital assets 3,089 3,089
 Amortization of deferred contributions related to capital assets (3,089) (3,089)
 Canada Emergency Business Account loan forgivable portion - (10,000)

 516,648 181,125

 Changes in non-cash working capital: 
 Accounts receivable (78,894) 65,791
 Inventory (47,372) 9,977
 Prepaid expenses and deposits (24,560) 36,021
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 14,472 (5,128)
 Deferred revenue 76,609 104,891

(59,745) 211,552
     

 456,903 392,677
     

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
 (Increase) decrease in restricted cash (189,538) 268
 Repayment of bank indebtedness - (30,000)
     

 (189,538) (29,732)
     

CHANGE IN CASH DURING THE YEAR 267,365 362,945

CASH - BEGINNING OF YEAR 671,662 308,717
     

CASH - END OF YEAR $ 939,027 $ 671,662
   

 
See notes to financial statements
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BRITISH COLUMBIA LACROSSE ASSOCIATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

PURPOSE OF THE ASSOCIATION   

British Columbia Lacrosse Association (the "Association") is a not-for-profit organization incorporated
provincially under the British Columbia Societies Act. The Association is a not-for-profit organization
under the Income Tax Act (Canada) and as such is exempt from income taxes. Its principal purpose is to
build, develop and administer the sport of lacrosse in British Columbia.

During 2020, a global health pandemic was declared due to the COVID-19 virus, which has had a
significant impact on economic and social activity through the restrictions put in place by various levels of
government regarding travel, organizations operations and isolation/quarantine orders. At this time, the
extent of the impact that the COVID-19 health pandemic may have on the Association is unknown and
will depend on future developments that are highly uncertain and that cannot be predicted with
confidence. The Association received funding from Lacrosse Canada to provide relief due to the financial
impact of COVID-19 and to assist with succession planning as the COVID-19 pandemic will continue to
affect the Canadian lacrosse community.  The Association continues to monitor its cash reserves and will
make all necessary adjustments to maintain its financial position.

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES         

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards
for not-for-profit organizations (“ASNPO”) under Part III of the CPA Canada Handbook - Accounting.
Financial statements prepared in accordance with ASNPO are also in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP").

These financial statements have, in management's opinion, been prepared within reasonable limits
of materiality using the significant accounting policies noted below:

(a) Fund balances

Revenue and expenses related to program delivery and administrative activities are reported in
the Unrestricted Operating Fund.

Revenue and expenses related to the Gaming Fund are reported in the Gaming Fund.

Revenue and expenses related to restricted scholarship and bursary funds are reported in
separate restricted funds. The Wayne Goss, Ted Fridge, Gene Regier, and J McCready Family
Scholarship Funds are funds established by the Association to provide lacrosse players with
annual scholarships towards post-secondary education. The Dorothy Robertson Bursary Fund is
a fund established by the family of Dorothy Robertson to provide lacrosse players with annual
bursaries.

(b) Cash

Cash consists of cash on deposit. Cash subject to restrictions that prevents its use for current
purposes is excluded from current assets and presented as a long-term asset in the statement
of financial position, as well as excluded for cash flow purposes.

(c) Inventory

Inventory consists of educational materials for officials and coaches, as well as jerseys and
branded merchandise for resale. Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and replacement cost.

 
8



BRITISH COLUMBIA LACROSSE ASSOCIATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Capital assets  

Equipment is stated at cost and amortized over its useful life on a straight-line basis over 5
years.

The Association’s policy is to record a write-down to a capital asset's fair value or replacement
cost when conditions indicate that a capital asset is impaired. Such conditions include when the
Association’s value of future economic benefits or service potential associated with the capital
asset is less than its net carrying amount. Write-downs are recognized as an expense in the
statement of operations and are not reversed.

(e) Revenue recognition

The Association follows the the deferral method of accounting for contributions. Restricted
contributions are recognized as revenue in the year in which the related expenses are incurred.
Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue when received or receivable if the amount
to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 

Player, coaches and officials registration and other program fees are recorded in the period they
are received. Certain sources of grant income are restricted for use towards specific programs,
and are therefore recognized in the period in which the related program, events or services are
provided.

Deferred revenue represents operating funding received in the current year that is designated
for future periods. Deferred contributions related to capital assets represent restricted
contributions that have been received to purchase capital assets.  These contributions are
amortized and recognized as revenue on the same basis as the amortization expense related to
the acquired capital asset.

(f) Contributed services and materials

Contributed services are not recognized in the financial statements due to the difficulty of
determining their fair value. Contributed materials are recognized only when their fair value can
be reasonably estimated and when the materials are used in the normal course of operations
and would otherwise have been purchased (see Note 9).

(g) Use of estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for
not-for-profit organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions about
future events that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses as at
the end of or during the reporting period. Management believes that the estimates used are
reasonable and prudent, however, actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant
areas requiring the use of management estimates relate to the valuation of accounts receivable,
the determination of the useful lives of capital assets used for the calculation of amortization and
the determination of the amounts recorded as accrued liabilities and the measurement of
deferred revenue and deferred contributions related to capital assets.
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BRITISH COLUMBIA LACROSSE ASSOCIATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Financial instruments   

i)     Measurement

The Association's financial instruments consist of cash, restricted cash and term deposits,
accounts receivable and accounts payable.

The Association initially measures all of its financial assets and liabilities at fair value, except for
certain non-arm's length transactions. The Association subsequently measures all of its financial
assets and liabilities at amortized cost.

ii)    Impairment

Financial assets measured at cost are tested for impairment when there are indicators of
impairment. The amount of any write-down that is determined is recognized in the statement of
operations. A previously recognized impairment loss may be reversed to the extent of any
improvement, provided it is no greater than the amount that would have been reported at the
date of the reversal had the impairment not been recognized previously. The amount of the
reversal is recognized in the statement of operations in the period in which it is determined.

iii)    Transaction costs

Transaction costs are recognized in the statement of operations in the period incurred, except
for financial instruments that will be subsequently measured at amortized cost. Transactions
costs associated with financial instruments measured at amortized cost are capitalized and are
included in the acquisition cost or deducted against proceeds on disposal.

2. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISKS          

The Association's financial instruments are described in Note 1(h). The Association is exposed to
various risks through its financial instruments and has a comprehensive risk management framework
to monitor, evaluate and mange these risks. The following analysis provides information about the
Association's risk exposure. There has been no significant change in risk exposures from prior year.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the potential that a counter party will fail to perform its obligations. The
Association is exposed to credit risk through its accounts receivable. The Association has
numerous members which mitigate the risk and any such losses have been within management's
expectations. The accounts receivable due from members are offset with an allowance for
doubtful accounts of $3,127 (2021 - $3,682). 

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities. The Association is exposed to this risk as it relates to its accounts payable.The
Association pro-actively works with its funders, vendors and creditors to manage any disruption to
its regular balance of working capital and anticipates that its cash reserves will adequately
minimize liquidity risk. 
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BRITISH COLUMBIA LACROSSE ASSOCIATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

2. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISKS (continued)

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices.  Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk,
interest rate risk and other price risk. The Association is not exposed to market risk.

3. COMMUNITY GAMING GRANT           

2022 2021

Balance at beginning of year $ 1,376   $ 1,470
Grant received in the year 378,000   -
Less: expenses incurred in the year (184,054)  (94)

     Balance at end of year $ 195,322 $ 1,376

The community gaming grant received from the Gaming Policy and Enforcement Branch - British
Columbia must be spent according to the rules of the British Columbia Gaming Policy and
Enforcement Branch. Funds related to this grant are maintained in a separate bank account.

4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE          

2022 2021

Dues and registration fees receivable $ 100,949   $ 22,610
Allowance for doubtful accounts (3,127)  (3,682)

$ 97,822 $ 18,928

5. CAPITAL ASSETS           

 

2022 2021
  Accumulated   Net book Net book

Cost   amortization   value value

Equipment $ 15,445    $ 10,812    $ 4,633 $ 7,722

Amortization expense of $3,089 (2021 - $3,089) is included in programs expenses in the statement
of operations.
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BRITISH COLUMBIA LACROSSE ASSOCIATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

6. DEFERRED REVENUE            

2022 2021

Balance at beginning of year $ 131,532   $ 26,641
Contributions received in the year 208,141   119,032
Less contributions recognized as revenue during the year (131,532)  (14,141)

     Balance at end of year $ 208,141 $ 131,532

7. DEFERRED CONTRIBUTIONS RELATED TO CAPITAL ASSETS            

2022 2021

Balance at beginning of year $ 7,722   $ 10,811
Less contributions recognized as revenue during the year (3,089)  (3,089)

     Balance at end of year $ 4,633 $ 7,722

8. COMMITMENTS    

The Association has entered into a business premises and storage lease until February 28, 2025.
The minimum annual lease payments for the remaining term of the lease are anticipated to be as
follows:
  

2023 $ 33,143
2024 34,584
2025 17,292

$ 85,019

9. CONTRIBUTED MATERIALS    

For the year ended August 31, 2022, sponsors and advertisers contributed materials with a cost of
$26,235 (2021 - $Nil). The contributed materials were recorded as revenue and expenses in various
accounts on the statement of operations. 

10. REMUNERATION PAID TO EMPLOYEES AND DIRECTORS    

For the fiscal year ended August 31, 2022, the Association provided remuneration of $6,250 (2021 -
$Nil) to three directors for coaching services rendered. During the current year, one employee
earned over $75,000 for a total of $91,773 (2021 - one employee for a total of $85,000).
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BRITISH COLUMBIA LACROSSE ASSOCIATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

11. ENDOWMENT FUNDS HELD BY VANCOUVER FOUNDATION     

The Association has established two Endowment Funds with the Vancouver Foundation, the capital
of which are permanently invested with and administered by the Vancouver Foundation and
therefore not presented in these financial statements. The Association is eligible to receive the
income earned by the endowment funds as paid by the Vancouver Foundation from time to time, but
has not earned any income in the current or previous period.

As at August 31, 2022, the British Columbia Lacrosse Association Jack Crosby Endowment Fund
had an invested capital balance of $33,748 (2021 - $32,034) and a market value of $38,443 (2021 -
$41,332). The Bill McBain Endowment Fund has an invested capital balance of $16,795 (2021 -
$15,835) and a market value of $22,152 (2021 - $23,845).

12. COMPARATIVE FIGURES    

Certain of the comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year's
presentation. Such reclassification does not have any effect on the total assets, total liabilities, total
fund balances or excess of revenue over expenses for the year previously reported.
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BRITISH COLUMBIA LACROSSE ASSOCIATION

PROGRAMS AND SERVICES
(Schedule 1)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(UNAUDITED)

2022 2021

Programs
Team BC program $ 1,280,983  $ 117,043  

Championships 323,861  17,467  

Clinics 154,169  19,235  

Athlete development 56,838  9,607  

Indigenous Lacrosse program 30,500  -  

Amortization of capital assets 3,089  3,089  

1,849,440 166,441

Services
Insurance 106,188  56,427  

Resource materials 17,254  17,056  

Lacrosse on the Move travel grants (recovery) 15,500  (1,100) 

Advertising and public relations 7,015  15,669  

145,957 88,052

$ 1,995,397 $ 254,493

 
See notes to financial statements
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BRITISH COLUMBIA LACROSSE ASSOCIATION

ADMINISTRATION AND PROGRAM SUPPORT, MEETINGS AND RELATED EXPENSES
(Schedule 2)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(UNAUDITED)

2022 2021

Administration and program support
Salaries and benefits $ 324,023  $ 253,032  

Rent 50,692  44,150  

Telephone, printing, postage and supplies 51,876  26,476  

On-line registration 36,893  30,135  

Professional fees 15,847  12,110  

Memberships 5,425  2,550  

484,756 368,453

Meetings and related expenses
CLA meetings (recovery) 13,170  (4,030) 

AGM/special sessions (BCLA, minor/senior/field directorates,
coaches, officials) 1,336  7,659  

Member meetings (board, minor/senior/field directorates, coaches,
officials) 750  57  

15,256 3,686

$ 500,012 $ 372,139

 
See notes to financial statements
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BC LACROSSE ASSOCIATION 

2022 PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE  

BCLA CONSTITUTION AND BY-LAWS 

Proposed by Gerry Van Beek, BCLA Board – President 

Motion: 

Change all references of “Canadian Lacrosse Association” & “CLA” in all BCLA documents 

including but not limited to the BCLA Constitution & By-Laws and all BCLA Operating Policies to 

“Lacrosse Canada” & “LC”. 

Rationale: The “Canadian Lacrosse Association” changed its name to “Lacrosse Canada”. Using 

Canadian Lacrosse Association or CLA is incorrect. 

Proposed by Gerry Van Beek, BCLA Board – President 

Motion: 

Change all Minor Lacrosse Age Category designations to the Lacrosse Canada Age Category 

nomenclature. 

All references to: 

“Midget” and “16U” change to read “U17” 

“Bantam” and “14U” change to read “U15” 

“PeeWee” and “12U” change to read “U13” 

“Novice” and “10U” change to read “U11” 

“Tyke” and “8U” change to read “U9” 

“Mini-Tyke” and “6U” change to read “U7” 

Rationales: BCLA must remove the word “Midget” from our sport because the word is simply 

wrong and derogatory. Being consistent with Lacrosse Canada age designations for Minor Box 

Lacrosse. 

*NOTE: No change to age categories 

Effects By-Law Number I: DEFINITIONS, Sections 10 & 11 
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B.C. LACROSSE ASSOCIATION 

2022 PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE  

BCLA GENERAL OPERATING POLICY 

Proposed by Gerry Van Beek, BCLA Board – President 

Motion: 

Change all references of “Canadian Lacrosse Association” & “CLA” in all BCLA documents 

including but not limited to the BCLA Constitution & By-Laws and all BCLA Operating Policies to 

“Lacrosse Canada” & “LC”. 

Rationale: The “Canadian Lacrosse Association” changed its name to “Lacrosse Canada”. Using 

Canadian Lacrosse Association or CLA is incorrect. 

Proposed by Gerry Van Beek, BCLA Board – President 

Motion: 

Change all Minor Lacrosse Age Category designations to the Lacrosse Canada Age Category 

nomenclature. 

All references to: 

“Midget” and “16U” change to read “U17” 

“Bantam” and “14U” change to read “U15” 

“PeeWee” and “12U” change to read “U13” 

“Novice” and “10U” change to read “U11” 

“Tyke” and “8U” change to read “U9” 

“Mini-Tyke” and “6U” change to read “U7” 

Rationales: BCLA must remove the word “Midget” from our sport because the word is simply wrong 

and derogatory. Being consistent with Lacrosse Canada age designations for Minor Box Lacrosse. 

*NOTE: No change to age categories 

Effects this list (and others not included in this list):  

Senior Directorate Regulations 5.05, 6.02, 6.03, 7.03, 23 

Minor Directorate Regulations 2.01, 5.03, 5.04, 5.05, 6.02, 7.02, 10.01, 12.04, 12.05, 14.01 

Officials Technical Support Group 11.02, Appendix 1 
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Proposed by Angie Schwan, BCLA Board – Vice President, Administration and Finance 

REGULATION 5:  TRAVEL, 5.01 (iv) – currently reads: 

5.01 Travel expenses will be paid by the Association as follows: 

 (iv) Other travel --as authorized by the Executive, and in the amount of:  

Mileage – Local travel (city driving) - .49c per km 

Mileage – Long distance (highway) travel - .30c per km 

Every effort must be made to keep costs down when travelling to and from meetings, 

events, etc.  It is expected that if air travel and/or renting a vehicle is less expensive than 

per km expenses, that people will make the more economical travel arrangements.  If 

more than one person is travelling from the same area, every effort must be made to car 

pool. When practical, use of telephone conferencing should be considered as a substitute 

for in-person attendance at regular meetings. 

Please Note:  That rate increases for kilometre expenses be left to the discretion  

of the BCLA Executive. 

 Ferry-- actual cost 

 Other fares -- actual cost  

 Meals -- up to $40.00/day  

 Accommodation -- up to $100.00/day 

Amend REGULATION 5:  TRAVEL, 5.01 (iv) that would read: 

5.01 Travel expenses will be paid by the Association as follows: 

(iv) Other travel --as authorized by the Executive, and updated annually on January 1 of 

each calendar year, according to the Canada Revenue Agency guidelines as publish on 

the CRA website (Reasonable per-kilometre allowance – Canada.ca)*  

Every effort must be made to keep costs down when travelling to and from meetings, 

events, etc.  It is expected that if air travel and/or renting a vehicle is less expensive than 

per km expenses, that people will make the more economical travel arrangements.  If 

more than one person is travelling from the same area, every effort must be made to car 

pool. When practical, use of telephone conferencing should be considered as a substitute 

for in-person attendance at regular meetings. 

Ferry-- actual cost 

 Other fares -- actual cost  

 Meals -- up to $40.00/day  

 Accommodation -- up to $100.00/day 

* https://www.canada.ca/en/revenue-agency/services/tax/businesses/topics/payroll/benefits-

allowances/automobile/automobile-motor-vehicle-allowances/reasonable-kilometre-allowance.html 

Rationale: In current economic conditions, the cost of vehicle travel has increased and this has forced us 

to review how we reimburse not only staff, but volunteers acting in an official capacity at BCLA Events 

(eg. Provinicals). Replacing a ‘named’ amount (as in current policy) with the CRA Guideline allows the 

BCLA to keep up with current rates without having a special resolution by the BCLA Executive and/or 

amending this policy on an annual basis. 

If approved the note about rate increases would be removed. 
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Proposed by Sean Reid, Surrey Lacrosse – President and Andy Watson, BCLOG - Chair 

 

REGULATION 7:  PLAYER REGISTRATION – currently reads: 
 

7.01 Each association or team shall complete BCLA approved Registration Form for every player, in 

sufficient copies to meet the needs of the Association.  Any association or team failing to register 

each and every player and pay the appropriate registration fee may be suspended in accordance 

with By-Law II. 

 

7.02 All Minor/Youth players (Box/Field) must register within the set boundaries (a primary residence 

within a city, town, municipality, school district, etc. of the appropriate Directorate as determined 

by the specific Commission/League. 

 

7.03 The local Commissions/Leagues are responsible to administer these boundaries and for providing 

these boundaries to the BCLA Office, through their respective Directorates. 

 

7.04 Any person legally residing, either temporarily or permanently, in British Columbia may register 

as a member of the BC Lacrosse Association. 

 

7.05 Out of Country residents may become members on an annual basis by applying for placement 

through a league and ratification by the appropriate Directorate.  Potential members must apply to 

Minor Box/Senior Box/Field Directorate for approval, and must follow the applicable registration 

and transfer procedures.  Within Minor Box and Youth Field, an Out of Country player is not 

permitted to displace a resident player; specifically, resident players cannot be released if Out of 

Country players are being accepted by a club (this does not speak to the caliber or tier that either 

player will achieve after association tryouts). 

 

7.06 All members must have medical insurance (equivalent to BC Medical Insurance coverage).  

Members without a BC Care Card must provide proof of basic health insurance. 

 

Amend Regulation 7 Title and Add new REGULATION 7:  PLAYER AND OFFICIAL 

REGISTRATION that would read: 

7.5 Official Registration 

7.51  Each association shall determine and approve registration for certified box lacrosse officials 

they wish to be involved for the coming season for their association.  

7.52  All Entry Level 1 and Level 1 Minor/Youth officials (Box/Field) must register within the set 

boundaries (based on his/her primary residence within a city, town, municipality, school 

district, etc.) of the appropriate Directorate as determined by the specific Commission/League. 

7.53  If an official has moved residences to another association, Grandfathering (2 full seasons of 

experience in box/field respectively) to previous association must be approved by the home 

association for Entry level 1 and Level 1 officials. Otherwise, it is expected these officials 

register within their new home association community. 

7.54  The local Commissions/Leagues are responsible to administer these boundaries and for 

providing these boundaries to the BCLA Office, through their respective Directorates.  

7.55  Any person legally residing, either temporarily or permanently, in British Columbia may 

register as an official of the BC Lacrosse Association.  
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7.56  Out of Country residents may become members on an annual basis by applying for placement 

through a league and ratification by the appropriate Directorate.  Potential members must 

apply to Minor Box/Senior Box/Field Directorate for approval and must follow the applicable 

registration and transfer procedures.  

7.57  All members must have medical insurance (equivalent to BC Medical Insurance coverage).  

Members without a BC Care Card must provide proof of basic health insurance. 

 If 7.5 passes, Add new regulation 

 7.6 Official Travel Fees  

7.61  Officials travelling more than 30km roundtrip shall be reimbursed for their travel at the set 

BCLA travel rate per BCLA policy. 

7.62  The origin departing point for each official shall be the set boundaries set out in “7.5 Official 

Registration.” For officials where this has not been determined, the Vice-Chair of Senior 

Officials will make the determination for officials based on the closest postal code for senior 

officials who also referee minor lacrosse. 

NOTE: The BC Lacrosse Officials Technical Support Group will work with each directorate to ensure 

language is consistent in each operating policy (eg. Minor Directorate, Senior Directorate, Field 

Directorate etc.) 

Rationale: With the travel allowance for the Lower Mainland being open for travel, this will set 

parameters for an official’s home association to ensure consistency in distribution of travel rates. This will 

also incentivize individual associations to recruit, retain, and mentor officials for the duration of their 

career as an official. This creates a consistent provincial policy for minor box lacrosse travel in British 

Columbia. 

Proposed by John Hamilton, Minor Directorate – Female Lacrosse Box Chair 

 

REGULATION 12:  GENDER EQUITY, 12.02 – currently reads: 

 
12.02 The BCLA will encourage Gender Equity by: 

a) Ensuring that the achievement of equal opportunities is a key consideration when developing, 

updating or delivering BCLA programs; 

b) Ensuring that the needs and concerns of both genders are identified, promoted and supported; 

c) Ensuring that the governance structure encourages and promotes full and equal opportunities 

of both genders; 

d) Ensuring that all staff has equal opportunities to participate in decision-making, advance in 

management, and receive equal remuneration. 

e) Co-operating with other organizations such as Sport Canada, Sport BC, CAAWS, et al., to 

promote equal opportunities for both genders; 

f) Providing international leadership with the IF in the promotion of equal opportunities for 

both genders; 

g) Encouraging all international games and event organizers to provide for equal opportunities 

for both genders to participate. 

 

Amend REGULATION 12:  GENDER EQUITY, 12.02 that would read: 
 
12.02 The BCLA will encourage Gender Equity by: 

a) Ensuring that the achievement of equal opportunities is a key consideration when developing, 

updating or delivering BCLA programs; 
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b) Ensuring that the needs and concerns of all genders are identified, promoted and supported; 

c) Ensuring that the governance structure encourages and promotes full and equal opportunities 

of all genders; 

d) Ensuring that all staff has equal opportunities to participate in decision-making, advance in 

management, and receive equal remuneration. 

e) Co-operating with other organizations such as Sport Canada, Sport BC, CAAWS, et al., to 

promote equal opportunities for all genders; 

f) Providing international leadership with the IF in the promotion of equal opportunities for all 

genders; 

g) Encouraging all international games and event organizers to provide for equal opportunities 

for all genders to participate. 

Rationale: Based on the fact that there are more than two genders. 

Proposed by Angie Schwan, BCLA Board – Vice President, Administration and Finance 

 
APPENDIX A:  BCLA APPEALS POLICY AND PROCESS, Appeal Board members 

Point 15, currently reads: 

 
15. Each hearing will have a Chair and three to seven panel members. The panel members will have 

the jurisdiction of, and may exercise and perform the powers and duties provided to them under 

this bylaw. 

 

Amend APPENDIX A:  BCLA APPEALS POLICY AND PROCESS, Appeal Board 

members Point 15, that would read: 

 
15. Each hearing will have a Chair and three to seven panel members. The panel members will have 

the jurisdiction of, and may exercise and perform the powers and duties provided to them under 

this bylaw. In the case of a hearing necessary under Section 14.03.2 (Harassment) Policy, the 

panel should be comprised of a minimum 51% of the same gender as the Appellant. 

 
Rationale: Steps must be taken to allow people that may otherwise feel intimidated amongst a group to 

feel rest assured that their voice is being heard by an equitable body of member representatives. 

Proposed by Savanna Smith, Senior Women’s Box Lacrosse– Chair 

APPENDIX B:  2021-2022 FEE SCHEDULE, Female Box Lacrosse Recreation currently 

reads: 
 

Female Box Lacrosse Recreational $15 

 

Amend APPENDIX B: 2021-2022 FEE SCHEDULE, Female Box Lacrosse Recreation that 

would read: 

 
Female Box Lacrosse Recreational $20 

 

Rationale: Housekeeping–this will match what the Senior Women’s Box Lacrosse League are paying 

player cards. This will also align with the Recreational other lacrosse player registration (2021-2022 

found on page 26 that shows Senior Women’s as $20). 
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Proposed by Savanna Smith, Senior Women’s Box Lacrosse– Chair 

 

APPENDIX B:  2021-2022 FEE SCHEDULE, Female Senior Payment/Game currently 

reads: 

Minor Box Officials Payment/Game     
Juvenile  (Minor)/Fem Junior/Fem Senior   $50  

 

Amend APPENDIX B: 2021-2022 FEE SCHEDULE, Female Senior Payment/Game that 

would read: 

Minor Box Officials Payment/Game     
Juvenile (Minor)/Fem Junior   $50 

Fem Senior     $60  

 

Rationale: Housekeeping–this will match what the Senior Women’s Box Lacrosse League are paying 

officials ($60) 
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2022 BCLA Official Registration Total 2022 2022 2021 2021 2020 2020 Players Teams
Divisions Players Teams Players Teams Players Teams +/- +/-
Box Lacrosse - Minor
Development/Recreational 1500 0 1000 0 0 0 500 0
Female Box Lacrosse
  Tyke 62 4 86 6 94 0 -24 -2
  Novice 162 11 131 9 218 0 31 2
  PeeWee 167 10 242 17 316 0 -75 -7
  Bantam 270 22 272 18 293 0 -2 4
  16U (Midget) 206 11 218 15 246 0 -12 -4
  Junior 218 10 179 10 142 0 39 0
Sub-Total 1085 68 1128 75 1309 0 -43 -7
Minor Box Lacrosse
Mini-Tyke 836 69 716 63 785 0 120 6
Tyke 1093 81 1016 70 1134 0 77 11
Novice 993 60 1052 66 1190 0 -59 -6
Pee Wee 1012 59 1127 64 1250 0 -115 -5
Bantam 1049 58 990 58 1150 0 59 0
16U (Midget) 816 42 780 46 895 0 36 -4
Sub-Total 5799 369 5681 367 6404 0 118 2

TOTAL MINOR BOX 8,384 437 7,809 442 7,713 0 575 -5
Box Lacrosse - Senior
Women's Box Lacrosse 96 4 26 1 0 0 70 3
Senior Box (Recreation) 142 7 85 4 0 0 57 3
Masters 196 8 0 0 150 7 196 8
Junior B Tier 3 (prev Int B) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Junior B Tier 2 (prev JrB) 335 14 222 11 0 0 113 3
Junior B Tier 1 (prev Int A) 368 15 294 15 33 2 74 0
Junior A 186 8 180 8 18 1 6 0
Senior C 680 26 10 1 0 0 670 25
Senior B 145 5 70 2 0 0 75 3
Senior A 204 7 0 0 8 0 204 7

 2,352 94 887 42 209 10 1,465 52209
Field Lacrosse - Youth
U5 99 8 59 4 17 1 40 4
U7 227 14 208 13 169 8 19 1
U9 242 15 364 16 459 23 -122 -1
U11 405 20 462 23 528 26 -57 -3
U13 476 24 504 25 575 29 -28 -1
U15 437 22 435 22 529 26 2 0
U18 346 17 347 17 342 17 -1 0
Highschool 317 16 0 0 511 26 317 16
Sub-Total 2,549 136 2,379 120 3,130 156 170 16
Field Lacrosse - Senior/Women's
Senior Men's 213 11 0 0 232 12 213 11
Masters Field (Recreation) 144 8 145 8 119 6 -1 0
Women's/Girls Field 528 30 539 34 613 30 -11 -4
Sub-Total Senior Men's/Women's 885 49 684 42 964 48 201 7

TOTAL FIELD LACROSSE 3,434 185 3,063 162 4,094 204 371 23

TOTAL REGISTRATION 14,170 716 11,759 646 12,016 214 2,411 70



16U BANTAM PEEWEE NOVICE TYKE MT 2022 2021
# of # of # of # of # of # of # of # of # of # of # of # of Junior 16U Bantam PeeWee Novice Tyke # of # of TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL

Association Play Tms Play Tms Play Tms Play Tms Play Tms Play Tms Play Tms Play Tms Play Tms Play Tms Play Tm
s Play Tms Play Tms PLAY TMS PLAY TMS

Abbotsford 19 18 1 16 1 12 1 0 0 65 3 84 6
Alberni Valley 15 1 20 1 15 1 16 1 6 1 3 0 0 75 5 65 5
Burnaby 21 1 41 2 31 2 38 2 30 3 24 2 18 1 20 1 20 2 16 1 15 1 89 6 274 18 285 18
Campbell River 19 1 25 1 13 1 9 1 0 0 66 4 70 6
Chilliwack 20 1 22 1 34 2 21 1 25 2 26 2 0 0 148 9 173 10
Comox 17 1 15 1 5 1 8 1 0 0 45 4 91 6
Coquitlam 56 3 78 4 56 3 60 3 65 4 58 5 48 2 43 2 35 2 17 1 17 1 19 1 179 9 552 31 578 38
Cowichan Valley 24 1 22 1 16 1 12 1 13 1 12 1 0 0 99 6 131 8
Cranbrook 21 30 2 28 2 26 2 28 2 14 1 0 0 147 9 151 8
Delta 37 2 21 1 47 3 32 2 50 4 45 4 7 1 7 1 9 1 16 1 39 4 271 20 275 20
Fort St. John 1 26 1 14 1 16 1 21 1 10 1 0 0 88 5 99 6
Juan de Fuca 39 2 41 2 41 2 62 3 73 5 44 4 25 1 1 26 1 326 19 296 18
Kamloops 22 1 21 1 31 2 31 2 25 1 16 1 0 0 146 8 117 8
Kelowna 25 1 30 2 23 1 28 2 24 1 17 1 0 0 147 8 168 9
Kitimat 0 0 0 0 0 0
Langley 34 2 60 3 54 3 32 2 56 4 39 4 16 1 13 2 13 1 42 4 317 22 287 20
Logan Lake 14 1 15 1 0 0 29 2 22 2
Mackenzie 13 1 7 1 10 1 20 1 0 0 50 4 44 5
Mission 20 1 31 2 40 2 29 2 36 2 22 2 16 1 19 1 13 1 48 3 226 14 201 13
Nanaimo 34 2 37 2 34 2 36 2 42 3 43 3 41 2 15 1 22 1 18 1 96 5 322 19 362 11
New Westminster 44 2 27 2 30 2 40 2 51 5 56 6 23 1 20 1 23 2 17 1 25 1 12 1 120 7 368 26 339 25
Nicola Valley 1 5 1 0 0 6 1 29 3
North Okanagan 16 1 32 2 22 1 22 1 22 1 23 1 0 0 137 7 147 8
North Shore 18 1 20 1 31 2 17 1 12 1 18 1 0 0 116 7 82 6
Oceanside 14 1 14 1 3 10 1 0 0 41 3 65 6
Peninsula 19 1 35 2 20 1 33 2 21 1 13 1 0 0 141 8 130 9
Penticton 20 1 23 1 26 1 17 1 19 1 5 1 14 1 4 1 10 1 6 1 34 4 144 10 126 10
Port Coquitlam 40 2 37 2 41 2 66 4 68 5 57 5 24 1 22 1 12 2 15 1 17 1 90 6 399 26 343 23
Port Moody 20 1 39 2 39 2 22 1 34 2 19 1 20 1 13 1 19 1 13 1 65 4 238 13 275 15
Prince George 21 2 28 2 27 2 27 2 30 2 22 2 0 0 155 12 124 8
Princeton 12 1 10 1 0 0 22 2 19 2
Quesnel 22 1 12 1 15 1 20 1 10 1 4 1 0 0 83 6 39 3
Richmond 16 1 27 2 24 2 13 1 17 1 0 0 97 7 109 8
Ridge Meadows 52 3 60 4 62 4 70 4 91 7 71 6 25 1 22 1 46 3 34 2 16 1 15 1 158 9 564 37 536 36
Saanich 22 1 30 2 38 2 42 2 28 2 24 2 17 1 17 1 201 12 199 12
Semiahmoo 20 1 16 1 34 2 30 3 17 1 22 1 11 1 33 2 150 10 181 15
Shuswap 16 1 13 1 9 1 0 0 38 3 38 3
Sunshine Coast 17 1 12 1 10 1 3 1 3 0 0 45 4 16 1
Surrey 37 2 18 1 37 2 34 2 33 3 28 1 10 1 10 1 197 12 221 9
Vancouver-Killarney 32 2 23 2 25 1 22 1 29 2 10 1 18 1 18 1 159 10 133 8
Vanderhoof 0 0 0 0 0 0
Victoria-Esquimalt 20 1 11 1 10 1 21 1 21 1 62 4 61 6
West Kootenay 13 1 19 1 19 1 17 1 11 1 6 1 0 0 85 6 65 6
Williams Lake 28 2 2 4 1 9 1 0 0 43 4 33 3
Development 1500 0 1000 0
TOTALS 816 43 1049 59 1012 59 993 60 1093 82 836 69 218 10 206 11 270 22 167 10 162 11 62 4 1085 68 8384 440 7809 442

2022 Minor Box Lacrosse Registration Statistics 
FEMALE



2022 Senior Lacrosse Registration Statistics
Senior A 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Burnaby Lakers 31 - - 31 28 27 25 30 25 28 29 30 31 29 26 30 25 28 25 28

Coquitlam Adanacs 31 - 2 33 26 30 26 29 28 24 27 29 29 34 25 30 30 29 24 30

Langley Thunder 26 - - 27 27 27 25 26 24 33 32 29 27 32 31 27 32 25 24 28

Maple Ridge Burrards 26 - - 31 27 31 30 27 28 27 29 26 27 24 24 26 26 25 24 24

Nanaimo Timbermen 27 - - 24 26 26 25 25 28 25 25 29 32 31 33 26 25 22 0 0

New West Salmonbellies 24 - 6 28 25 26 28 25 27 30 32 31 27 33 29 29 32 29 24 28

Victoria Shamrocks 39 - - 32 25 28 27 29 26 27 29 26 29 28 28 27 31 34 27 26

Sub-Total 204 0 8 206 184 195 186 191 186 194 203 200 202 211 196 195 201 192 148 164

Senior B
West Coast 
Burnaby (Vancouver) - - - - - - - - - - - - 31 27 29 26 22 24 28 25

Chilliwack - - - - - - - - - - - 29 23 21 - - - - - -

Coquitlam - - - 31 26 28 24 32 33 25 28 31 35 26 33 24 34 32 34 31

Ladner Pioneers 30 35 - 29 33 31 30 28 27 27 30 23 32 26 31 24 31 25 35 29

Langley - - - 30 29 30 31 29 24 25 26 28 24 16 - - - - - -

Nanaimo Timbermen - - - 30 29 33 31 29 35 31 35 29 29 29 32 29 29 30 28 29

North Shore Indians 30 35 - - - - 34 23 29 29 34 29 33 22 20 25 27 27 29 29

Poco Knights - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Poco Saints 32 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Port Moody - - - - - - - 32 27 27 23 - - - - - - - - -

Royal City 26 - - 32 35 27 28 30 26 28 29 26 27 30 30 31 25 24 31 31

Valley Rebels - - - 17 28 27 25 28 29 25 27 28 31 26 28 28 24 28 24 23

Victoria 27 - - 32 32 25 29 - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Sub-Total 145 70 0 201 212 201 232 231 230 217 232 223 265 223 203 187 192 190 209 197

Senior C
West Central 
Burnaby 29 - - 29 28 28 25 28 25 9 - - - - - - - - - -

Coquitlam Cobras - - - 26 27 27 28 29 25 26 28 28 27 32 - - - - - -

Ladner 34 - - 31 28 24 24 32 26 22 25 25 25 20 - - - - - -

Langley - - - - 28 30 - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Maple Ridge Attack 28 - - 29 28 29 25 27 23 21 27 22 23 22 18 23 25 25 22 26

Mission 31 - - 28 28 29 26 - - - - - - - - - - - - -

North Shore 30 - - 30 29 31 28 35 - - - - - 30 24 21 30 27 0 0

Poco Hitmen 28 - - 26 31 24 25 26 28 30 29 29 34 31 24 26 28 16 26 28

Port Moody 33 - - 36 28 28 31 27 28 25 24 30 33 26 26 23 25 21 22 28

Queensborough 29 - - 30 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Richmond 27 - - 25 25 28 24 26 20 22

Tri City 28 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Vancouver Burrards - - - - - - - - 36 32 27 23 27 21 28 23 19 23 23 27

West Vancouver - - - - - - - - - - 30 - - 30 28 - - - - -

Sub-Total 297 0 0 290 280 278 236 230 211 187 190 157 169 212 148 116 127 112 93 109



2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Senior C
Vancouver Island
Cowichan Bears - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 9

Cowichan River Rats 24 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 14 16 21 22 26

Cowichan Valley - - - 24

Duncan Hitmen - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 12 7

Esquimalt Buchaneers - - - - - - 11 16 17 - - - 20 18 21 19 15 16 16 30

Ladysmith Attack - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 6

Saanich Chiefs 25 - - - - 19 19 - - - 5 13 13 19 - - - - 19 13

Greater Victoria Firefighters - - - - - - - - 24 20 19 19 - - - - - - - 24

Victoria Blazers 26 - - 19 18 20 19 18 18 23 15 21 - - - - - - - -

Victoria Jokers 20 - - 16 24 16 16 - 19 22 19 21 17 17 23 15 12 21 - 23

Victoria Luckies - - - - - - - 20 - 18 15 19 20 20 22 20 17 15 18 16

Victoria Pylons - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 15 12

Victoria Tugmen - - - 12 26 25 11 22 14 17 16 20 18 21 19 20 12 18 12 10

Westshore Aces 22

Wsanec Arrows 24 - - 16 22 21 - - - - - - - - - - - 12 11 25

Sub-Total 141 0 0 87 90 80 76 76 92 100 89 113 88 95 85 88 72 91 114 176

Prince George
Bandits 24 - - 23 22 25 26 27 25 25 25 24 24 17 16 19 20 10 12 21

Stylers - - - - 20 23 22 27 21 19 25 29 22 19 21 20 15 10 13 17

Assault 26 - - 24 - 20 21 26 21 18 23 22 21 18 14 12 13 15 12 20

Devils 28 - - 24 30 25 19 26 26 25 21 20 20 14 21 23 21 12 13 15

Sub-Total 78 0 0 71 72 93 88 106 93 87 94 95 87 68 72 74 69 47 50 73

-

Okanagan
Armstrong 29 - - 28 26 27 28 27 26 26 24 25 25 26 22 26 20 25 27 24

Kamloops 21 10 - 20 23 21 23 27 24 19 22 18 25 22 25

Kelowna Raiders 24 - - 27 14 25 23 20 24 24 25 24 28 25 27 24 27 24 16 18

Princeton 18 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Vernon 23 - - 20 - - - - - - 23 23 25 22 28 24 27 25 22 25

Sub-Total 115 10 0 95 63 73 74 74 74 69 94 90 103 95 102 74 74 74 65 67

Northern B.C.
Kitimat Alcan Pioneers - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 10 16 13 16 17

Mackenzie Lumberjacks 26 - - 19 16 22 24 - - - 25 20 12 - - - - - - -

Quesnel 23 - - 23 27 22 24 17 10 18 24 - - - - - - - - -

Sub-Total 49 0 0 42 43 44 48 17 10 18 49 20 12 0 0 10 16 13 16 17



2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Junior A
Burnaby Lakers 26 25 - 24 21 29 23 29 34 23 24 31 31 27 25 23 28 26 28 30

Coquitlam Adanacs 26 21 1 28 25 27 25 27 27 31 22 30 32 22 22 23 21 24 27 26

Delta Islanders 21 25 16 22 23 23 26 27 27 22 26 28 24 25 21 21 24 25 22 25

Langley Thunder 25 23 1 25 18 27 27 23 25 29 27 29 23 27 27 23 27 26 25 25

Nanaimo Timbermen 24 17 - 23 21 26 24 22 30 24 24 23 25 29 24 24 20 21 - -

New West Salmonbellies 19 23 - 30 27 29 26 29 28 29 30 29 29 26 26 26 25 22 25 27

Poco Saints 20 25 - 19 22 27 26 22 24 24 25 23 28 26 24 25 20 22 25 26

Victoria Shamrocks 25 21 - 28 26 25 24 28 23 24 24 29 28 25 23 23 29 27 25 31

Sub-Total 186 180 18 199 183 213 201 207 218 206 202 222 220 207 192 188 194 193 177 190

BC Junior B T1 (Prev BC Int A)
Burnaby 28 23 - 26 23 25 18 26 22 23 23 22 26 26 27 22 21 26 21 23

Coquitlam 28 24 1 25 22 25 24 25 26 25 29 26 27 28 27 22 24 23 21 21

Delta 27 20 32 28 30 22 25 26 22 22 25 25 25 25 25 - 19 23 25 21

Fraser Valley - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 21 20

Langley 29 24 - 26 27 26 24 25 23 23 29 24 33 24 23 23 25 23 21 22

Maple Ridge 23 24 - 27 25 25 26 25 25 25 24

Nanaimo 25 28 - 27 24 22 25 25 24 24 24 25 21 22 25 22 17 23 23 19

New Westminster 23 16 - 24 27 25 24 26 25 26 26 25 26 28 25 24 22 22 24 21

North Shore - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Okanagan - - - - - 22

Pt. Coquitlam 24 23 - 32 26 22 25 24 25 23 20 25 25 23 22 23 25 25 22 21

Richmond 17 - - 28 22 23 17 24 25 23 24 21 24 - - - - - 23 23

Victoria 25 27 - 26 27 25 25 25 23 24 25 26 24 22 24 22 23 21 22 23

Sub-Total 249 209 33 269 253 262 233 251 240 238 249 219 231 198 198 158 176 186 223 214

Junior B T1 (Prev Jr B Okanagan)
Armstrong 23 18 - - 28 28 25 29 25 24 24 25 26 27 24 24 23 22 25 22

Kamloops Rattlers - - - - - - - - - - - 24 25 21 25 25 23 23 21 19

Kamloops Venom 31 20 - 30 30 25 26 26 25 25 22 26 24 24 24 - - - - -

Kelowna Braves - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 19 24 20

Kelowna Dragons - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 19 24 23

Rutland Raiders (Kelowna) 23 - - - - 15 23 25 21 23 21 26 25 25 25 22 23 23 23 23

Kelowna Kodiaks - 16

Kelowna Warriors - - - - - - - - - - - - 25 25 25 25 28 - - -

South Okanagan 21 18 - 23 24 22 21 21 23 18 19 21 20 27 21 26 28 25 18 17
Vernon 21 13 - 23 28 25 26 25 26 26 23 24 24 25 25 22 21 22 26 22

Sub-Total 119 85 0 76 110 115 121 126 120 116 109 146 169 174 169 144 146 153 161 146



2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Junior B T2 (Mainland)
Abbotsford - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 18

Burnaby - 20 - 21 25 23 - 23 - 18 18 23 22 20 22 25 - - - -

Coquitlam 25 25 - 25 29 26 30 27 31 24 32 25 21 27 28 25 21 25 26 26

Delta 20 23 - 28 27 26 33 25 33 29 24 19 26 25 22 21 21 23 25 26

Langley 23 - - 24 - 22 9 21 - 22 27 15 14 19 24 20 22 22 19 0

Maple Ridge - - - 22 25 30 26 27 24 24 26 25 26 27 26 23 22 - - -

New Westminster - - - 24 24 27 28 27 26 22 26 27 25 18 18 25 25 24 0 0

North Shore 28 - - 21 - 16 22 - 27 24 26 14 - 19 20 18 20 16 15 20

Pt. Coquitlam 13 15 - 26 - 26 24 22 25 26 25 24 19 24 27 24 25 19 16 25

Pt. Moody 24 - - 25 23 24 23 22 26 19 28 23 21 22 - - - - - -

Richmond - - - - - - 27 19 18 23 28 26 23 17 - - - - - -

Surrey 24 26 - 28 - - - - 28 24 26 24 27 27 20 26 11 - - -

Valley 27 - - 20
Vancouver - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 23 25 26 0

Sub-Total 184 109 0 264 153 220 222 213 238 255 286 245 224 245 207 207 190 154 127 115

Junior B T2 (Island)
Campbell River 25 22 - 17 26 22 - - - - 20 22 26 19 25 25 - 21 26 21

Cowichan Valley - - - - 26 - 20 - 17 - 24 25 26 26 28 - - 0 22 21

Juan de Fuca - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 0 25 26

Mid Island - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 17 - -

Nanaimo 26 - - 26 18 25 18 26 12 26 23 21 22 25 27 - - 0 29 24

Oceanside 21 18 - 23

Peninsula - - - - - - - - - 28 28 26 25 24 - - - 0 47 27

Saanich 29 24 - 29 26 26 23 25 24 25 26 21 - - - - - - - -

Victoria-Esquimalt - - - - - - - - - - - 22 - 26 28 25 16 19 19 24

West Shore 29 23 - 26 23 25 28 26 26 26 25 25 24 25 25 22 21 26 21 -

Sub-Total 130 87 0 121 119 98 89 77 79 105 146 162 123 145 133 72 37 83 189 143

Junior B (Other)
Cranbrook 21 11 - 14 16 19 - - - - 14 18 25 19 18 14 - - - -

Mackenzie - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 16 - - 26 - -

Powell River - - - - - - - - - - - - - 27 - 29 - - - -

Prince George Outlaws - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 21 16 -

Prince George Posse - - - - - - - - - - - - - 17 22 22 17 14 22 24

Quesnel - - - - - - - - - - - - - 12 17 16 19 12 21 18

Terrace - - - - - - - - - - - - 17 28 35 24 - - - -

West Kootenay - 15 - 14 16 - - - - - - - - 12 22 - - - - -

Sub-Total 21 26 0 28 32 19 0 0 0 0 14 18 42 115 130 105 36 73 59 42



2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Junior B T3 Mainland (Prev BC Int B)
Burnaby - - - - - - 17 - 18 - 20 22 24 21 29 24 26 23 - -

Chilliwack - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 23 26 22 16

Coquitlam - - - - 26 23 21 23 24 23 25 25 25 23 24 25 27 29 22 22

Delta - - - - - 19 23 25 26 26 26 24 19 23 22 27 22 25 23 23

Fraser-Surrey - - - - - - - - - 25 - - - - 22 24 - - - -

Langley - - - - 26 - 21 20 17 23 20 23 21 23 21 19 19 19 22 22

New Westminster - - - - - 15 - 21 22 26 23 23 26 25 23 - 19 23 20 23

Nicola Valley - - - - - - - - - - - 12 - - - - - - - -

North Delta - - - - - - - - - 23 22 20 24 21 18

North Fraser - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

North Shore - - - - 27 26 21 - 24 25 28 25 26 25 23 23 23 15 21 -

Pt. Coquitlam - - - - 26 21 - 23 21 24 23 25 21 26 25 24 20 34 21 -

Pt. Coquitlam Gold - - - - - - - - - - - - 22 - - - 19 12 21 16

Pt. Moody - - - - - - 21 23 - 21 24 15 29 24 26 26 - - - -

Richmond - - - - - - - - - - 23 22 24 27 23 19 19 - - -

Ridge Meadows - - - - 24 24 21 26 24 26 25 25 25 24 27 25 31 28 25 18

Semiahmoo - - - - - - - - - - - 20 25 21 - - 18 22 - -

Surrey - - - - - - - - 18 - 15 21 25 25 25 25 10 - - -

Vancouver - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 22 21 - - 21

Sub-Total 0 0 0 0 129 128 145 161 194 242 274 302 336 308 308 283 297 256 197 161

Junior B T3 - Island (Prev Island IntB)
Campbell River - - - - - - - 10 - - - - - - - 30 20 - -

Comox Valley - - - - - - - - 15 - - - - 25 19 - 4 19 -

Cowichan Valley #1 - - - - - - 22 24 - - - 21 22 24 20 24 12 - -

Cowichan Valley #2 - - - - - - - - - - - - 21 - 20 - - - -

Juan de Fuca - - - 11 - 19 25 19 25 23 28 26 26 16 23 19 20 - -

Nanaimo - - - - - - - - 22 - 22 24 - - - - - - -

Oceanside - - - 24 - 17 20 - - 24 22 25 21 - - - - - -

Peninsula - - - - - - 8 - - 22 18 17 28 27 22 25 19 - -

Port Alberni - - - - - - - - - 19

Powell River - - - - - - - - - - 18 16 27 22 - - - - -

Saanich - - - - - 18 22 22 24 27 19 25 28 26 24 24 26 - -

Victoria-Esquimalt - - - - - - - - - - - 21 17 - - 22 22 - -

Westshore - - - -

Sub-Total 0 0 0 0 35 0 54 97 75 86 115 127 175 190 140 128 144 123 19 0

Juvenile 
Houston - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 7 - - -

Kitimat - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 7 13 - -

Salmon Arm - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 20 - - -

Terrace - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 30 31 16 - -

Sub-Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 30 65 29 0 0



2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Intermediate B - Cariboo
MacKenzie Spartans - - - - - - - - 12

Prince George Posse - - - - - - - - 17

Quesnel Wildfire - - - - - - - - 18

Sub-Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 47

Masters
16 Teams @ 25/team - - 0 330 400 400 400 400 400 400 400 400 400 400 400 400 400 400 400 342

Justice League - - - - - - - - 5 5 5 14 28 28 - - - - - -

Lower Mainland 196 - 150 234 156 125 125 125 125 125 125 89 - - - - - - - -

Sub-Total Masters 196 0 150 564 556 525 525 525 530 530 530 503 428 428 400 400 400 400 400 342

Recreation
XLL (Senior Box) 142 85

Sub-Total Recreation 142 85

Women's Box Lacrosse
Burnaby 23 26 - 18 21 24 25 21 21 21 21 19 26 13 13 16 22 19 14

Coquitlam - - - 16 21 15 20 23 23 23 23 20 24 - - 16 - 20 26

Kamloops - - - - - 23 23

New Westminster 24 - 24 21 25 19 20 20 20 20 18 21 22 22 - - - -

North Shore - - - - - - - 20 20 20 20 23 22 15 15 15 21 25 22

Pt. Coquitlam 24 - - 24 24 13 14 - - - - 14

Pt. Moody 25 - - 18 21 21 19

Richmond-Delta - - - - - - - 21 21 21 21 19 21 14 14 19 20 11 0

Ridge Meadows - - - - - - - - - - - 15 23 18 18 - - - -

Victoria/Peninsula - - - 24 20 21 25 20 20 20 20 25 17 18 18 - - - -

Team #5 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 20 - - 14

Team #6 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 12

Sub-Total Women's 96 26 0 124 128 142 145 125 125 125 125 153 154 100 100 86 63 75 88

TOTAL SENIORS 2,352 887 209 2,637 2,642 2,686 2,675 2,707 2,762 2,775 3,001 2,995 3,028 3,014 2,783 2,545 2,499 2,444 2,335 2,156



FIELD LACROSSE
REGISTRATION 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

MASTERS RECREATION
New West - Red - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
New West - White - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Richmond - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 0
Royal City - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 23 65 45
South Fraser - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 0
Tri Cities 144 145 119 174 153 147 147 114 114 108 116 116 117 109 102 108 110 110

TOTAL MASTERS 144 145 119 174 153 147 147 114 114 108 116 116 117 109 102 131 175 155

SENIOR MEN'S FIELD
Abbotsford 26 - 30 31 26 29 28 23 9 21 24 28 29 25 21 28 28 21
Adanacs 28 - 32 26 32 26 30
Burnaby - - - - - - - - 0 - 22 - - - - - - -
Coquitlam Beerhunters 28 - 31 26 20 31 25 24 17 32 18 51 51 43 23 27 26 26
Kamloops - - - - - - - - - - - - 14 - - - - -
Ladner Pioneers 30 - 29 24 17 24 29 14 10 23 28 27 30 30 28 23 22 21
Nanaimo - - - - - - - 19 - - - - - 21 16 - 22 22
New Westminster 29 - 30 28 29 28 24 28 22 24 26 - - - 26 14 14 27
North Shore - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 24 25
Pt. Coquitlam - - - - - - - - - - 24 31 26 24 23 - - -
Ridge Meadows - - - 21 25 24 24
South Fraser - - - - - - - 21 28 23 22 18 26 28 27 28 20 24
Tri-City John B - - - - - - - - - 20 18 25 28 23 25 21 23 29
Tri Cities Burrards - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 20
UBC 15 - 18 27 20 23 26 27
Vancouver 30 - 23 33 26 28 23 23 19 20 19 24 24 24 24 28 24 36
Victoria - - - - - - - - 1 15 13 26 - 36 43 59 62 58
Whalley 27 - 36 30 26 26 24
CWFL Spares - - 3 - - - - 1 4

TOTAL MEN'S FIELD 213 0 232 246 221 239 233 180 110 178 214 230 228 254 256 228 265 309



YOUTH FIELD 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
U18
Adanacs 34 24 28 37 40 57 73 47 39 27 35 16 34 23 21 - - -
Burnaby 21 24 9 - 21 - 20 - 21 20 23 - - - 18 - - -
Chilliwack 20 23 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Cranbrook - 6 13 7 - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Delta 25 17 22 23 26 39 41 21 26 37 20 24 21 - 21 - 1 -
Interior - - - - - - 22 - - - - - - - - - -
Kamloops 20 17 17 17 21 21 - 4 - - 1 - 8 3 10 - - -
Kelowna 15 11 19 21 2 - - - - - - - 4 - 12 2 2 -
Ladner - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Langley 18 22 20 24 22 23 32 23 18 25 18 21 20 - 22 - - -
Mid Island - - - - 16 17 20 - - 1 - - - - - - -
Mission - 2 - 22 16 21 - 22 21 0 - 15 17 19 24 - - -
Nanaimo 14 1 17 - 25 20 23 20 17 22 17 22 19 18 9 - 1 1
New Westminster 24 21 25 26 39 23 20 23 28 21 21 26 36 26 24 - - -
North Island - 5 - 17 - 22 23 - - 11 - 10 9 17 2 2 - -
North Okanagan - 7 1 14 21 20 - 45 16 - 21 6 1 - 2 - - 1
North Shore - - 24 24 24 - - - - 23 - 21 - - - - -
Oceanside - 5 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Pacific Rim 21 10 15 20 17 24 24 18 25 25 25 25 22 24 31 13 3 15
Penticton 1 3 - - 16 19 - - 0 22 - - - - - - -
Pt. Coquitlam 17 20 21 21 18 23 - 24 - - 2 17 4 23 3 2 1 -
Prince George - - - - - - - - 1 11 2 9 - - - - -
Quesnel - - - - - 17 22 - - - - - - - - - -
Richmond 3 10 8 15 22 - - 10 23 - 14 23 - - 14 - - -
Ridge Meadows 43 44 39 40 30 22 43 - 20 22 21 25 21 - - - - -
Shuswap - - - - - 16 - - - - - - - - - - -
Sunshine Coast - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Surrey 14 21 - 9 18 20 25 25 - - 15 - 25 20 - - 4 -
Valley 16 8 27 - 20 - - - - 25 - 16 - 19 - - - -
Vancouver 20 24 17 13 - 24 - - - - - - - - - - -
Victoria 20 22 20 21 20 37 21 25 24 25 19 25 23 19 9 2 - 10
Sub-Total 346 347 342 371 434 465 409 307 279 317 254 301 264 211 222 21 12 27



U15 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Adanacs 36 33 39 38 52 55 54 67 70 62 53 53 39 43 62 19 23 26
Burnaby 19 16 20 18 19 20 17 13 22 20 19 42 37 - 15 - 1 23
Chilliwack 20 11 19 17 - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Cranbrook - 4 18 11 20 9 - - - - - - - - - - -
Delta 25 23 25 21 21 36 38 42 40 39 43 49 23 20 38 16 - 19
Kamloops 16 14 17 21 20 13 22 16 21 20 17 17 1 19 19 12 2 -
Kelowna 30 13 15 12 13 19 15 24 24 20 15 1 1 2 22 18 7 -
Kitimat - - - - - - - - - - - - 14
Langley 29 23 34 23 18 37 34 36 37 32 29 30 29 38 20 21 20 -
Mid Island 6 6 2 - 17 23 24 23 36 19 15 20 2 1 17 - - -
Mission 15 19 18 - 22 19 29 24 24 16 18 15 17 - 17 17 22 21
Nanaimo Raiders - 14 25 25 25 36 24 24 18 23 24 18 29 36 24 19 18 -
New Westminster 21 20 17 23 19 33 42 20 21 37 36 40 40 36 40 17 20 19
Nicola Valley - - 6 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
North Island - 13 18 20 1 - 32 22 13 23 24 14 17 12 15 16 13 16
North Okanagan - 7 19 5 17 12 20 - 19 25 20 19 19 12 6 11 - 20
North Shore 12 22 21 18 19 20 19 19 22 - 19 20 32 32 17 - - -
Oceanside 19 5 17 17 - - - - 16 - 11 - 23 18 17 - - 26
Pacific Rim 35 24 36 36 35 48 39 24 33 37 40 45 39 32 34 31 37 33
Penticton - 11 - 1 13 18 18 2 0 - 12
Port Coquitlam 17 19 20 16 24 23 25 17 40 45 42 26 24 19 17 19 27 39
Prince George - - - - 14 - - 16 4 2 15 7 8 2
Richmond 12 5 2 8 - - 23 16 6 14 21 22 19 30 19 - 18 13
Ridge Meadows 49 46 40 46 60 54 42 36 34 18 18 36 21 32 40 24 17 19
Shuswap - - - 17 - - 17 - - - - - - - - - -
Sunshine Coast - - - - - 4 - 2 4 - - - - - - - -
Surrey 31 17 24 33 19 20 21 26 22 41 38 19 18 30 23 15 23 40
Valley - 19 15 18 23 - 16 - - - 19 24 18 18 18 - -
Vancouver 21 17 19 16 24 20 15 24 19 20 - - - - 14 22 - -
Victoria 24 34 43 45 36 40 43 41 36 20 37 39 29 31 24 18 19 20
Sub-Total 437 435 529 505 531 559 629 534 581 533 585 556 499 463 518 295 267 334



U13 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Adanacs 54 44 41 39 41 48 46 55 55 82 85 64 53 46 42 74 52 51
Burnaby 17 20 19 15 22 21 20 19 16 16 29 16 36 31 33 24 19 37
Chilliwack 24 30 19 14 14 14 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Cranbrook - 8 13 17 22 12 - - - - - - - - - - -
Delta 17 19 25 32 21 30 31 44 26 49 36 23 31 33 15 34 39 20
Kamloops 13 19 24 19 16 21 17 24 12 22 31 28 17 18 15 16 15 -
Kelowna 31 19 22 13 16 17 19 23 20 23 24 14 9 17 6 29 18 -
Langley 44 42 31 32 30 27 21 22 37 41 34 35 34 30 33 20 18 17
Mid Island 1 13 1 - 6 - 14 19 31 25 25 16 14 13 14 24 23 20
Mission 18 19 23 23 17 20 25 36 30 21 21 20 14 - - 17 20 30
Nanaimo 22 17 23 42 39 42 27 25 32 23 - 19 23 16 33 22 20 19
New Westminster 18 19 39 39 21 36 30 40 29 20 28 46 41 33 35 36 34 22
Nicola Valley - - 5 - 9 - - - - - - - - - - - -
North Island 18 - 14 - - 19 22 22 24 18 8 16 19 4 23 2 14 17
North Okanagan - 10 17 17 19 16 - - 22 19 25 27 17 15 14 17 15 30
North Shore - 1 20 16 19 18 20 - 14 24 22 - - 19 36 16 16 -
Oceanside 4 3 12 - 25 - 10 - 15 19 20 16 - - 19 21 - -
Pacific Rim 32 30 26 36 49 42 45 62 29 44 40 37 49 29 20 45 33 30
Penticton 1 14 18 16 - - 18 17 17 2 4
Port Coquitlam 29 25 27 24 19 20 28 23 18 29 34 39 40 39 32 23 24 30
Prince George - - - - - - - 4 13 15 11 22 12 22
Richmond 11 14 15 3 - 18 - 18 15 22 16 23 21 28 33 18 14 21
Ridge Meadows 40 55 61 52 49 63 60 36 31 39 36 20 19 26 32 39 38 21
Sunshine Coast - - - - 14 - - 4 3 - - - - - - - -
Surrey 22 29 23 37 39 29 24 33 20 22 42 40 47 31 31 40 24 43
Valley 13 14 17 23 15 16 14 - - 17 20 15 19 21 19 20 24 -
Vancouver 13 17 16 20 23 24 25 21 16 19 15 - - - - 16 19 -
Victoria 34 23 24 43 45 47 40 43 42 45 32 39 46 29 40 19 23 17
Sub-Total 476 504 575 572 590 600 556 590 567 656 638 575 561 500 525 572 502 425



U11 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Adanacs 42 50 59 44 35 43 37 44 59 46 58 68 64 67 35 55 63 75
Burnaby 20 20 17 21 25 19 18 25 19 18 15 17 17 16 20 32 34 13
Chilliwack 27 31 31 17 20 17 - 31 30 22 23 30 29 18 21 17 28 31
Cranbrook - 3 9 17 9 18 - - - - - - - - - - -
Delta 32 18 24 30 29 22 30 23 14 9 5 16 13 11 14 15 13 8
Kamloops 14 13 16 18 18 15 16 23 20 21 15 20 13 3 9 13 1 -
Kelowna 23 15 23 16 22 21 21 19 37 25 30 30 30 31 29 30 37 18
Langley 30 34 52 49 33 29 28 19 19 12 16 16 3 4 16 21 16 23
Mid Island 1 2 1 - 15 - 7 17 18 22 20 18 15 16 14 - - 17
Mission 37 33 22 1 15 20 17 25 25 - - - 8 16 18 26 36 16
Nanaimo 19 20 25 27 18 30 23 28 34 35 28 19 30 34 29 37 41 36
New Westminster 13 21 13 22 34 33 34 19 24 22 4 - 14 15 11 10 - 6
Nicola Valley - - - - 8 - - - - - - - - - - - -
North Island - 11 - - - - - - 20 9 15 15 22 16 3 19 16 20
North Okanagan - 12 9 - 16 14 23 - - - 23 - 20 - 35 35 14
North Shore 25 14 - - 18 20 - - - 16 15 14 - - - 20 14 17
Oceanside - 4 4 - - - 4 23 35 32 14 30 25 22 23 23 27 26
Pacific Rim 19 23 22 21 27 16 22 14 - 9 5 - - - - - -
Penticton 10 9 17 18 17 14 8 34 20 23 25 20 21 37 35 26 25 22
Port Coquitlam 18 31 37 32 24 26 21 14 14 7 13 - - - - - -
Prince George - - - - - - - 15 17 - 17 14 17 20 19 19 21 18
Richmond 5 14 13 12 17 - 16 57 35 34 28 36 35 23 18 30 43 35
Ridge Meadows 36 31 53 60 59 46 49 - - - - - - - - - -
Shuswap - - - - - - 18 3 2 - - - - - - - - -
Sunshine Coast - - - - - 5 - 34 41 23 15 35 29 40 36 32 47 41
Surrey - 16 23 18 23 49 32 - - - - - - - - - -
Valley - - 15 19 16 20 14 - - 12 16 18 15 17 34 20 21 17
Vancouver 8 9 8 25 25 18 19 20 14 17 17 18 - - - 29 - -
Victoria 26 28 35 18 25 38 39 40 37 39 48 31 31 31 26 31 36 23
Sub-Total 405 462 528 485 548 533 473 550 534 453 442 488 431 457 410 540 554 476



U9 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Adanacs 29 42 49 32 39 32 37 47 40 42 42 39 38 56 45 36 36 34
Burnaby 20 10 19 16 18 17 15 21 16 22 21 21 14 16 15 21 19 20
Chilliwack 14 16 19 12 18 18 - - - - - - - - - - -
Cranbrook - 3 3 9 23 3 - - - - - - - - - - -
Delta 21 24 22 27 34 29 27 30 29 18 22 18 - 22 - 38 30 -
Kamloops 5 9 9 18 16 14 17 22 16 13 7 11 5 6 6 8 2 7
Kelowna - 18 17 22 - - 6 20 12 - - - 6 16 17 6 9 -
Langley 14 30 28 37 50 37 25 18 - 15 15 18 12 14 27 17 16 19
Mid Island - 1 1 - 8 - 0 - - 6 6 14 18 10 - - - 1
Mission 19 25 39 23 13 - 19 18 - - 15 17 18 18 - 15 17 12
Nanaimo 16 20 31 18 16 20 25 16 15 21 6 - 6 - - 16 - 18
New Westminster 19 10 14 18 11 18 33 32 30 29 36 32 30 15 18 26 31 32
Nicola Valley - - - - 1 - - - - - - - - - - - -
North Island - - 15 - - - 1 - - 9 12 - - - 4 2 - -
North Okanagan - 7 3 - 9 12 - - 7 5 6 2 10 - 2 5 17 9
North Shore - 9 23 19 - - - - 15 - 22 - 14 - - - - 21
Oceanside - 4 - - - - - - - - 4 4 - - - - - -
Pacific Rim - 10 23 22 26 15 16 25 15 23 - 3 3 15 - 13 21 8
Penticton 7 6 6 8 6 9 4 7 12 3 - - - - - - - -
Pt. Coquitlam 20 26 26 15 20 23 26 20 18 14 21 16 20 - 16 23 22 14
Prince George - - - - - - - - - 6 1 - - - - - - -
Richmond - 5 - 18 18 19 - 19 15 4 - 15 21 14 21 - - -
Ridge Meadows 26 40 43 29 45 58 52 46 46 39 39 32 20 35 31 19 31 20
Shuswap - - 1 - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Sunshine Coast - - - - - 17 - 21 20 19 20 19 14 17 12 20 35 39
Surrey - 11 23 21 20 - 32 4 1 - - - - - - - - -
Valley - 11 13 - 13 18 - - 19 17 - 14 5 - - 19 16 -
Vancouver 2 6 - 5 12 16 17 23 13 - - - - - - 11 20 -
Victoria 30 21 32 39 38 31 36 36 33 24 30 23 26 14 12 17 24 24
Sub-Total 242 364 459 408 454 406 388 425 372 329 325 298 280 268 226 312 346 278



U7 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Adanacs 18 21 26 38 21 25 19 37 29 39 28 29 24 13 12 41 24 19
Burnaby 11 11 11 - - - 8 14 - 20 12 12 22 - - 12 16 11
Chilliwack 18 11 14 18 - 10 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Cranbrook - 1 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Delta 21 17 15 15 22 22 20 24 22 28 27 10 14 - - - 10 14
Kamloops 15 14 10 - - 2 - - - 6 14 6 7 5 - 2 - -
Kelowna 7 10 - - - - - - - 3 - 1 - 8 - 3 2 -
Langley 28 22 17 21 13 23 20 20 12 - - 8 13 13 - 16 16 14
Mid Island - - - - 1 - - - - 4 5 - - - - - - -
Mission 23 25 22 11 13 13 - 14 18 11 - - 12 12 - - - -
Nanaimo 6 - - - - - - 22 20 - 18 - - - - - 14 1
New Westminster - - - - 12 9 12 32 28 42 24 15 25 28 15 23 23 24
North Island - - - - - - - - 3 3 1 - - - 1 1 - -
North Okanagan - 7 1 1 7 3 - - - - - 2 - - - - - 4
North Shore - - - - - - - - - - - 16 - - 8 - - -
Oceanside - 4 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Pacific Rim - 1 - - - - 1 20 3 9 16 - 14 7 1 11 - 14
Penticton - 2 5 7 7 2 - 2 - - - - - - - - - -
Port Coquitlam 14 - 17 17 21 21 16 22 18 14 21 - - - 13 18 20 20
Prince George - - - - - - - - 0 2 1 - - - - - -
Richmond 3 4 - - - - - 2 15 18 - 3 10 9 - - - -
Ridge Meadows 36 21 27 30 42 36 42 41 29 19 39 39 24 22 13 36 20 17
Shuswap - - 4 - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Sunshine Coast - - - 14 - - - 17 11 16 20 - 14 20 10 15 5 15
Surrey - 9 - - 18 17 15 2 2 - - - - - - - - -
Valley 6 - - - 11 14 - - 0 - - - 14 - - 15 -
Vancouver 1 - - 11 18 - 12 14 15 16 - - - - - 15 - -
Victoria 20 28 - - - - - 30 22 30 19 27 18 5 - 21 26 31
Sub-Total 227 208 169 183 206 197 165 313 247 280 245 168 211 142 73 214 191 184
U5 2022 2021 2020
Adanacs 7 1 5
Burnaby 5 1 4
Chilliwack 16 12 1
Delta 6 - -
Kamloops 3 1 -
Langley 11 - -
Mission 16 15 7
New Westminster 6 7 -
North Okanagan - 4 -
Port Coquitlam 5 - -



Surrey 8 - -
Valley 6 - -
Victoria 10 18 -
Sub-Total 99 59 17



HIGH SCHOOL FIELD 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
Brookswood (Langley) - - - 18 17 - - - - - - -
Centennial (Coquitlam) 22 - 28 35 27 27 45 45 45 45 45 25
Charles Best (Coquitlam) - - 31 26 40 42 43 43 43 43 43 39
Claremont (Saanich) 49 - 46 39 39 74 87 87 87 87 87 26
Delta - - 30 - - - 25 25 25 25 25 35
Heritage Woods (Pt. Moody) - - - 13 17 18 40 40 40 40 40 -
Holy Cross (Surrey) - - 13 - - - 25 25 25 25 25 -
Langley High School - - - 15 15 15 14 14 14 14 14 -
Maple Ridge Secondary 29 - 36 39 30 20 - - - - - -
Mission High School - - 24 27 34 47 - - - - - -
New Westminster - - 24 - - - 41 41 41 41 41 -
Penticton High School - - - - 14 21 - - - - - -
Pitt Meadows - - - 16 13 16 21 21 21 21 21 18
Port Moody - - - - - - 16 16 16 16 16 -
Riverside (Pt. Coquitlam) - - - - - 20 20 20 20 20 20 -
Royal Bay Secondary (Sooke) 65 - 93 - 77 59 - - - - - -
St. Thomas More (Burnaby) 53 - 40 22 22 17 20 20 20 20 20 -
Samuel Robertson Technical - - 25 - - - - - - - - -
Sardis Secondary - - 23 22 25 19 - - - - - -
South Delta - - - - - - 16 16 16 16 16 -
Terry Fox (Pt. Coquitlam) 23 - 30 39 21 - 43 43 43 43 43 32
Vancouver College 76 - 68 59 65 60 40 40 40 40 40 -
Vancouver Tech - - - - 5 - - - - - - -
Victoria - - - - - - - - - - - 47
Sub-Total 317 0 511 370 461 455 496 496 496 496 496 222

TOTAL YOUTH FIELD 2549 2379 3130 2894 3224 3215 3116 3215 3076 3064 2985 2608 2246 2041 1974 1954 1872 1724

WOMEN'S FIELD
Senior
Cowichan - - - - - - - - 11 13 10 11 15 21 17 35 -
Vancouver - - 18 14 7 10 0 0 14 14 3 23 0 0 0 0 0
Victoria - - - - - - 30 16 34 11 18 18 15 44 43 47 61
Sub-Total 0 0 18 14 7 10 30 16 59 38 31 52 30 65 60 82 61



WOMEN'S FIELD 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Junior U19
Adanacs 20 16 17 - - 7 - 18 17 - 16 16 - - - - - -
Burnaby - - 17 - - - - - - 18 - 19 9 - - - - -
Cowichan - - - 1 9 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Cranbrook - 5 8 11 - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Delta - - - 1 - 1 - - - - - - - - - - -
Langley - 10 - 14 14 2 - 18 14 - 19 8 14 25 - - 14 -
Mid Island - 3 1 - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Mission - - 18 2 - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Nanaimo - - - - 9 13 - - - - - - - - - - -
New Westminster 16 9 - 13 13 7 9 16 17 17 18 14 14 - - - - -
Pacific Rim - 6 4 14 8 5 - - - - - - - - - - -
Penticton 1 2 6 - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Port Coquitlam - 9 - 14 16 2 12 - - - - - 13 - - - - -
Prince George - - - - - - - 5 9 - - - - - - - -
Ridge Meadows - 16 - - - 8 10 - - 14 - - - - - - - -
Surrey 18 7 15 17 - 1 - - - - - - - - - - -
Victoria 21 14 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Sub-Total 76 97 86 87 69 46 31 52 53 58 53 57 50 25 0 0 14 0

Junior U15
Adanacs 55 54 39 35 34 31 32 16 20 18 22 21 20 16 18 - - -
Burnaby 20 - - 19 18 26 18 15 16 19 - - 15 11 - - - -
Cowichan - - - - - - - 0 14 8 11 14 17 35 5 25 69 54
Cranbrook - - 5 3 - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Delta - - - 1 12 - - - - - - 15 - - - - - -
Langley 18 18 21 16 16 17 19 19 19 18 28 15 15 20 17 30 49 -
Mid Island - 8 13 7 - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Mission - 15 19 19 - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Nanaimo - 3 - - 18 20 19 1 - - - - - - - - - -
New Westminster 28 39 32 23 14 21 21 21 25 23 26 30 20 50 9 - - -
Pacific Rim - 7 16 25 25 22 - - - - - - - - - - -
Penticton 7 7 8 - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Port Coquitlam 18 18 15 20 18 20 21 25 14 15 21 17 12 17 8 - - -
Prince George - - - - - - - - - 6 - - - - - - - -
Richmond 34 - - - - - - - - 6 - - - - - - - -
Ridge Meadows - 20 29 31 30 23 16 17 19 18 - - - - - - - -
Surrey 30 40 36 20 32 21 - - - - - - - - - - -
Victoria 24 10 15 - 10 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Sub-Total 234 239 248 219 227 201 146 114 127 131 108 112 99 149 57 55 118 54



2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Youth - U12
Adanacs 22 18 36 37 16 32 30 26 21 19 12 30 21 27 19 - - -
Burnaby 14 16 14 14 11 - - - - 20 17 - - - - - - -
Chilliwack - 15 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Cowichan - - - - - - - - - 13 88 27 30 - 28 - - -
Cranbrook - - - 7 - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Delta - - - 1 - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Langley 11 14 23 19 17 16 18 12 - 15 - 15 32 - - - - -
Mid Island - 6 8 17 18 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Mission 16 6 14 17 - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Nanaimo - 13 - - - - 12 - - - - - - - - - -
New West 16 12 29 31 27 28 26 20 16 19 16 21 25 27 20 - - -
Pacific Rim - 1 14 6 - 7 - - - - - - - - - - -
Penticton - 4 10 - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Port Coquitlam 14 14 27 16 15 - 17 - 22 14 - - 12 15 13 - - -
Prince George - - - - - - - - 3 - - - - - - - - -
Ridge Meadows 35 22 24 19 15 32 28 15 14 14 12 - - - - - - -
Surrey 19 19 20 31 27 24 23 - - - - - - - 13 - - 0
Vancouver - - - - 10 - - - - - - - - - - 15 - 1
Victoria 19 4 1 - - - 9 0 46 63 32 13 - 16 - - - -
Sub-Total 166 164 220 215 156 139 142 85 76 114 145 93 120 69 93 15 0 1
Youth - U8
Adanacs 14 17 7 - 2
Burnaby 8 7 2 - -
Chilliwack 5 - - - -
Langley - - - 13 6
Mission 13 3 - - -
New Westminster - 4 6 7 5
Pacific Rim - 1 - - -
Ridge Meadows 11 7 5 - 4
Surrey 1 - - - -
Victoria - - 5 - 7
Sub-Total 52 39 25 20 24
Youth - U5 (Development)
Adanacs - - 6
Burnaby - - 1
Langley - - 5
Mission - - 4
Sub-Total 0 0 16
TOTAL WOMEN'S FIELD 528 539 613 555 483 396 349 267 315 341 337 314 299 308 210 152 193 55

TOTAL FIELD REGISTRATION 3,434 3,063 4,094 3,869 4,081 3,997 3,845 3,776 3,615 3,691 3,652 3,268 2,890 2,712 2,542 2,465 2,505 2,243
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
The BC Lacrosse Association will build on the successes of the previous Strategic Plans with initiatives and innovations that 
continue to grow the sports of Box, Field and Women’s Field Lacrosse in British Columbia and establish the BCLA as a leader 
for lacrosse in Canada and the world.  This document outlines the Goals and Strategies that will continue to move the BCLA 
towards our Vision: 
 

That the SPIRIT of Lacrosse is experienced by everyone in the Province of British Columbia 
 
The BCLA Vision, Values and Mission Statement provide focus for the organization, and demonstrate the SPIRIT of Lacrosse 
throughout all programs and services offered to our membership. 
 
The BC Lacrosse Association is entering a new phase of development as they embark on the next four years of their strategic 
plan.  The BCLA is committed to growing the sport of Lacrosse in profile and participation as well as cultivating and building 
stronger partnerships with a more inclusive approach.  The BCLA emphasizes the importance of member services, and will 
assist their members with initiatives that enhance the experience for athletes, coaches, officials and volunteers.  
 
Development and performance programs of the BC Lacrosse Association are based on the Sport for Life model, a national and 
provincial philosophy focused on providing Quality Sport at the community level. The Lacrosse for Life plan ensures that 
participants have age-appropriate and stage-appropriate programing in all levels of box lacrosse and field lacrosse. All 
participants can enjoy learning the game through “FUNdamental” skill development and “Learning to Train” programming 
through to becoming “Active for Live” in lacrosse. Some athletes move into more performance-oriented programming by 
participating in the “Training to Train”and “Learning and Training to Compete” stages through provincial championship, BC 
Summer Games and Team BC initiatives. 
 
This next cycle will see lacrosse return as a pilot sport in the 2021 Canada Games (2022).  This opportunity will assist the CLA 
and the BCLA with providing more resources to Lacrosse’s performance pathway as we also prepare to participate in a future 
Olympic Games.  
 
The 2020-2024 BCLA Strategic Plan provides the framework by which we will focus on the sport of lacrosse becoming the sport 
of choice for more people in British Columbia. Priorities for growth opportunities include increasing female participation (Box 
and Women’s Field Lacrosse) in more regions, more resources, mentorship and training for coaches, development of a 
disability pathway, introducing adapted lacrosse programs (i.e., 3 on 3, Intermediate Minor Box, etc.). 
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OUR VALUES 

 
SPIRIT 

Sportsmanship   Passion   Integrity   Respect   Innovation  Trust 
 
 

OUR VISION 
 

That the SPIRIT of Lacrosse is experienced by everyone in the Province of British Columbia. 
 

 
OUR MISSION 

 
Leading the way, we support and develop the lacrosse community and its collective culture – to learn, to play, to 
develop, to compete, to educate, to train, to have fun, and to succeed - by providing lacrosse programs and services 
throughout the Province of British Columbia. 
 

OUR GOALS 
 

IN PARTICIPATION - Maximize and Diversify Lacrosse Participation 
IN TECHNICAL LEADERSHIP - Excellence in Coaching and Officiating 
IN ATHLETE DEVELOPMENT - Excellence in Athlete Development 
IN A STRONG DELIVERY SYSTEM - Provide Effective and Efficient Lacrosse Information Resources 
IN VOLUNTEER LEADERSHIP - Effective Leadership throughout the Lacrosse Community 



 

 

GOALS, AREAS OF EMPHASIS & PROGRAM COMPONENTS 
 
 

PARTICIPATION TECHNICAL 
LEADERSHIP 

ATHLETE 
DEVELOPMENT 

STRONG DELIVERY 
SYSTEM 

VOLUNTEERLEADERSHIP 

Maximize and Diversify 
Lacrosse Participation 

Excellence in 
Coaching and 

Officiating 
Excellence in Athlete 

Development 
Provide Effective and 

Efficient Lacrosse 
Information Resources

Effective Leadership 
throughout the Lacrosse 

Community 
1. Recruitment 

2. Retention 

3. Capacity-Building 

4. New Canadians 

5. Disability Pathway 

6. Coaches Development 
7. Officials Development 

8. Skill Development 
9. Competitions 
10. High Performance 
11. Athlete Services 

12. Human Resources 
13. Learning Community 
14. Facilities Access 
15. Revenue Generation 
16. Marketing 
17. Communications 
18. Risk Management 
19. Partnerships 

20. Volunteer Leadership and 
Resources 
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SUMMARY OF STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 
PARTICIPATION – Maximize and Diversify Lacrosse Participation 

1. Recruitment 
- Continue to investigate current Introduction to Lacrosse programs for incentives/strategies used and conversion to membership.  Share 
information to explore potential introductory programs. 
- Follow the Active Start and Fundamentals 1 and 2 principles of development to encourage and attract more field participation within the  
Mini-Tyke, Tyke and Novice Field & Box age groups. 
- Cross-promote within other sports; there could be opportunities to work with other sport clubs to form multi-sport programs increasing 
the size and effectiveness of sport delivery. 
- Partner with the Vancouver Warriors to promote lacrosse in the community 
- Deliver introductory programs in schools focused on the following:   Focus on teacher (including college/university) instruction and 
mentorship; make use of Pro D days to support teachers.  Continue with Stick-Loan program. 
-Promote field lacrosse in high schools with a hybrid Fundamentals and Learn to Train initiative to introduce the sport and accelerate skill 
development to Training to Train stage. 
- Continue to work with ISPARC to develop regional program structure and programming specifically for people of Indigenous descent. 
- Promote the opportunities and advantages of playing both games as part of player/coach development. 

2. Retention 
- Promote consistent, positive messaging for Lacrosse for Life and the development of physical literacy and quality sport. 
- Build relationships with other provincial and community sport organizations to cross train/promote (10 and under) and to create better 
scheduling of the use of facilities (boxes, fields). 
- Support the development of effective coaching at all stages with an emphasis on younger divisions 
- Provide information sessions/resources on coaching female athletes to all coaches of female athletes – in person, on-line and/or 
through mentorship. 
- Develop and deliver an athlete-to-athlete mentorship program to engage athletes in the T2T, T2C and T2W stages  
- Establish programs for 17 and over that keep players in the game (i.e., create another Intermediate-age division in Minor with the focus 
of allowing for more appropriate stage development; and/or a 3-year Midget program – Seniors start at 21 with a Minor Intermediate 
program. 
- Minor and Field Directorates to review age groups for Female Box Junior and Women’s Field Junior divisions to provide potential 
recommendations to change age groups to increase participation. 
- Develop and provide information to Minor Box Associations to implement a 3 on 3 Program to increase participation opportunities 
- Develop a parent education program for member associations to deliver to parents - learning the basics to better support their children’s 
and their own involvement in lacrosse.  (Reference: Respect in Sport) 
- Support member associations with a process to interview/survey their athletes for feedback 
- Work with Leagues, and in particular, Senior Box, to develop Active for Life recreational level leagues to encourage participation by all 
levels of players  

3. Capacity Building 
- Recommend that community member associations govern all disciplines of lacrosse under one umbrella – box, field and women’s field 
administration and delivery of programs.  
- Promote registration for box and field lacrosse cross-over - end of box season, register for field; and vice versa) 
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- Work with the Directorates to reduce and/or eliminate waiting lists; Directorates to review current policies to allow for athlete release 
and oversized teams 

4. New Canadians  
- Identify opportunities to promote lacrosse within diverse cultural groups 
-Translation of lacrosse information (positive message about the game, what is lacrosse, basic rules, how to participate) – available on 
websites (Punjabi, Mandarin, Cantonese, Farsi, Spanish, French, Korean);  
- Encourage member associations to participate in special cultural events(i.e., parades, festivals, Chinese New Year’s, etc.) 

5. Disability Pathway 
- Create a Disability Pathway 
- Continue to develop funding opportunities for Wheelchair Lacrosse program 
- Look for opportunities to collaborate/partner with disability sport groups at the Provincial and Community level 

TECHNICAL LEADERSHIP – Excellence in Coaching and Officiating 

6. Coaches Development 
- Develop a comprehensive Mentorship Program, including the training of coach facilitators to deliver the program throughout BC. 
- Have those designated mentors deployed around the Province with a two-pronged focus – 1) to support and nurture current coaches 
and 2) support and develop community-based mentors to sustain ongoing coach development/support. 
- Have the BCLCG create a program that trains the Zone Coach Coordinators to improve the skill level of club coaches (i.e., Mentorship 
Program) 
- Minor Box and Youth Field Associations to Identify potential coach candidates from their athlete pools to develop as future coaches. 
- Continue to work to increase the number and quality of qualified coaches and Learning Facilitators in box, field and women’s field.   
- Improve the knowledge level of club coaches and their application of the Lacrosse for Life stages and principles 
- Increase the number of MLFs and LFs in the province 
- Take advantage of provincial, regional and community-based professional development opportunities for local coaches 
- Develop a hybrid (box/field) coach development training/certification program with the CAC 
- Competitive Development – Certify Master Coach Developer in BC; and identify and train a minimum of 14 coaches certified at 
Competition Development for Canada Games 

Female Coaches 
- Identify, recruit and train more female coaches  
- Conduct more female-only coaching clinics 

7. Officials Development 
- BCLOG will develop a comprehensive Mentorship Program, including the training of referee/umpire facilitators to deliver the program 
throughout BC. 
- Program to identify, recruit, train and deploy officials’ candidates from athlete pools in each association. 
- Identify, recruit and train more female officials 
- Increase number of MLFs and Course Clinicians in all disciplines. 
- Provide officials training opportunities for athletes as they develop through the Train to train and Train to compete stages 
- Create cross discipline opportunities 
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ATHLETE DEVELOPMENT – Excellence in Athlete Development 
8. Skill Development 
- Promote/prioritize a skill development approach to all development stages with special focus on Fundamentals & Learn to Train stages. 
- Ensure that coaches have an emphasis on skill development and introduce tactics and strategies at the appropriate stage.   
- Provide information sessions/resources on coaching female athletes to all coaches of female athletes – in person, webinar and/or 
mentoring. 
- Introduce 3-on-3 lacrosse into teaching systems and seasonal play (box); 7-on-7 (field) Both played on half floor/field (identify 
appropriate stages). 
- Create an implementation plan and program for a high school field lacrosse program. 
- Devise a plan to identify and develop training/programs for the over 300 athletes who do not make the Team BC roster. 
- Provide enhanced services and opportunities to all Team BC programs, including  BC Games, Canada Games and Zone teams 
- Ensure that information about the Team BC program is readily available to the whole lacrosse community, including participants, 
coaches and parents. 
9. Competitions 
- Actively provide opportunities for Train to Train and Learning to/Training to Compete teams to play in US tournaments 
- Review and provide feedback to the CLA on a proposed National Championship Strategy 
- Identify and train coaches at Competitive Development 
- Use existing Team BC structure for Bantams and Midgets for CGs identification, development and selection - Identify 2005’s for next 2 - 
years (box and field); develop more than 20 kids (pool); foster and promote kids not on HP (1-20 athletes Team BC; next 21-60 Selects) 
6 on 6 hybrid game) proposed by FIL for Olympics – do trials in BC 
10. High Performance 
- Develop relationships with WLA and Vancouver Warriors to assist with the HP Programs. 
For Canada Games 
- Develop process for identification, selection of athletes; tracking and evaluation on a regular basis 
- Explore options for pre Canada Games competition opportunities 
- Create and implement a Sport Medicine/Sport Science support program for Team BC Athletes and Coaches 
11. Athlete Services 
- Continue to support BC’s high-school-aged lacrosse players to apply for US college and university scholarships 
- Ensure that qualified high-school aged lacrosse participants are able to utilize academic opportunities such as the External Credit 
Program to benefit from their lacrosse training as performance athletes, coaches and officials 
- Connect athletes to external training opportunities like the Pacific Sport IGNITE programs 

STRONG DELIVERY SYSTEM - Provide Effective and Efficient Lacrosse Information Resources 

12. Human Resources 
- Ensure that the allocation of volunteer and staff human resources meets the needs of the organization 
- Develop a succession plan for identified staff and board of directors 

13. Learning Community 
- Educate all members at all levels of the BCLA through Directorates and Technical Support Groups about Lacrosse for Life (including 
physical literacy and Quality Sport) and its effective application to BC Lacrosse development 
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14. Facilities 
- Encourage member associations/clubs to cultivate strategic relationships within their respective communities, including other local sport 
groups, municipalities (recreation departments) school districts and public health. 
- All lacrosse programs in one community get together to formalize a plan. 
- Cultivate relationships with other sport clubs in local communities through an existing sport council/alliance or through individual club 
contacts with the intention of working together towards improved facility development. 
- Build better collaboration/partnerships increasing your say in the planning, development and utilization of future community facilities. 
- Support associations/clubs exploring the opportunities to utilize additional facilities such as outdoor boxes for games and indoor boxes 
for practices 

15. Revenue Generation 
- Increase revenue generated by BCLA to $3M by the end of the planning cycle. 
- Continue to promote the National Sport Trust Fund (donations/charitable receipts). 
- Continue to promote the Jack Crosby and Bill McBain Endowment Funds. 

16. Marketing 
- Continue to identify additional marketing opportunities for grants and fundraising with a focus on school programs, wheelchair lacrosse 
programs, provincial team programs. 
- Expand opportunities to partner with corporations/companies to sponsor lacrosse. 
- Increase advertising revenue for “Lacrosse Talk” 

17. Communications 
- Implement a monthly e-newsletter to all members 
- Develop a comprehensive communications message- “what is our story and our message as a game” that is meaningful and 
comprehensive 

18. Risk Management 
- Address conflicts and issues in lacrosse through appropriate policies and procedures regarding codes of conduct, conflict resolution, 
discipline and appeals, and ensure proper communication to the membership 
- All pertinent Risk Management information will be communicated to all parents, participants and funders (i.e., concussion management, 
safe sport, screening, etc.) through their local lacrosse association/club. 

19. Partnerships 
- Continue to build and maintain strong and mutually beneficial partnerships with funders: Government, Gaming, ISPARC and viaSport 
- Develop mutually beneficial partnerships with other sport organizations with shared interests (i.e., Sports with Balls) 
- Identify and pursue additional new partnership opportunities that will benefit lacrosse in BC 

VOLUNTEER LEADERSHIP - Effective Leadership throughout the Lacrosse Community 
20. Volunteer Leadership and Resources 
- Recruit leaders to oversee, engage and support the Volunteer Leadership Group. 
- Recognize the roles and contributions of volunteers in the lacrosse community through public and purposeful recognition initiatives. 
- Develop a Volunteer Mentorship program. 
- Support a positive experience for lacrosse volunteers by providing basic “How to” instruction/information on selected topics. 
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PERFORMANCE INDICATORS: PARTICIPATION 
 

 Actual 
/Projected 

Actual 
/Projected

Actual 
/Projected

Actual 
/Projected

Actual 
/Projected

FISCAL-YEAR INDICATORS 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024 
MEMBERSHIP TARGETS      
Senior Box (increase by 4% by 2024) 209/2,775 887/2,803 2,352/2,831 /2,859 /2,886 
Minor Box (increase by 5% by 2024) 7,713/10,939 7,809/11,076 8,384/11,213 /11,350 /11,486 
Female Box (increase by 10% by 2024) 1,309/1,387 1,154/1,422 1,128/1,457 /1,492 /1,526 
Total Field Membership (increase by 5% by 2024) 4,094/3,933 3,063/3,983 3,434/4,033 /4,083 /4,130 
Field Men’s (increase by 10% by 2024) 232/257 0/264 213/271 /278 /283 
Field Youth (increase by 5% by 2024) 3,130/2,930 2,918/2,967 3,077/3,004 /3,041 /3,077 
Women’s Field (increase by 20% by 2024) 613/599 539/629 528/659 /689 /719 
Recreation (increase by 10% by 2024) 0/2,933 256/3,007 1,786/3,081 /3,155 /3,227 
TOTAL Membership (increase by 7% by 2024) 12,016/17,600 11,759/17,908 14,170/18,216 /18,524 /18,832 
RECRUITMENT PROGRAMS      
Indigenous SPIRIT Lacrosse Program Participation 1,839/2,130 0/2,150 1,052/2,170 /2,190 /2,210 
Wheelchair Lacrosse Program Participation 225/200 0/210 7/220 /230 /240 
Increase participation at the 5-10 year age groups(increase by 5% by 2024) 4,140/7,071 3,755/7,160 3,270/7,249 /7,338 /7,424 
Number of new inter-cross schools programs 46/55 6/56 47/57 /58 /59 
Number of development sessions held   64/145 47/150 114/155 /160 /165 
Number of Skills Camps 15/34 21/34 26/34 /34 /34 
RETENTION      
Over all retention rate for the membership      
   Box Lacrosse Ages 17-18 (increase of 5% by 2024) 95/1,442 389/1,460 1,022/1,478  /1,512 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT      
Number of Minor Box Associations  42/43 42/44 42/45 /46 /47 
Number of Youth Field Associations 26/27 27/28 27/29 /30 /31 
Female programs within minor box associations 6/7 6/8 17/9 /10 /11 
Female programs within youth field associations 4/5 4/6 9/7 /8 /9 
Every Zone has Female Box Lacrosse by 2024 (5/8 in 2018-19) 6/6 6/7 6/7 /8 /8 
Every Zone has Women’s Field Lacrosse by 2024 (5/8 in 2018-19) 4/5 4/6 5/7 /8 /8 
CROSS DISCIPLINE DEVELOPMENT      
Number of players participating in both box and field lacrosse (increase by 2024) 2,527/2,943 2,129/2,980 2,399/3,017 /3,054 /3,091 
Minor Female Box play Women’s Field 488/483 445/490 420/497 /504 /508 
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PERFORMANCE INDICATORS: TECHNICAL LEADERSHIP 
 

 Actual 
/Projected 

Actual 
/Projected 

Actual 
/Projected 

Actual 
/Projected 

Actual 
/Projected 

FISCAL-YEAR INDICATORS 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024 
COACH DEVELOPMENT      
Box Trained/Certified at Community Development 6,418/6,040 6,254/6,114 7,458/6,188 /6,264 /6,340 
Box Certified at Community Development  268/242 N/A N/A   
Box In Training at Competition Introduction   1,743/1,116 1,744/1,129 768/1,142 /1,158 /1,170 
Box Trained at Competition Introduction  1,009/850 1,019/860 921/870 /882 /894 
Box Certified at Competition Introduction    140/137 142/141 151/145 /150 /155 
Box In Training at Competition Development   16/61 71/63 71/64 /65 /66 
Box Trained at Competition Development 0/5 10/10 16/15 /20 /25 
Box Certified at Competition Development  1/5 0/10 2/15 /20 /25 
Field Trained/Certified at Community Development 1.487/1,324 1,504/1,340 1,927/1,356 /1,373 /1,390 
Field Certified at Community Development  N/A N/A N/A   
Field In Training at Competition Introduction   369/276 330/279 180/282 /286 /290 
Field Trained at Competition Introduction  104/106 105/118 93/130 /143 /156 
Field Certified at Competition Introduction    19/126 20/127 21/129 /131 /133 
Field In Training at Competition Development   N/A N/A N/A   
Field Trained at Competition Development N/A N/A N/A   
Field  Certified at Competition Development  N/A N/A N/A   
Women's Field - Trained Women's Field Community Development 221/224 221/227 319/230 /233 /236 
Women's Field - Certified Women's Field Community Development N/A N/A N/A   
Master Learning Facilitator – Box (+1/year) 2/2 2/3 2/4 /5 /6 
Master Learning Facilitator – Field (+1/year)  Competition Development  2/2 2/3 2/4 /5 /6 
Box Learning Facilitators  (+2 per year) 16/15 16/17 18/19 /21 /22 
Men’s Field Learning Facilitators  (+2/year) 8/7 8/9 8/11 /13 /14 
Women’s Field Facilitators (+1/year) 2/1 1/2 1/3 /4 /5 
Number of Female Coaches 565/572 570/585 482/598 /614 /630 
OFFICIALS DEVELOPMENT      
Level 1 (Minor Box)   (10% by 2024)  448/592 106/606 413/620 /635 /650 
Level 2 (Minor Box)   (10% by 2024) 203/294 133/301 190/308 /315 /322 
Level 3 (Senior Box)   (10% by 2024) 19/46 31/47 42/48 /49 /50 
Level 4 (Senior Box)   (10% by 2024) 9/29 34/30 16/31 /32 /33 
Level 5 (Senior Box)   (10% by 2024) 12/27 1/28 18/29 /30 /31 
Level 1 (Men’s Field Lacrosse)  (10% by 2024)   111/101 67/103 81/105 /108 /111 
Level 2 (Men’s Field Lacrosse) (10% by 2024) 56/44 46/45 36/46 /47 /48 
Level 3 (Men’s Field Lacrosse) (by 2024) 8/7 9/8 6/9 /10 /11 
Level 4 (Men’s Field Lacrosse) (by 2024) 9/7 10/8 8/9 /10 /11 
Level 5 (Men’s Field Lacrosse)  (by 2024) 9/6 8/8 7/9 /10 /11 
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 Actual 
/Projected 

Actual 
/Projected 

Actual 
/Projected 

Actual 
/Projected 

Actual 
/Projected 

FISCAL-YEAR INDICATORS 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024 
Level 1 (Women’s Field Lacrosse) (10% by 2024) 62/38 53/39 39/40 /41 /42 
Level 2 Women’s Field - (10% by 2024) 1/7 7/8 5/9 /10 /11 
Box Master Course Conductors (+1/year) 2/6 2/7 2/8 /9 /10 
Box Facilitators Level 1/2 (+2/year) 33/34 33/36 24/38 /40 /42 
Box Facilitators Levels 3 to 5 (+2/year) 14/14 14/16 14/18 /20 /22 
Field Master Course Conductors (+1/year) 1/7 1/8 1/9 /10 /11 
Men’s Field Level 1/2Facilitators (+1/year) 10/12 10/13 9/14 /15 /16 
Men’s Field Level 3 to 5 Facilitators (+1/year) 3/3 3/4 3/5 /6 /7 
Women’s Field Master Course Conductors (+1/year) for year one) 1/1 1/2 1/3 /4 /5 
Over-all Increase in female officials (10 by 2024) 130/107 78/109 78/111 /115 /120 
Participation at the National and/or International Level (+1/year) NA/29 NA/30 26/31 /32 /33 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS: ATHLETE DEVELOPMENT 
 

 Actual 
/Projected 

Actual 
/Projected 

Actual 
/Projected 

Actual 
/Projected 

Actual 
/Projected 

FISCAL-YEAR INDICATORS 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024 
TEAM BC TRAINING PROGRAMS      
Number of District and Provincial Camps Held  17/34 21/34 26/34 /34 /34 
Number of Athletes Attending District/Provincial Box (Male) Camps NA/607 240/614 443/621 /630 /640 
Number of Athletes Attending District/Provincial Box (Female) Camps NA/125 76/128 120/131 /134 /140 
Number of Athletes Attending District/Provincial Youth (Male) Field Camps  376/344 227/352 590/360 /370 /380 
Number of Athletes Attending Provincial Women’s Field Camps 150/154 135/157 141/161 /165 /170 
BC Athletes on National Teams      
  Senior Men’s Box (25% in year of competition)  N/A N/A N/A /25% /25%
  U19 Field (25% in year of competition) NA/25% N/A 12.5%/25% N/A N/A 
  Senior Men’s Field (25% in year of competition) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
  U19 Women’s Field  N/A N/A N/A /25% /25%
  Senior Women’s Field (25% in year of competition) N/A NA/25% N/A N/A N/A
COMPETITIONS       
Integrated Competitions Schedule for all zones NA/8 NA/8 7/8 /8 /8 
Number of Team BC Programs 15/15 14/15 15/15 /15 /15 
Medals won by BC at National Championships NA/14 NA/14 14/14 /14 /14 
Hosting National Championships (goal – 2/year) NA/3 NA/3 3/3 /3 /3 
Hosting International Events in BC (goal – 1 per quad) 1/1     
SPORT MEDICINE & SCENCE SERVICES      
Development of Sport Medicine & Science Advisory Group / / / / /
Identification of Canada Games Sport Health Team Members / / / / /
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PERFORMANCE INDICATORS: STRONG DELIVERY SYSTEM 

 Actual 
/Projected 

Actual 
/Projected 

Actual 
/Projected 

Actual 
/Projected 

Actual 
/Projected 

FISCAL-YEAR INDICATORS 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024 
REVENUE GENERATION      
Budget by end of planning cycle – $3 Million $1.39M/$2.6M $736K/$2.7M $2.76M/$2.8 /$2.9 /$3.M 
Increase Number of BCLA Sponsors/Partners (+1/year) 0/1 1/2 1/3 /4 /5 
COMMUNICATION TOOLS      
Lacrosse Talk / x/ x / / /
Web site  / / / / /
E-Newsletter  / / / / /
Communities of Practice / / / / /
Social Media Strategy / / / / /
PARTNERSHIPS/RELATIONSHIPS      
CLA support services; joint programming ventures / / / / /
PacificSport/Regional Development Centres / / / / /
ISPARC / / / / /
Canuck Autism Network / / / / /
WLA / / / / /
Vancouver Warriors Lacrosse Club / / / / /
viaSport / / / / /
PSO Partners with Shared Interests (Sports with Balls) / / / / /
Government Agencies / / / / /
Sport BC/Kidsport / / / / /
Sponsors / / / / /
Vancouver Foundation / / / / /
Other Foundations / / / / /
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FOUR YEAR FINANCIAL FORECAST 

 
 

Budget
2019-2020 

Budget
2020-2021 

Budget
2021-2022 

Budget
2022-2023 

Budget
2023-2024 

REVENUE      

1.  Membership Targets 750,000 795,000 835,000 875,000 904,000 
2.  Officials Development 55,000 57,000 60,000 63,000 66,000 
3.  Coaches Development 200,000 212,000 218,000 224,000 230,000 
4.  Participation 225,000 235,000 240,000 245,000 250,000 
5.  Aboriginal Development 75,000 77,000 79,000 81,000 83,000 
6.  Athlete Training Programs/Services 205,000 210,000 215,000 220,000 240,000 
7.  Competitions Schedule 210,000 220,000 230,000 240,000 250,000 
8.  Team BC Programs 550,000 560,000 570,000 580,000 590,000 
9.  Resources 65,000 65,000 68,000 71,000 73,000 
10. Member Services 26,000 27,000 28,000 29,000 30,000 
11. Volunteer Leadership Program/Meetings 63,000 64,000 68,000 72,000 74,000 
12.  Marketing/Fundraising  176,000 178,000 189,000 200,000 210,000 

TOTAL REVENUE $2,600,000  $2,700,000   $2,800,000  $2,900,000  $3,000,000 

EXPENSES    

1.  Membership Targets 100,000 107,000 115,000 123,000 132,000 
2.  Recruitment Programs 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 
3.  Community Development 220,000 220,000 220,000 220,000 220,000 
4.  Strengthen Underdeveloped Zones 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 
5.  Certification Targets 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 
7.  Professional Development 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 
8.  Training Programs 250,000 260,000 270,000 280,000 290,000 
9.  Competitions Schedule 210,000 225,000 240,000 255,000 270,000 
10. Team BC 550,000 560,000 570,000 580,000 590,000 
11.  Athlete Training Programs/Services 250,000 260,000 270,000 290,000 310,000 
12.  Expand Revenue Base 85,000 85,000 85,000 85,000 85,000 
13.  Communications 80,000 90,000 100,000 110,000 120,000 
14.  BCLA Strategic/Operational Plans 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 
15.  Volunteer Leadership Program/Meetings 165,000 170,000 175,000 180,000 185,000 
16.  Partnerships 15,000 16,000 17,000 18,000 19,000 
17.  Lacrosse 4 Life Education 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 
17.  Other - Administrative/Overhead 110,000 130,000 150,000 170,000 190,000 

TOTAL EXPENSES $2,600,000 $2,688,000  $2,777,000 $2,876,000 $2,976,000 
TOTAL SURPLUS (DEFICIT) $0 $12,000  $23,000 $24,000 $24,000 
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